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Preface

Welcome to the new

standard in intermediate accounting! Instructors recognize the “Spiceland advantage” in content

that’s intensive and thorough, as well as in writing that’s fluid and precise—together, these combine to form a resource

that’s rigorous yet
standards, and the
experience. Asar
complete underste

regdable. By blending a comprehensive approach, clear conversational tone, current updates on key

market-leading technological innovations of Connect®, the Spiceland team delivers an unrivaled
esult of Spiceland’s rigorous yet readable learning system, students develop a deeper and more
nding of intermediate accounting topics.

Intermediate Accounting Tenth Edition:

“The textbook is readable and easy to follow since the authors present basic concepts and then cover advanced issues.

Conceptually-oriented and dependable as the authors are timely in updating new accounting standards.”

—Hong Pak, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona

The Intermediate
Connect.

Current: Few
keeping instructor
« ASU No. 201
Tax Effects fr
« ASU No. 201¢
model for ac
investments

. Comprehens
effects of the
. FASB ASC 84
« FASB Accour
of Net Period
ment to Rule

. FASB Accou
Accounting f
« ASU No. 2017
« ASU No. 201
counting for

The Spiceland tea
The authors have
are auto-gradable
fectively communi

Accounting learning system is built around four key attributes: current, comprehensive, clear, and

disciplines see the rapid changes that accounting experiences. The Spiceland team is committed to
s’ courses up to date. The tenth edition fully integrates the latest FASB updates, including:
3-02—Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220)—Reclassification of Certain
om|Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

5—013, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) on “Current Expected Credit Loss” (CECL)
ounting for credit losses, as well as current GAAP requirements for recognizing impairments of

ve revision of Chapter 16, Accounting for Income Taxes, improving pedagogy as well as covering
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017

2-10-15-42A: Leases-Overall-Scope and Scope Exceptions-Lessor

ting Standards Update, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation
ic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost, FASB: December, 2016. SEC Amend-
150¢6-1, Ex-Dividend Date, September 2017

ting Standards Update No. 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to
or Hedging Activities

7-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment
5-05—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Ac-
~ees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement

ncorporated new Data Analytics cases featuring Tableau at the end of each chapter. These cases
in Connect and help students develop in-demand skills in analyzing and interpreting data, and ef-
cating findings.

j Data Analytics ‘BEcomect

The phrase scientia est potentia is a Latin aphorism meaning “knowledge is power!” In a business sense, this
might be paraphrased as “Information is money!” Better information . . . better business decisions! This is the
keystone of data analytics.

Data analytics is the process of examining data sets in order to draw conclusions about the information they
contain. Data analytics is widely used in business to enable organizations to make better-informed business deci-
sions. Increasingly, this is accomplished with the aid of specialized data visualization software such as Tableau.

m also ensures that Intermediate Accounting stays current with the latest pedagogy and digital tools.
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The New Standard

Current events regularly focus public attention on the key role of accounting in providing informat
decision makers. The CPA exam, too, has changed to emphasize the professional skills needed to
accounting method alternatives. Intermediate Accounting provides a decision makers’ perspectiv
professional judgment and critical thinking skills required of accountants in today’s business envir
10th edition, many of these cases have been translated to an auto-graded format in Connect.
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nighlighting the
nent. New in the

“The use of real-world examples throughout the text helps bring accounting to life for students. For example, the use of
Amazon Prime is excellent, illustrating the complexity of current business with an engaging example.”

— Jennifer Winchel, University of Virginia

Comprehensive: The Spiceland team ensures comprehensive coverage and quality throug
system by building content and assets with a unified methodology that meets rigorous standards.
lenged through diverse examples and carefully crafted problem sets which promote in-depth und
development of critical-thinking skills.

The author team is committed to providing a learning experience that fully prepares students for the
core comprehension and enabling confident application of key concepts. Students can feel confiden
underpinnings and practical skills conveyed in the tenth edition will prepare them for a wide range of

Clear: Reviewers, instructors, and students have all hailed Intermediate Accounting’s ability to €
and complex topics in language that is coherent and approachable. Difficult topics are structured
conceptual foundation and unifying framework that is built upon with thorough coverage of more
As examples, see chapters 6 (Revenue Recognition), 15 (Leases) and 16 (Income Taxes). The autho
claimed conversational writing style establishes a friendly dialogue—establishing the impression g
students, as opposed to lecturing at them.

This tone remains consistent throughout the learning system, as authors Spiceland, Nelson, and T
the primary content, but also every major supplement: instructor’s resource manual, solutions man
All end-of-chapter material, too, is written by the author team and tested in their classrooms. Interr
is written to be the most complete, coherent, and student-oriented resource on the market.

Connect: Today’s accounting students expect to learn in multiple modalities. As a result, the t¢
Spiceland’s learning system features the following: Connect, SmartBook’s adaptive learning and re
NEW Concept Overview Videos, Guided Examples, NEW Excel® simulations, and General Ledger

Quality assessment continues to be a focus of Connect, with over 2,500 questions available for a
more than 1,125 algorithmic questions.

McGraw-Hill Education is continually updating and improving our digital resources. To that end, ou
Roger CPA, provides multiple choice practice questions directly within our Connect banks, as well
to the Roger CPA site for complementary access to selected simulations.

Spiceland’s Financial Accounting Series

ntermediate Accounting forms a complete learning system when paired with Financial Ac-
counting by authors David Spiceland, Wayne Thomas, and Don Herrmann. Now in its fifth
edition, Financial Accounting uses the same proven approach that has made Intermediate
Accounting a success—a conversational writing style with real-world focus and author-prepared
supplements, combined with Connect’s market leading technology solutions and assessment.
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What Keeps SPICELAND Users Coming Back?

Financial Reporting Cases

Each chapter opens with a Financial
Reporting Case that places the student in
the role of the decision maker, engaging
the student in an interesting situation
related to the accounting issues to come.
Then, the cases pose questions for the
student in the role of decision maker.
Marginal notations throughout the chap-
ter point out locations where each ques-
tion is addressed. The case questions
are answered at the end of the chapter.

Where We’re Headed

These boxes describe the potential
financial reporting effects of many of
the FASB’s proposed projects that have
not yet been adopted, as well as joint
proposed projects with the IASB. Where
We’re Headed boxes allow instructors to
deal with ongoing projects to the extent
they desire.

Additional Consideration
Boxes

These are “on the spot” considerations
of important, but incidental or infrequent,
aspects of the primary topics to which
they relate.

Decision Makers’
Perspective

These sections appear throughout the
text to illustrate how accounting informa-
tion is put to work in today’s firms. With
the CPA exam placing greater focus

on application of skills in realistic work
settings, these discussions help your
students gain an edge that will remain
with them as they enter the workplace.

Financial Reporting Case Solution

1. What purpose do adjusting entries serve? (0. 64) Adjusting entries help ensure that
all revenues are recognized in the period goods or services are transferred to customers,
regardless of when cash is received. In this instance, for example, $13,000 cash has been
received for services that haven’t yet been performed. Also, adjusting entries enable a
company to recognize all expenses incurred during a period, regardless of when cash
is paid. Without depreciation, the friends’ cost of using the equipment is not taken into
account. Conversely, without adjustment, the cost of rent is overstated by $3,000 paid in
advance for part of next year’s rent.

With adjustments, we get an accrual income statement that provides a more com-
plete measure of a company’s operating performance and a better measure for predict-
ing fu i = € ]

©goodluz/123RF

Where Were Headed €2

As part of its ongoing disclosure framework project, the FASB has proposed using the U.S.
Supreme Court’s description of materiality. Under that definition, which comes from court
cases and interpretations, qualitative and quantitative disclosures are material if there is a
substantial likelihood that omitting a disclosure would have been viewed by a reasonable
user as having significantly altered the total mix of information made available in making a
decision. This change is controversial because it could affect the amount of information that
companies disclose. The FASB has committed to seek more input before moving forward

with this proposal.

Additional Consideration

Solving for the unknown factor in either of these examples could just as easily be done using
the future value tables. The number of years is the value of n that will provide a present value
of $10,000 when $16,000 is the future amount and the interest rate is 10%.

$16,000 (future value) = $10,000 (present value) X ?*

*Future value of $1:n =2,/ =10%

Rearranging algebraically, the future value table factor is 1.6.

$16,000 (future value) + $10,000 (present value) = 1.6*
*Future value of $1:n =2,/ =10%

When you consult the future value table, Table 1, you search the 10% column (i = 10%)
for this value and find 1.61051 in row five. So it would take approximately five years to
accumulate $16,000 in the situation described.

Decision Makers’ Perspective

Cash often is called a nonearning asset because it earns little or no interest. For this reason,
managers invest idle cash in either cash equivalents or short-term investments, both of which
provide a larger return than a checking account. Management’s goal is to hold the minimum
amount of cash necessary to conduct normal business operations, meet its obligations, and
take advantage of opportunities. Too much cash reduces profits through lost returns, while
too little cash increases risk. This trade-off between risk and return is an ongoing choice
made by management (internal decision makers). Whether the choice made is appropriate is
an ongoing assessment made by investors and creditors (external decision makers).
A company must have cash available for the compensating balances we discussed in the  Companies hold cash
previous section as well as for planned disbursements related to normal operating, invest- ~ to pay for planned and
ine. and financing cash flows. However, because cast——%—~c an( outfle an vas—= unplanned transact

s
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In talking with so many intermediate accounting faculty, we heard more than how to improve the book—there was much,
much more that both users and nonusers insisted we not change. Here are some of the features that have made Spiceland
such a phenomenal success.

“Our students need to think about topics critically
and broadly. Spiceland is superior in terms of pre-
senting big picture cases and scenarios that help

students understand how to think beyond simple

journal entries and worksheet problems.”

—James Brushwood, Colorado State University

Decision Makers’ Perspective

/>

©lmageGap/Getty Images

broaden your knowledge and further develop your decision-making abilities.

Judgment The financial community in the United States has become increasingly concerned with the quality of reported
Case 4-1 company earnings.
Earnings quality
® L04-2,104-3 1. Define the term earnings quality.
5 . oa—n

Fhical Dilemma ~1%

Apply your critical-thinking ability to the knowledge you’ve gained. These cases will provide you an opportunity to
develop your research, analysis, judgment, and communication skills. You also will work with other students, integrate
what you've learned, apply it in real-world situations, and consider its global and ethical ramifications. This practice will

(
You recently have been employed by a large retail chain that sells sporting goods. One

of your tasks is to help prepare periodic financial statements for external distribution. The
chain’s largest creditor, National Savings & Loan, requires quarterly financial statements, and
you are currently working on the statements for the three-month period ending June 30,
2021.

During the months of May and June, the company spent $1,200,000 on a hefty radio and
TV advertising campaign. The $1,200,000 included the costs of producing the commercials
as well as the radio and TV time purchased to air the commercials. All of the costs were
charged to advertising expense. The company’s chief financial officer (CFO) has asked you
to prepare a June 30 adjusting entry to remove the costs from advertising expense and to
set up an asset called prepaid advertising that will be expensed in July. The CFO explained
that “This advertising campaign has led to significant sales in May and June and | think it

P 15-25 On January 1, 2021, Harlon Consulting entered into a three-year lease for new office space agreeing to lease
Operating lease; payments of $5,000 in 2021, $6,000 in 2022, and $7,000 in 2023. Payments are due on December 31 of each
uneven lease year with the first payment being made on December 31, 2021. Harlon is aware that the lessor used a 5% interest
payments rate when calculating lease payments.

® LO15-4,L015-7

. Prepare the appropriate entries for Harlon Consulting on January 1, 2021, to record the lease.
. Prepare all appropriate entries for Harlon Consulting on December 31, 2021, related to the lease.

(SRS

. Prepare all appropriate entries for Harlon Consulting on December 31, 2022, related to the lease.

IS

. Prepare all appropriate entries for Harlon Consulting on December 31, 2023, related to the lease.

Decision Makers’
Perspective Cases

Designed to further develop
students’ decision-making
abilities, each chapter includes
a robust set of powerful and ef-
fective cases, asking students to
analyze, evaluate, and commu-
nicate findings, further building
their critical thinking skills. Many
of these cases are now auto-
gradable in Connect.

Ethical Dilemmas

Because ethical ramifications of
business decisions impact so
many individuals as well as the
core of our economy, Ethical Di-
lemmas are incorporated within
the context of accounting issues
as they are discussed. These
features lend themselves very
well to impromptu class discus-
sions and debates, and are
complemented by Ethics Cases
found in the Decision Makers’
Perspective Case section at the
end of each chapter.

Star Problems *

In each chapter, particularly rig-
orous problems, designated by
a %, require students to combine
multiple concepts or require
significant use of judgment.
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Adaptive study resources like SmartBook® help your
students be better prepared in less time. You can
transform your class time from dull definitions to dynamic
debates. Hear from your peers about the benefits of
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Connect makes it easy with seamless integration using any of the
major Learning Management Systems—Blackboard®, Canvas,
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convenient location. Give your students access to digital materials
at a discount with our inclusive access program. Ask your
McGraw-Hill representative for more information.

OHill Street Studios/Tobin Rogers/Blend Images LLC

Solutions for your challenges.

A product isn’t a solution. Real solutions are affordable,
reliable, and come with training and ongoing support
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Effective, efficient studying.
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walk out with better grades.
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[HE NEW STANDARD:

Online Assignments el SE——
Connect helps students learn more efficiently by providing
feedback and practice material when they need it, where 4 R '
they need it. Connect grades homework automatically and 6 w.,m,.ulm.m-,;w‘...mm....m,.m.ws...m. P —
gives immediate feedback on any questions students may e B o e St el
have missed. The extensive assignable, gradable end-of- R

chapter content includes a general journal application that i

Rmcord the revenue for tesaie of 1,000 pain af SuSoots.

looks and feels like what one would find in a general ledger
software package. For this edition, numerous questions
have been redesigned to test students’ knowledge more
fully. New to this edition, many Decision Makers’ Perspective
Cases have been incorporated as auto-gradable in Connect.

End-of-chapter questions in Connect include:
. Brief Exercises a Sl el R

« Exercises )
« Problems

« New! Select Decision Makers’ Perspective Cases, Target and Air France Cases, and Data Analytics Cases

“The digital materials are an important learning resource for my students, and the constant updates between new edi-
tions are VERY useful.”

—Pamela Trafford, University of Massachusetts, Amherst

NEW! Data Analytics Cases

Data analytics is an enormously in-demand skill among employers. Students who can interpret data and effectively communi-
cate their findings to help business makes better-informed decisions are in high-demand. New Data Analysis Cases featuring
Tableau are now incorporated at the end of most chapters. These cases can easily be assigned in Connect and are auto-
gradable for the instructor’s convenience.

General Ledger T T T

ol bt o Masticn tha whates The tptien

Problems . B T e e e e e e o
General Ledger Problems allow e T T e .

students to see how transactions e I & —
flow through the various financial i T e W Iiﬁ:mq.. : _Zl
statements. Students can audit e ,
their mistakes by easily linking e =
back to their original journal s i
entries. Many General Ledger B e e, e
Problems include an analysis tab — L m— 2 —
that allows students to demon- L ol —a B

strate their critical thinking skills i B

and a deeper understanding of R i e y

accounting concepts.
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POWERFUL ONLINE TOOLS & ASSESSMENTS

Concept Overview Videos

Concept Overview Videos provide engaging narratives of
key topics in an assignable and interactive online format.
These videos follow the structure of the text and are avail-

able with all learning objectives within each chapter of T 20%%
Intermediate Accounting. The Concept Overview Videos

provide additional explanation of material in the text, al- s =

lowing students to learn at their own pace — and test their ST el Sy (B i
knowledge with assignable questions. Q@ cmw w e

Excel Simulations

Prepiate 3 schachile of nel tash proviced by opeeatng acthtiss

Simulated Excel Questions, assignable within Connect, allow % = _ : r q
students to practice their Excel skills—such as basic formulas X = i P " ) B B n

and formatting—within the content of financial accounting. These s bk = it My Ko e o o |
questions feature animated, narrated Help and Show Me tutorials = e e o i
(when enabled), as well as automatic feedback and grading for 2 , = =

both students and professors. S e e R L s

2 D Augist 31, year L thi eompany berrand S80,000 from a local bark. The rats rquires
principal and interest at 9% to be paid on Sugust 31, year 1. Fioor Company dil not retord sny gaind of Iower Qunng The yeer

1 Prapas 3 echedie of Nt cash provided oy cperaning sctuities

Genaral bournal
Date
year 2 Account Tithe snd Explanation Dabit Credit
| hune3a Ierest apense 1,580 |
Irterest payabie 180

Princlpal % Interest rate % Time

Guided Example/Hint Videos

dawpon e cgm o 3
12

= 81080

ord an adjusting entry for

ause net income and...

The Guided Examples in Connect provide a narrated, animated,
step-by-step walk-through of select exercises similar to those as-
signed, These short videos are presented to students as hints and
provide reinforcement when students need it most. Instructors have
the option of turning them on or off.
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&2 ROGER CPA SIMULATIONS

@AW CPA Review McGraw-Hill Education has partnered with Roger CPA Review, a global leader in CPA Exam preparation,

to provide students a smooth transition from the accounting classroom to successful completion of the
CPA Exam. While many aspiring accountants wait until they have completed their academic studies to begin preparing for the
CPA Exam, research shows that those who become familiar with exam content earlier in the process have a stronger chance
of successfully passing the CPA Exam. Accordingly, students using these McGraw-Hill materials will have access to sample
CPA Exam Multiple-Choice questions and Task-based Simulations from Roger CPA Review, with expert-written explanations
and solutions. All questions are either directly from the AICPA or are modeled on AICPA questions that appear in the exam.
Task-based Simulations are delivered via the Roger CPA Review platform, which mirrors the look, feel and functionality of
the actual exam. McGraw-Hill Education and Roger CPA Review are dedicated to supporting every accounting student along
their journey, ultimately helping them achieve career success in the accounting profession. For more information about the
full Roger CPA Review program, exam requirements and exam content, visit www.rogercpareview.com.

ALEKS®

ALEKS ACCOUNTING CYCLE

ALEKS Accounting Cycle is a web-based program that provides targeted coverage of prerequisite and introductory mate-

rial necessary for student success in Intermediate Accounting. ALEKS uses artificial intelligence and adaptive questioning to
assess precisely a student’s preparedness and deliver personalized instruction on the exact topics the student is most ready
to learn. Through comprehensive explanations, practice, and immediate feedback, ALEKS enables students to quickly fill
individual knowledge gaps in order to build a strong foundation of critical accounting skills. Better prepared students save
you valuable time at the beginning of your course!

ALEKS® L8 [ MOSKGNGET | (55 MBOK |EESOAT |QEMIONS | |Engier v | BT
W ryie | B Review | S Dictionary | 5 Caleuls 7 Famignn |_[T] Gradebock | %] calendar |
A g Cycle (Corporation)
A Cal Mastery Meed Help®
(Jsu: '55 Topics)

Basic Terminalogy

¥ Merchandising Accounting
{7 ol 15)

Basic Transactions and
Finnncial Statements (14 of 14)

» Journal Entries
(2of4)
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Use ALEKS Accounting Cycle as a pre-course assignment or during the first weeks of the term to see improved student confi-
dence and performance, as well as fewer drops.

ALEKS Accounting Cycle Features:

- Artificial Intelligence: Targets Gaps in Prerequisite Knowledge

- Individualized Learning and Assessment: Ensure Student Preparedness

. Open-Response Environment: Avoids Multiple-Choice and Ensures Mastery
- Dynamic, Automated Reports: Easily Identify Struggling Students

For more information, please visit: www.aleks.com/highered/business.

Read ALEKS Success Stories: www.aleks.com/highered/business/success_stories.
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The New Standard:

INSTRUCTOR LIBRARY

The Connect Instructor Library is a repository of additional resources to improve student engagement in and out of class. You
can select and use any asset that enhances your lecture. The Connect Instructor Library includes:

PowerPoints

Exercise
Presentations

Digital Image
Library

New!
Instructor’s
Edition

Instructor’s
Manual

Solutions
Manual

Updates

Connect Test
Bank

In-Class Presentation Tools
Three types of PowerPoint decks are available, each responding to a different instructional need:

» Lecture PowerPoints with Concept Checks allow instructors to intersperse short exercises that
students can solve individually or do in groups before an answer is “revealed”

» Lecture PowerPoints without Concept Checks: No questions included, mirror presentation from book
with key illustrations and notes

» Accessible PowerPoints: Allow slide content to be read by a screen reader and provide alternative
text descriptions for any image files. Accessible PowerPoints are also designed with high-contrast color
palettes and use texture instead of color whenever possible to denote different aspects of imagery.

Please note: All of our illustrations in the PowerPoint decks are fully editable so that you can change num-
bers, content, and easily customize our figures to your teaching. Teaching Tip: Use your students’ names
for company names in the lllustrations or Concept Checks!

PowerPoint slides created from the Guided Example/Hint videos, these allow you to walk through a ver-
sion of one of the book exercises in class without giving away the answers.

High-resolution images of all illustrations from the text.

Teaching Resources

We know Intermediate Accounting is a daunting course not only for students, but also for instructors! This
all-new digital guide to the Spiceland Intermediate learning program contains resources to help instructors
think through effective course planning, including:

« Example syllabi
» Guides to Connect setup
« Course planning materials to help identify resources that align with your course goals

« Tips from the authors on key illustrations, teaching points, and end-of-chapter content they highlight
and assign

« Bloom’s rubrics for end-of-chapter content

Specific to each chapter, contains learning outcomes, a full lecture outline, and suggestions for in-class
activities including real world scenarios, group research activities, IFRS activities, and professional skills
development activities. Assignment charts are also provided with topics and estimated completion times.

Created by the authors, includes solutions to end-of-chapter content.

Stop here for all the most recent updates from FASB. Our authors work tirelessly to keep you current — for
instance, within a month of the 2017 Tax Reform bill, our authors had posted an updated PowerPoint deck,
video walkthrough, and teaching tip material on how to address the new updates. We have your back!

Test Bank

Multiple-choice, true/false and worksheet questions are all available to help assess students throughout all
levels from understanding to evaluation. Create an effective test in 3 easy steps:
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Hexible Instructor Resources

1. Tailor: Use Connect's robust filters to quickly identify the content you want based on difficulty, learning
objective, Bloom’s, AICPA and AACSB standards, and accessibility level.

2. Secure: Once you‘ve identified the questions you want, Connect’s policy setting help you create a
secure test through features like question pooling, time limits, scrambling, feedback constraint, and
Tegrity proctoring.

3. Report: Connect's rich reporting features allow you to quickly compile thorough reports that will wow
your assessment committees. Teaching tip: Add your department learning objectives as tags in
Connect for reporting completely aligned with your institution’s objectives.

TestGen TestGen is a complete, state-of-the-art test generator and editing application software that allows instruc-
tors to quickly and easily select test items from McGraw Hill’'s TestGen testbank content and to organize,
edit and customize the questions and answers to rapidly generate paper tests. Questions can include
stylized text, symbols, graphics, and equations that are inserted directly into questions using built-in math-
ematical templates. TestGen’s random generator provides the option to display different text or calculated
number values each time questions are used. With both quick-and-simple test creation and flexible and
robust editing tools, TestGen is a test generator system for today’s educators.

MCGRAW-HILL EDUCATION CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE GROUP CONTACT INFORMATION

At McGraw-Hill Education, we understand that getting the most from new technology can be challenging. That’s why our
services don’t stop after you purchase our products. You can contact our Product Specialists 24 hours a day to get product
training online. Or you can search the knowledge bank of Frequently Asked Questions on our support website. For Customer
Support, call 800-331-5094, or visit www.mhhe.com/support. One of our Technical Support Analysts will be able to assist you
in a timely fashion.

ASSURANCE OF LEARNING

Many educational institutions today are focused on the notion of assurance of learning, an important element of some ac-
creditation standards. Intermediate Accounting is designed specifically to support your assurance of learning initiatives with
a simple, yet powerful solution.

Each test bank question for Intermediate Accounting maps to a specific chapter learning objective listed in the text. You can
use Connect to easily query for learning outcomes/objectives that directly relate to the learning objectives for your course.
You can then use the reporting features of Connect to aggregate student results in a similar fashion, making the collection
and presentation of assurance of learning data simple and easy.

AACSB STATEMENT —A A( :S B
McGraw-Hill Education is a proud corporate member of AACSB International. Understand- [ [ {

ing the importance and value of AACSB accreditation, Intermediate Accounting recognizes NTERNATIONAL
the curricula guidelines detailed in the AACSB standards for business accreditation by connecting selected questions in the
test bank to the eight general knowledge and skill guidelines in the AACSB standards.

The statements contained in Intermediate Accounting are provided only as a guide for the users of this textbook. The AACSB
leaves content coverage and assessment within the purview of individual schools, the mission of the school, and the faculty.
While Intermediate Accounting and the teaching package make no claim of any specific AACSB qualification or evaluation,
within the Test Bank to accompany Intermediate Accounting we have labeled selected questions according to the eight
general knowledge and skill areas.
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What's New i the Tenth Edition?

Spiceland is the new global standard for providing students the most accessible, comprehensive, and current Intermedi-
ate Accounting learning system. We take seriously the confidence the marketplace has accorded our text. Each revision
carefully considers how the print and digital content work together to coordinate improvements in content and industry-
leading technology to provide the most robust learning solution. The Spiceland team implements only those changes
that constitute real improvements as identified through extensive research with users. The result is a learning system that
enhances our reputation for providing the best preparation for passing the CPA exam and successful accounting careers.

Improvements in this edition include the following:
- NEW! Updated content to reflect the latest GAAP and Accounting Standards Updates including:

+ Income taxes

« Leases

- Financial instruments
- Revenue recognition

- NEW! Most Decision Makers’ Perspective cases are now auto-gradable in Connect.

- NEW! Data Analytics Cases providing students the opportunity to experience the power and efficacy of data analytics
in the context of each chapter’s topics, using Tableau as a tool, that are auto-gradable in Connect.

« Enhanced partnership with Roger CPA Review, with new CPA Exam Review multiple-choice questions that are auto-
gradable in Connect and access to CPA Exam Review simulations.

- Updated and revised real-world illustrations, assignments, and discussions.

- Revised Continuing Cases featuring Target Corporation financial statements prepared using U.S. GAAP, now auto-
gradable in Connect. A comprehensive version of the case is available in Appendix B.

» Revised Continuing Cases featuring Air France—KLM financial statements prepared using IFRS, now auto-
gradable in Connect. A comprehensive version of the case is available in Appendix C.

» Incorporated the latest technology, including:

- NEW! Connect interface for students, along with Connect Insight for students

. an updated SmartBook

- General Ledger Problems that auto-post from journal entries to T-accounts to trial balances (auto-gradable in Connect)

- Excel Simulations that allow students to practice their Excel skills within the content of financial accounting with
animated, narrated Help and Show Me tutorials (auto-gradable in Connect)

- NEW! Concept Overview Videos that provide engaging narratives of key topics in an assignable and interactive
online format (assignable in Connect)

« Guided Examples/Hint Videos in Connect that provide a narrated, animated, step-by-step walk-through of select
exercises that provide reinforcement when students need it most (can be turned on or off by instructors)

- NEW! Instructor’s Edition to help instructors to more easily design the course and organize chapter resources

Chapter | Chapter 2 Chapter 3

ENVIRONMENT AND THEORETICAL REVIEW OF THE ACCOUNTING THE BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL

STRUCTURE OF FINANCIAL PROCESS DISCLOSURES

ACCOUNTING « Revised and reorganized the presentation of the « Changed opening balance sheet to Nike.

« Provided more focused discussion of the conver- accounting processing cycle. « Clarified distinction between book value, market
gence process. « Added the use of a Dividends account. value, and fair value.

- Revised discussion of FASB standard setting « Eliminated the use of Income Summary in the « Updated terminology in chapter and end-of-
and ongoing projects (disclosure framework, Closing Process. chapter material to reflect ASU 2016-01 for
materiality). - Added a Data Analytics case based on top- investments.

« Added or updated problems and cases relevant to ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool « Updated definition of long-term liability to include

The Gap. (auto-gradable in Connect). FASB’s proposed definition.



Discussed and provided an example of the new
format for the auditor’s report.

Revised discussion of executive compensation to
reflect the more prominent role of restricted stock
compared to stock options.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 4

THE INCOME STATEMENT, COMPRE-
HENSIVE INCOME, AND THE STATE-
MENT OF CASH FLOWS

« Updated all illustrations and end-of-chapter assign-

ments involving income taxes to a new overall rate
of 25%.

Revised definition and discussion of other compre-
hensive income.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 5

TIME VALUE OF MONEY CONCEPTS

« Revised the Financial Reporting Case

Added LO5-5 Explain the role of present value
techniques in the valuation of notes in the Preview
of Accounting Applications of Present Value
Techniques—Single Cash Amount section.
Eliminated the Expected Cash Flow section in the
Preview of Accounting Applications of Present
Value Techniques—Single Cash Amount section.

« Added a Valuation of Long Term Notes section in

the Preview of Accounting Applications of Present
Value Techniques—Single Cash Amount section.
Added a Valuation of Long Term Notes section in
the Preview of Accounting Applications of Present
Value Techniques—Annuities section

Chapter &

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Reordered chapters 5 and 6 to have time value
of money (now 5) precede coverage of revenue
recognition (now 6) and have revenue recognition
immediately precede coverage of receivables (7).
Expanded coverage of time value of money
considerations, including numerical examples

of significant financing components for prepay-
ments and receivables, along with new end of
chapter material in brief exercises and exercises.

« Added Microsoft real-world example to illustrate

materiality of new treatment of licenses.

Added new Trueblood cases.

Added or updated problems and cases relevant to
Expedia, Priceline, and Alphabet.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter [

CASH AND RECEIVABLES

In chapter, as well as Appendix 7B, enhanced
coverage of ASU 2016-13’s CECL model for
accounting for credit losses.

Modified coverage of IFRS to focus on IFRS No. 9.
Enhanced end of chapter material with respect to
credit losses and accounts receivable.

Revised coverage on noninterest-bearing notes
receivable.

Added or updated problems and cases relevant
to General Mills, Microsoft, Amdahl, Nike, Avon
Products, Cisco, Sanofi-Aventis, Tyson Foods, and
Pilgrim’s Pride Corp.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 8

INVENTORIES: MEASUREMENT

Clarified discussion of consignment arrangements
and related costs.

Added details about calculation of cost of

goods sold and ending inventory for specific
identification.

Clarified discussion of calculating of cost of goods
sold and ending inventory using perpetual average
cost.

Clarified the use of LIFO calculations under
periodic versus perpetual system in practice.
Added discussion of the impact of technology and
the use of the perpetual inventory system
Modified the Concept Review Exercise on inventory
cost flow to include LIFO reserve.

Revised lllustration 8-5 to reflect entries under a
perpetual inventory system.

Revised discussion of purchase discounts under
the gross versus net method

Added BE 8-10 for LIFO reserve.

Modified E 8-19 and P 8-1to include LIFO reserve
adjustment from perpetual FIFO to periodic LIFO.
Modified E 8-16 to compare FIFO and LIFO

when costs are increasing and when costs are
decreasing.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).
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Chapter 9

INVENTORIES: ADDITIONAL ISSUES

Modified Concept Review Exercise for lower
of cost or net realizable value to include unit
values.

Clarified treatment of employee discounts in
the conventional retail method and revised
lllustration 9-13.

Revised discussion of Dollar-Value LIFO Retail.
Added a Data Analytics case based on top-
ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 10

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS: ACQUISI-
TION

Revised discussion of nonmonetary exchanges

to include four steps, and added summary
lllustration 10-16.

Revised lllustration 10-14A to clarify recording of a
nonmonetary exchange.

Moved discussion and illustration of amortization
of software development costs to chapter 11.
Added discussion of accounting for cloud comput-
ing arrangements and related implementation
costs.

Added Brief Exercise 10-18 on accounting for
software development costs for internal purposes.
Added Brief Exercise 10-19 on accounting for
software development costs in cloud computing
arrangements.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 11

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS: UTILIZATION
AND DISPOSITION

Moved discussion and illustration of amortization
of software development costs from chapter 10.
Modified lllustration 11-4B to simplify and clarify
calculation of partial year depreciation.

Added discussion of amortization of software
development costs for internal purposes and in
cloud computing arrangements.

Updated discussion of impairment for goodwill
based on ASU No. 2017-04.

Added Exercise 11-13 on reporting assets held
for sale.
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» Updated discussion of MACRS depreciation for
changes enacted by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.
« Added a Data Analytics case based on top-
ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 12

INVESTMENTS

In chapter, as well as Appendix 12B, enhanced
coverage of ASU 2016—13’s CECL model for
accounting for credit losses.

« Revised wording of account titles to provide more
streamlined and cohesive presentation of account-
ing for HTM, TS, AFS, equity, and equity method
investments.

« Provided new Decision Makers’ Perspective cases
for Intel, FCA and Merck.

- Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool

(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 13

CURRENT LIABILITIES AND
CONTINGENCIES

- Updated General Mills example used in
lllustration 13—1 and throughout the chapter.

« Updated contingent liability examples.

« Added a Data Analytics case based on top-
ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chaprer 14

BONDS AND LONG-TERM NOTES

« Updated Real World Financials in Bonds section.
Revised the journal entry in lllustration 14-A2 and
added additional explanation.
Replaced illustration of zero coupon securities
in Ill. 14-7 with a newer real world example,
Coca Cola.
- Added a Data Analytics case based on top-
ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 15

LEASES

- Added discussion to the operating leases sec-
tion related to our recording both interest and
amortization even though, for an operating lease,

the lessee will report a single lease expense rather
than the separate interest and amortization as with
a finance lease.

Added a Why Lease? section to Part A and added
related EOC and TB questions.

Added an Is it a Lease? section to Part C and
added related EOC and TB questions.

Added a paragraph at end of Nonlease Payments
section in Part C to describe new ASU on simplifi-
cation option for lessors.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 16

ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME TAXES

Reordered early coverage to provide more con-
ceptual basis before walking through treatment of
individual temporary differences.

Revised illustrations to highlight the four-step pro-
cess for calculating tax expense, using color-coded
steps in all examples and solutions to end-of-
chapter material.

Revised coverage to walk through each com-
bination of deferred tax assets and liabilities

and revenue- and expense-related temporary
differences.

Modified all examples and end of chapter material
to reflect new tax rates.

Modified coverage of net operating loss
carrybacks and carryforwards to reflect new

tax act.

Modified coverage of non-temporary differences to
reflect new tax act, including Additional Consider-
ation covering earning repatriation.

Updated Real World “Shoe Carnival” case covering
linkage between tax expense journal entry and
changes in deferred tax assets, liabilities, and the
valuation allowance.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 17

PENSIONS AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT
PLANS

- Added Additional Consideration box to note the
trend toward the “spot rate” method of determin-
ing the interest rate.

« Added Additional Consideration box to indicate
that some companies are voluntarily choosing to

recognize pension gains and losses immediately
rather than amortizing them.

Most Decision Makers’ Perspective cases are now
auto-gradable in Connect.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 18

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Revised discussion and assignment material to
reflect the SEC’s revision of the ex-dividend date
from two business days before the date of record
to one.

Replaced Alcoa Case with Nike Case.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 19

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

- Modified all illustrations and end of chapter
material to reflect new tax rates.

- Added a Data Analytics case based on top-
ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Chapter 20

ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND ERROR
CORRECTIONS

« Revised discussion of approaches to account
for accounting changes to include the modified
retrospective approach.

« Modified all illustrations and end of chapter mate-
rial to reflect new tax rates.

Chapter 21

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REVISITED

« Revised a CVS Caremark Corp illustration of
presenting cash flows from operating activities by
the direct method.

« Added an enhanced Additional Consideration box
on reporting bad debt expense in the SCF.

« Added a real world illustration of presenting cash
flows from operating activities by the indirect method.



Modified all illustrations and end of chapter mate-
rial to reflect new tax rates.

Revised a Research Case related to FedEx’s invest-

ing and financing activities.

Added a Real World Case on Staples reporting of
its SCF.

Added a Data Analytics case based on top-

ics in the chapter, using Tableau as a tool
(auto-gradable in Connect).

Appendix A

DERIVATIVES

« Extensively revised all illustrations, discussions,
and assignment material to reflect changes ema-
nating from the new FASB Accounting Standards
Update No. 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting
for Hedging Activities.
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Added new discussion, illustration and assignment
material for a cash flow hedge, interest rate swap.
Added new discussion, illustration and assignment
material for an option contract,

Added new discussion, illustration and assignment
material for a nonfinancial forward contract
Revised a Real World Case related to the Chicago
Mercantile Exchange.

Revised a Johnson & Johnson Real World Case on
hedging transactions.
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CHAPTER

OVERVIEW —‘—

LEARNING —‘-

OBJECTIVES

Environment

and Theoretical
Structure of Financial
Accounting

The primary function of financial accounting is to provide useful financial infor-
mation to users who are external to the business enterprise, particularly inves-
tors and creditors. These users make critical resource allocation decisions that
affect the global economy. The primary means of conveying financial informa-
tion to external users is through financial statements and related notes.

In this chapter you explore such important topics as the reason why finan-
cial accounting is useful, the process by which accounting standards are pro-
duced, and the conceptual framework that underlies financial accounting. The
perspective you gain in this chapter serves as a foundation for more detailed
study of financial accounting.

After studying this chapter, you should be able to:

® LO1-1 Describe the function and primary focus of financial accounting. (p. 3)
® LO1-2  Explain the difference between cash and accrual accounting. (p. 7)

® LO1-3 Define generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and discuss the historical
development of accounting standards, including convergence between U.S. and
international standards. (p. 8)

® LO1-4  Explain why establishing accounting standards is characterized as a political
process. (p. 12)

® LO1-5 Explain factors that encourage high-quality financial reporting. (p. 74)
® LO1-6 Explain the purpose of the conceptual framework. (p. 18)

® LO1-7 Identify the objective and qualitative characteristics of financial reporting
information and the elements of financial statements. (0. 20)

® LO1-8 Describe the four basic assumptions underlying GAAP. (p. 23)

® LO1-9 Describe the recognition, measurement, and disclosure concepts that guide
accounting practice. (p. 25)

® LO1-10 Contrast a revenue/expense approach and an asset/liability approach to
accounting standard setting. (p. 37)

® LO1-11 Discuss the primary differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS with respect to the
development of accounting standards and the conceptual framework underlying
accounting standards. (p. 71, 74 and 19)



FINANCIAL REPORTING CASE

Misguided Marketing Major
During a class break in your investments class, a marketing
major tells the following story to you and some friends:

The chief financial officer (CFO) of a large company is inter-
viewing three candidates for the top accounting position with
his firm. He asks each the same question:

CFO: What is two plus two?
First candidate: Four.
CFO: What is two plus two?
Second candidate: Four.
’ CFO: What is two plus two?
©Rawpixel.com/Shutterstock Third candidate: What would you like it to be?
CFO: You’re hired.

After you take some good-natured ribbing from the non-accounting majors, your friend says, “Seriously, though, there must be ways
the accounting profession prevents that kind of behavior. Aren’t there some laws, or rules, or something? Is accounting based on some
sort of theory, or is it just arbitrary?”

By the time you finish this chapter, you should be able to respond appropriately to the _$_ QUESTIONS
questions posed in this case. Compare your response to the solution provided at the end
of the chapter.

1. What should you tell your friend about the presence of accounting standards in the United
States and the rest of the world? Who has the authority for standard setting? Who has the
responsibility? (p. 8)

2. What is the economic and political environment in which standard setting occurs? (p. 12)

3. What is the relationship among management, auditors, investors, and creditors that tends
to preclude the “What would you like it to be?” attitude? (p. 14)

4. In general, what is the conceptual framework that underlies accounting principles, and how
does it encourage high-quality financial reporting? (p. 18)

Financial Accounting Environment PART A

In 1902, George Dayton took ownership of the Dayton Dry Goods Company, the fourth
largest department store in Minneapolis, Minnesota. Successive generations of Daytons
were innovative managers, flying in inventory to prevent shortages (1920), committing to
giving 5 percent of profits back to the community (1946), and creating the nation’s first e LO1-1
enclosed shopping mall (1956). In 1962, George’s grandchildren transformed Dayton’s, by
then a regional department store chain, into the Target Corporation, promising “a quality
store with quality merchandise at discount prices.”' Today Target has grown to be the sec-
ond largest general merchandise retailer in America, with over 1,800 stores, almost 350,000
employees, and www.target.com reaching the online market. However, Target still stands
by its “Expect More, Pay Less” motto, and still donates 5 percent of profits back to the com-
munity (giving more than $4 million per week).

“Target Through the Years” at https://corporate.target.com/about/history/Target-through-the-years.



4 SECTION 1

The primary focus of
financial accounting is on
the information needs of
investors and creditors.

lustration 1-1

Pathways Commission
visualization: “THIS is
accounting!”

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

Many factors contributed to Target’s success. The Daytons were visionary in their move
into the upscale discount retail market. The company’s commitment to quality products,
customer service, and community support also played an important role. But the ability to
raise money from investors and lenders at various times also was critical to Target’s evolu-
tion. Target used proceeds from its 1967 initial public stock offering to expand nationally.
Creditors (lenders) also supplied needed capital at various times. In fact, without access to
capital, the Target Corporation we know today likely would not exist.

Investors and creditors use many different kinds of information before supplying capital
to businesses like Target. They use the information to predict the future risk and potential
return of their prospective investments or loans.? For example, information about the enter-
prise’s products and its management is key to this assessment. Investors and creditors also
rely on various kinds of accounting information.

Think of accounting as a special “language” that companies like Target use to
communicate financial information to help people inside and outside of the business to
make decisions. The Pathways Commission of the American Accounting Association
developed an illustration to help visualize this important role of accounting.> As shown in
[lustration 1-1, accounting provides useful information about economic activity to help
produce good decisions and foster a prosperous society. Economic activity is complex, and
decisions have real consequences, so critical thinking and many judgments are needed to
produce the most useful accounting information possible.

This book focuses on financial accounting, which is chiefly concerned with providing
financial information to various external users.* The chart in Illustration 1-2 lists a number
of groups that provide financial information as well as several external user groups. For
these groups, the primary focus of financial accounting is on the financial information

3oL [TuseruL  INFormATION )

Y| pus

CRITIAL (7

THINKING ACCOUNTING
H ”

JUDGMENTS

- SR
) 4 2 VAV
T ! "zl

Shades of 6m7
NP £ Y4 YA YA VA
@I | Ecovomic Acwrjl
’@ (%WEEE&M el

This work is by The Pathways Commission and is licensed under a Creative Commons
Attribution-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License.

Reprinted with permission of The Pathways Commission.

*Risk refers to the variability of possible outcomes from an investment. Return is the amount received over and above the investment.
3Reprinted with permission from the American Accounting Association. This work is by The Pathways Commission and is licensed
under a Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License.

“In contrast, managerial accounting deals with the concepts and methods used to provide information to an organization’s internal users,
that is, its managers. You study managerial accounting elsewhere in your curriculum.
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PROVIDERS OF USERS OF FINANCIAL
FINANCIAL INFORMATION INFORMATION
* Profit-oriented companies * Investors

¢ Creditors (banks,
bondholders, other lenders)

* Employees

* Labor unions

* Not-for-profit entities
* Customers

(e.g., government entities, —
charitable organizations, e Suppliers
schools) * Government regulatory agencies
(e.g., Internal Revenue Service,
Securities and Exchange
Commission)
+ Households ¢ Financial intermediaries

(e.g., financial analysts,
stockbrokers, mutual fund
managers, credit-rating
organizations)

provided by profit-oriented companies to their present and potential investors and credi-
tors. One external user group, often referred to as financial intermediaries, includes finan-
cial analysts, stockbrokers, mutual fund managers, and credit rating organizations. These
users provide advice to investors and creditors and/or make investment-credit decisions on
their behalf.

The primary means of conveying financial information to investors, creditors, and other
external users is through financial statements and related disclosure notes. The financial
statements most frequently provided are (1) the balance sheet, also called the statement
of financial position, (2) the income statement, also called the statement of operations,
(3) the statement of cash flows, and (4) the statement of shareholders’ equity. Also, com-
panies must either provide a statement of other comprehensive income immediately fol-
lowing the income statement or present a combined statement of comprehensive income
that includes the information normally contained in both the income statement and the
statement of other comprehensive income.> As you progress through this book, you will
review and expand your knowledge of the information in these financial statements, the
way the elements in these statements are measured, and the concepts underlying these
measurements and related disclosures. We use the term financial reporting to refer to
the process of providing this information to external users. Keep in mind, though, that
external users receive important financial information in a variety of other formats as
well, including news releases and management forecasts, prospectuses, and reports filed
with regulatory agencies.

Target’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2016, and related
disclosure notes are provided in Connect. You also can access these statements and notes
under the Investor Relations link at the company’s website (Target.com). A Target case
is included among the Real-Word Cases that accompany each chapter, so you can see how
each chapter’s topics relate to a single familiar company.

The Economic Environment and Financial Reporting

In the United States, we have a highly developed free-enterprise economy with the majority
of productive resources privately owned rather than government owned. For the economy
to operate efficiently, these resources should be allocated to private enterprises that will use

SFASB ASC 220-45: Comprehensive Income—Other Presentation Matters (originally “Presentation of Comprehensive Income,”
Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05 (Norwalk, CT: FASB, June 2011)).

lustration 1-2

Financial Information
Providers and External
User Groups
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The capital markets
provide a mechanism to
help our economy allocate
resources efficiently.

Corporations acquire
capital from investors in
exchange for ownership
interest and from creditors
by borrowing.

The expected rate of
return and the uncertainty,
or risk, of that return

are key variables in the
investment decision.

A company will be able to
provide a positive return
to investors and creditors
only if it can generate

a profit from selling its
products or services.

The objective of financial
accounting is to provide
investors and creditors
with useful information for
decision making.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

them best to provide the goods and services desired by society and not to enterprises that
will waste them. The mechanisms that foster this efficient allocation of resources are the
capital markets. We can think of the capital markets simply as a composite of all investors
and creditors.

Businesses go to the capital markets to get the cash necessary for them to function. The
three primary forms of business organization are the sole proprietorship, the partnership,
and the corporation. In the United States, sole proprietorships and partnerships outnumber
corporations. However, the dominant form of business organization, in terms of the owner-
ship of productive resources, is the corporation. Investors provide resources, usually cash,
to a corporation in exchange for an ownership interest, that is, shares of stock. Creditors
lend cash to the corporation, either by making individual loans or by purchasing publicly
traded debt such as bonds.

What information do investors and creditors need when determining which companies
will receive capital? We explore that question next.

The Investment-Credit Decision—A Cash Flow Perspective

While the decisions made by investors and by creditors are somewhat different, they are
similar in at least one important way. Investors and creditors are willing to provide capital to
a corporation (buy stocks or bonds) only if they expect to receive more cash in return at
some time in the future. A corporation’s shareholders will receive cash from their invest-
ment through the ultimate sale of the ownership shares of stock. In addition, many corpora-
tions distribute cash to their shareholders in the form of periodic dividends. For example, if
an investor provides a company with $10,000 cash by purchasing stock at the end of 2020,
receives $400 in dividends from the company during 2021, and sells the ownership interest
(shares) at the end of 2021 for $10,600, the investment would have generated a rate of
return of 10% for 2021, calculated as follows:

$400 dividends + $600 share price appreciation

$10,000 initial investment = 10%

All else equal, investors and creditors would like to invest in stocks or bonds that provide
the highest expected rate of return. However, there are many variables to consider before
making an investment decision. For example, the uncertainty, or risk, of that expected return
also is important. To illustrate, consider the following two investment options:

1. Invest $10,000 in a savings account insured by the U.S. government that will generate
a 5% rate of return.

2. Invest $10,000 in a profit-oriented company.

While the rate of return from option 1 is known with virtual certainty, the return from
option 2 is uncertain. The amount and timing of the cash to be received in the future from
option 2 are unknown. The company in option 2 will be able to provide investors with a
return only if it can generate a profit. That is, it must be able to use the resources provided
by investors and creditors to generate cash receipts from selling a product or service that
exceed the cash disbursements necessary to provide that product or service. Therefore,
potential investors require information about the company that will help them estimate the
potential for future profits, as well as the return they can expect on their investment and the
risk that is associated with it. If the potential return is high enough, investors will prefer to
invest in the profit-oriented company, even if that return has more risk associated with it.

In summary, the primary objective of financial accounting is to provide investors and cred-
itors with information that will help them make investment and credit decisions. That informa-
tion should help investors and creditors evaluate the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of the
enterprise’s future cash receipts and disbursements. The better this information is, the more
efficient will be investor and creditor resource allocation decisions. But financial accounting
doesn’t only benefit companies and their investors and creditors. By providing key informa-
tion to capital market participants, financial accounting plays a vital role that helps direct soci-
ety’s resources to the companies that will utilize those resources most effectively.
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Cash versus Accrual Accounting

Even though predicting future cash flows is the primary goal of many users of financial
reporting, the model best able to achieve that goal is accrual accounting. A competing
model is cash-basis accounting. Each model produces a periodic measure of performance
that could be used by investors and creditors for predicting future cash flows.

CASH-BASIS ACCOUNTING Cash-basis accounting produces a measure called
net operating cash flow. This measure is the difference between cash receipts and cash
payments from transactions related to providing goods and services to customers during a
reporting period.

Over the life of a company, net operating cash flow definitely is the measure of concern.
However, over short periods of time, operating cash flows may not be indicative of the
company’s long-run cash-generating ability. Sometimes a company pays or receives cash
in one period that relates to performance in multiple periods. For example, in one period
a company receives cash that relates to prior period sales, or makes advance payments for
costs related to future periods.

To see this more clearly, consider Carter Company’s net operating cash flows during its
first three years of operations, shown in Illustration 1-3. Carter’s operations for these three
years included the following:

1. Credit sales to customers were $100,000 each year ($300,000 total), while cash
collections were $50,000, $125,000, and $125,000. Carter’s customers owe Carter
nothing at the end of year 3.

2. At the beginning of year 1, Carter prepaid $60,000 for three years’ rent ($20,000 per year).
. Employee salaries of $50,000 were paid in full each year.

W

4. Utilities cost was $10,000 each year, but $5,000 of the cost in year 1 was not paid until
year 2.

5. In total, Carter generated positive net operating cash flow of $60,000.

Is the three-year pattern of net operating cash flows indicative of the company’s
year-by-year performance? No. Sales to customers and costs of operating the company
(rent, salaries, and utilities) occurred evenly over the three years, but net operating cash
flows occurred at an uneven rate. Net operating cash flows varied each year because Carter
(a) didn’t collect cash from customers in the same pattern that sales occurred and (b) didn’t
pay for rent and utilities in the same years in which those resources were actually consumed.
This illustration also shows why operating cash flows may not predict the company’s long-
run cash-generating ability. Net operating cash flow in year 1 (negative $65,000)° is not an
accurate predictor of Carter’s future cash-generating ability in year 2 (positive $60,000) or
year 3 (positive $65,000).

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Sales (on credit) $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $300,000
Net Operating Cash Flows
Cash receipts from customers $ 50,000 $125,000 $125,000 $300,000
Cash disbursements:

Prepayment of three years’ rent (60,000) —0- -0- (60,000)

Salaries to employees (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (150,000)

Utilities (5,000) (15,000) (10,000) (30,000)
Net operating cash flow $(65,000) $ 60,000 $ 65,000 $ 60,000

\_

°If cash flow from operating the company is negative, the company can continue to operate by using cash obtained from investors or
creditors to make up the difference.

Environment and Theoretical Structure of Financial Accounting

® LO1-2

Net operating cash flow
is the difference between
cash receipts and cash
disbursements from
providing goods and
services.

Over short periods of
time, operating cash flow
may not be an accurate
predictor of future
operating cash flows.

lustration -3

Cash-Basis Accounting



8 SECTION 1

ustration 1-4

Accrual Accounting

Net income is the
difference between
revenues and expenses.

Net income is considered
a better indicator of future
operating cash flows than
is current net operating
cash flow.
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N
CARTER COMPANY
Income Statements
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total
Revenues $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $300,000
Expenses:
Rent 20,000 20,000 20,000 60,000
Salaries 50,000 50,000 50,000 150,000
Utilities 10,000 10,000 10,000 30,000
Total expenses 80,000 80,000 80,000 240,000
Net Income $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 20,000 $ 60,000
L = = = =

ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING If we measure Carter’s activities by the accrual accounting
model, we get a more accurate prediction of future operating cash flows and a more reason-
able portrayal of the periodic operating performance of the company. The accrual account-
ing model doesn’t focus only on cash flows. Instead, it also reflects other resources provided
and consumed by operations during a period. The accrual accounting model’s measure of
resources provided by business operations is called revenues, and the measure of resources
sacrificed to produce revenues is called expenses. The difference between revenues and
expenses is net income, or net loss if expenses are greater than revenues.’

[lustration 1-4 shows how we would measure revenues and expenses in this very simple
situation.

Revenue for year 1 is the $100,000 sales. Given that sales eventually are collected in
cash, the year 1 revenue of $100,000 is a better measure of the inflow of resources from
company operations than is the $50,000 cash collected from customers. Also, net income of
$20,000 for year 1 appears to be a reasonable predictor of the company’s cash-generating
ability, as total net operating cash flow for the three-year period is a positive $60,000. Com-
paring the three-year pattern of net operating cash flows in I[llustration 1-3 to the three-year
pattern of net income in Illustration 1-4, the net income pattern is more representative of
Carter Company’s steady operating performance over the three-year period.®

While this example is somewhat simplistic, it allows us to see the motivation for using
the accrual accounting model. Accrual income attempts to measure the resource inflows and
outflows generated by operations during the reporting period, which may not correspond to
cash inflows and outflows. Does this mean that information about cash flows from operating
activities is not useful? No. Indeed, one of the basic financial statements—the statement of cash
flows—reports information about cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities,
and provides important information to investors and creditors.’ Focusing on accrual accounting
as well as cash flows provides a more complete view of a company and its operations.

The Development of Financial Accounting
and Reporting Standards

Accrual accounting is the financial reporting model used by the majority of profit-oriented
companies and by many not-for-profit companies. The fact that companies use the same
model is important to investors and creditors, allowing them to compare financial infor-
mation among companies. To facilitate these comparisons, financial accounting employs a
body of standards known as generally accepted accounting principles, often abbreviated
as GAAP (and pronounced gap). GAAP is a dynamic set of both broad and specific guide-
lines that companies should follow when measuring and reporting the information in their

"Net income also includes gains and losses, which are discussed later in the chapter.

SEmpirical evidence that accrual accounting provides a better measure of short-term performance than cash flows is provided by Patricia
Dechow, “Accounting Earnings and Cash Flows as Measures of Firm Performance: The Role of Accrual Accounting,” Journal of
Accounting and Economics 18 (1994), pp. 3-42.

“The statement of cash flows is discussed in detail in Chapters 4 and 21.
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financial statements and related notes. The more important concepts underlying GAAP are
discussed in a subsequent section of this chapter and revisited throughout this book in the
context of particular accounting topics.

Historical Perspective and Standards

Pressures on the accounting profession to establish uniform accounting standards began
after the stock market crash of 1929. Some felt that insufficient and misleading financial
statement information led to inflated stock prices and that this contributed to the stock mar-
ket crash and the subsequent depression.

The 1933 Securities Act and the 1934 Securities Exchange Act were designed to restore
investor confidence. The 1933 Act sets forth accounting and disclosure requirements for
initial offerings of securities (stocks and bonds). The 1934 Act applies to secondary market
transactions and mandates reporting requirements for companies whose securities are pub-
licly traded on either organized stock exchanges or in over-the-counter markets.!”

The 1934 Act also created the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Congress
gave the SEC the authority to set accounting and reporting standards for companies whose
securities are publicly traded. However, the SEC, a government appointed body, has dele-
gated the task of setting accounting standards to the private sector. It is important to under-
stand that the power still lies with the SEC. If the SEC does not agree with a particular
standard issued by the private sector, it can force a change in the standard. In fact, it has
done so in the past.!!

EARLY U.S. STANDARD SETTING The first private sector body to assume the task of
setting accounting standards was the Committee on Accounting Procedure (CAP). The
CAP was a committee of the American Institute of Accountants (AIA). The AIA was
renamed the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) in 1957,
which is the national professional organization for certified professional public accountants.

From 1938 to 1959, the CAP issued 51 Accounting Research Bulletins (ARBs) which
dealt with specific accounting and reporting problems. No theoretical framework for finan-
cial accounting was established. This piecemeal approach of dealing with individual issues
without a framework led to criticism.

In 1959 the Accounting Principles Board (APB) replaced the CAP. The APB operated
from 1959 through 1973 and issued 31 Accounting Principles Board Opinions (APBOs),
various Interpretations, and four Statements. The Opinions also dealt with specific account-
ing and reporting problems. Many ARBs and APBO:s still represent authoritative GAAP.

The APB suffered from a variety of problems. It was never able to establish a conceptual
framework for financial accounting and reporting that was broadly accepted. Also, members
served on the APB on a voluntary, part-time basis, so the APB was not able to act quickly
enough to keep up with financial reporting issues as they developed. Perhaps the most
important flaw of the APB was a perceived lack of independence. Because the APB was
composed almost entirely of certified public accountants and supported by the AICPA, crit-
ics charged that the clients of the represented public accounting firms exerted self-interested
pressure on the board and inappropriately influenced decisions. A related complaint was
that other interest groups lacked an ability to provide input to the standard-setting process.

THE FASB Criticism of the APB led to the creation in 1973 of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) and its supporting structure. There are seven full-time members
of the FASB. FASB members represent various constituencies concerned with accounting
standards, and have included representatives from the auditing profession, profit-oriented
companies, accounting educators, financial analysts, and government. The FASB is sup-
ported by its parent organization, the Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF), which is

1'Reporting requirements for SEC registrants include Form 10-K, the annual report form, and Form 10-Q, the report that must be filed
for the first three quarters of each fiscal year.

""The SEC issues Financial Reporting Releases (FRRs), which regulate what information companies must report to it. The SEC staff
also issues Staff Accounting Bulletins that provide the SEC’s interpretation of standards previously issued by the private sector. To learn
more about the SEC, consult its Internet site at www.sec.gov.

The Securities and
Exchange Commission
(SEC) has the authority to
set accounting standards
for companies, but it relies
on the private sector to

do so.

The FASB was established
to set U.S. accounting
standards.
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The FASB Accounting
Standards Codification
is the only source of
authoritative U.S. GAAP,
other than rules and
interpretive releases of
the SEC.

lustration -5

Accounting Standard
Setting
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responsible for selecting the members of the FASB and its Financial Accounting Standards
Advisory Council (FASAC), ensuring adequate funding of FASB activities and exercising
general oversight of the FASB’s activities.!>!?

In 1984, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) was formed to improve
financial reporting by resolving narrowly defined financial accounting issues within the
framework of existing GAAP. The EITF primarily addresses implementation issues, thereby
speeding up the standard-setting process and allowing the FASB to focus on pervasive long-
term problems. EITF rulings are ratified by the FASB and are considered part of GAAP.

[lustration 1-5 summarizes this discussion on accounting standards. The graphic shows
the hierarchy of accounting standard setting in order of authority.

CODIFICATION Present-day GAAP includes a huge amount of guidance. The FASB
has developed a conceptual framework (discussed in Part B of this chapter) that is not
authoritative GAAP but provides an underlying structure for the development of accounting
standards. The FASB also has issued many accounting standards, currently called Account-
ing Standards Updates (ASUs) and previously called Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFASs), as well as numerous FASB Interpretations, Staff Positions, Technical
Bulletins, and EITF Issue Consensuses. The SEC also has issued various important pro-
nouncements. Determining the appropriate accounting treatment for a particular event or
transaction might require an accountant to research several of these sources.

To simplify the task of researching an accounting topic, in 2009 the FASB implemented its
FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The Codification integrates and topically orga-
nizes all relevant accounting pronouncements comprising GAAP in a searchable, online data-
base. It represents the single source of authoritative nongovernmental U.S. GAAP, and also
includes portions of SEC accounting guidance that are relevant to financial reports filed with
the SEC. When the FASB issues a new ASU, it becomes authoritative when it is entered into
the Codification. The Codification is organized into nine main topics and approximately 90
subtopics. The main topics and related numbering system are presented in Illustration 1-6.'
The Codification can be located at www.fasb.org.

HIERARCHY OF STANDARD-SETTING AUTHORITY

Congress

SEC

Private Sector

CAP APB FASB

1938-1959 1959-1973 1973-Present

2The FAF’s primary sources of funding are fees assessed against issuers of securities under the Public Company Accounting Reform
and Investor Protection Act of 2002, commonly referred to as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The FAF is governed by trustees, the majority of
whom are appointed from the membership of eight sponsoring organizations. These organizations represent important constituencies
involved with the financial reporting process. For example, one of the founding organizations is the CFA Institute which represents
financial information users, and another is the Financial Executives International which represents financial information preparers. The
FAF also raises funds to support the activities of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

3The major responsibility of the FASAC is to advise the FASB on the priorities of its projects, including the suitability of new projects
that might be added to its agenda. FASAC includes approximately 35 representatives from auditing firms, private companies, various
user groups, and academia.

“FASB ASC 105-10: Generally Accepted Accounting Principles—Overall (previously “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification®
and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles—a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162,” Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 168 (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB: 2009)).
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~\
FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topics
Topic Numbered
General Principles 100-199
Presentation 200-299
Assets 300-399
Liabilities 400-499
Equity 500-599
Revenues 600-699
Expenses 700-799
Broad Transactions 800-899
Industry 900-999
\_
(
Accounting standards and the standard-setting process discussed above relate to
profit-oriented organizations and nongovernmental not-for-profit entities. In 1984, the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) was created to develop accounting
standards for governmental units such as states and cities. The FAF oversees and funds the
GASB, and the Governmental Accounting Standards Advisory Council (GASAC) provides
input to it.
4

Throughout this book, we use the Accounting Standards Codification System (ASC) in
footnotes when referencing generally accepted accounting principles (FASB ASC followed
by the appropriate number). Each footnote also includes a reference to the original account-
ing standard that is codified in the ASC.

INTERNATIONAL STANDARD SETTING Most industrialized countries have organiza-
tions responsible for determining accounting and reporting standards. In some countries, the
United Kingdom, for instance, the responsible organization is a private sector body similar
to the FASB in the United States. In other countries, the organization is a governmental
body. Historically, these different organizations often produced different accounting stan-
dards, which complicated accounting by multinational companies, reduced comparability
between companies using different standards, and potentially made it harder for companies
to raise capital in international markets.

In response to these problems, the International Accounting Standards Committee
(IASC) was formed in 1973 to develop global accounting standards. The IASC reorganized
itself in 2001 and created a new standard-setting body called the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). The IASB’s main objective is to develop a single set of
high-quality, understandable, and enforceable global accounting standards to help partici-
pants in the world’s capital markets and other users make economic decisions. '

As shown in Illustration 1-7, the way international standard setting is structured is simi-
lar in many respects to the way standard setting is structured in the United States.

The TASC issued 41 International Accounting Standards (IASs), and the IASB endorsed
these standards when it was formed in 2001. Since then, the IASB has revised many IASs
and has issued new standards of its own, called International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). More and more countries are basing their national accounting standards
on IFRS. By 2018, more than 120 jurisdictions, including Hong Kong, Egypt, Canada,
Australia, and the countries in the European Union (EU), require or permit the use of IFRS
or a local variant of IFRS.'

Swww.ifrs.org.
1°See http://www.ifrs.com/ifrs_faqs.html.

lustration -6
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U.S. GAAP IFRS

Regulatory oversight
provided by:
Foundation providing
oversight, appointing
members, raising funds:
Standard-setting board:

Securities Exchange
Commission (SEC)
Financial Accounting
Foundation (FAF):
14-18 trustees
Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB):
7 members

Monitoring Board

IFRS Foundation:
22 trustees

International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB):
14 members

IFRS Advisory Council:
approx. 50 members

Advisory council providing
input on agenda
and projects:

Group to deal with
emerging issues:

\_

Financial Accounting
Standards Advisory Council
(FASAC): 30—40 members

Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF): approx. 15 members

IFRS Interpretations
Committee: 14 members

EFFORTS TO CONVERGE U.S. AND INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS Should the
United States also adopt IFRS? Many argue that a single set of global standards would
improve comparability of financial reporting and facilitate access to capital. In 2007, the
SEC signaled its view that IFRS are of high quality by eliminating a requirement for for-
eign companies that issue stock in the United States to include in their financial statements
a reconciliation of IFRS to U.S. GAAP. However, others argue that U.S. standards should
remain customized to fit the stringent legal and regulatory requirements of the U.S. business
environment. There also is concern that differences in implementation and enforcement
from country to country make accounting under IFRS appear more uniform and compa-
rable than actually is the case. Another argument is that competition between alternative
standard-setting regimes is healthy and can lead to improved standards."”

The FASB and IASB have worked for many years to converge to one global set of accounting
standards. Much progress has occurred, and in this book you will learn about already-converged
standards that deal with such topics as revenue recognition, earnings per share, share-based
compensation, nonmonetary exchanges, inventory costs, and the calculation of fair value. Where
We’re Headed boxes throughout the book describe additional projects that are ongoing.

However, at the time this book is being written, recent events suggest that full conver-
gence will not be achieved in the foreseeable future. For example, as discussed further in
Chapter 12, the FASB and IASB eventually concluded that full convergence was not pos-
sible with respect to accounting for financial instruments. While it appears likely that the
FASB and IASB will continue to work together to converge where possible, some differ-
ences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP will remain.

Nonetheless, you should be aware of important differences that exist between U.S. GAAP
and IFRS. Therefore, International Financial Reporting Standards boxes are included
throughout the book to highlight circumstances in which IFRS differs from U.S. GAAP.
Throughout this book, and also in the end-of-chapter questions, exercises, problems, and
cases, [FRS-related material is marked with the globe icon that you see beside this para-
graph. And, similar to the Target case, an Air France—KLLM (AF) case is included among
the Real-World Cases that accompany each chapter, so you can see how each chapter’s
IFRS material relates to a single, familiar company.

The Standard-Setting Process

DUE PROCESS When developing accounting standards, a standard setter must under-
stand the nuances of the economic transactions the standards address and the views of key
constituents concerning how accounting would best capture that economic reality. There-
fore, the FASB undertakes a series of elaborate information-gathering steps before issuing

"For a comprehensive analysis of the pros and cons of U.S. adoption of IFRS, see L. Hail, C. Leuz and P. Wysocki, “Global Accounting
Convergence and the Potential Adoption of IFRS in the US (Part 1): An Analysis of Economic and Policy Factors,” Accounting Horizons
24 (No 3.), September 2010, pp. 355-394, and . . . (Part 2): Political Factors and Future Scenarios for U.S. Accounting Standards,”
Accounting Horizons 24 (No. 4), December 2010, pp. 567-588.
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- lustrarion 1-8
- . X K K K K The FASB’s Standard-
1. The Board identifies financial reporting issues based on requests/recommendations Setting Process
from stakeholders or through other means.
2. The Board decides whether to add a project to the technical agenda based on a
staff-prepared analysis of the issues.
3. The Board deliberates at one or more public meetings the various issues identified The ',:ASB ‘_’"dertak_es
a series of information-
and analyzed by the staff. gathering steps before
4. The Board issues an Exposure Draft. (In some projects, a Discussion Paper may be issuing an Accounting
issued to obtain input at an early stage that is used to develop an Exposure Draft.) Standards Update.
5. The Board holds a public roundtable meeting on the Exposure Draft, if necessary.
6. The staff analyzes comment letters, public roundtable discussion, and any other
information. The Board redeliberates the proposed provisions at public meetings.
7. The Board issues an Accounting Standards Update describing amendments to the
L Accounting Standards Codification.

an Accounting Standards Update. These steps include open hearings, deliberations, and
requests for written comments from interested parties. [llustration 1-8 outlines the FASB’s
standard-setting process.'s

These steps help the FASB acquire information to determine the preferred method of
accounting. However, as a practical matter, this information gathering also exposes the FASB
to much political pressure by various interest groups who want an accounting treatment that
serves their economic best interest. As you will see later in this chapter, the FASB’s concepts
statements indicate that standards should present information in a neutral manner, rather than
being designed to favor particular economic consequences, but sometimes politics intrudes
on the standard-setting process.

POLITICS IN STANDARD SETTING A change in accounting standards can result in a
substantial redistribution of wealth within our economy. Therefore, it is no surprise that the
FASB has had to deal with intense political pressure over controversial accounting stan-
dards and sometimes has changed standards in response to that pressure.

One example of the effect of politics on standard setting occurred in the mid-1990s with
respect to accounting for employee stock options. The accounting standards in place at that
time typically did not recognize compensation expense if a company paid their employ-
ees with stock options rather than cash. Yet, the company was sacrificing something of
value to compensate its employees. Therefore, the FASB proposed that companies recog-
nize compensation expense in an amount equal to the fair value of the options, with some
of the expense recognized in each of the periods in which the employee earned the options.
Numerous companies (particularly in California’s Silicon Valley, where high-tech compa-
nies had been compensating employees with stock options to a great extent) applied intense
political pressure against this proposal, and eventually the FASB backed down and required
only disclosure of options-related compensation expense in the notes to the financial state-
ments. Nearly a decade later, this contentious issue resurfaced in a more amenable political
climate, and the FASB issued a standard requiring expense recognition as originally pro-
posed. This issue is discussed at greater length in Chapter 19.

Another example of the political process at work in standard setting is the controversy
surrounding the implementation of the fair value accounting standard issued in 2007. Many
financial assets and liabilities are reported at fair value in the balance sheet, and many types
of fair value changes are included in net income. Some have argued that fair values were
estimated in a manner that exacerbated the financial crisis of 2008-2009 by forcing finan-
cial institutions to take larger than necessary write-downs of financial assets in the illiquid
markets that existed at that time. As discussed further in Chapter 12, pressure from lobbyists
and politicians influenced the FASB to revise its guidance on recognizing investment losses
in these situations, and ongoing pressure remains to reduce the extent to which fair value
changes are included in the determination of net income.

Swww.FASB.org.
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nternational Financial Reporting Standards

Politics in International Standard Setting. Political pressures on the IASB’s standard-setting
process are severe. Politicians from countries that use IFRS lobby for the standards they
prefer. The European Union (EU) is a particularly important adopter of IFRS and utilizes a
formal evaluation process for determining whether an IFRS standard will be endorsed for
use in EU countries. Economic consequences for EU member nations are an important
consideration in that process.

For example, in 2008 the EU successfully pressured the IASB to suspend its due
process and immediately allow reclassification of investments so that EU banks could avoid
recognizing huge losses during a financial crisis.”® Commenting on standards setting at that
time, Charlie McCreevy, European Commissioner for Internal Markets and Service, stated that
“Accounting is now far too important to be left to . . . accountants!”2°

J

Additional Consideration

Private Company Council (PCC). Are the complex, comprehensive standards that are
necessary to reflect the activities of a huge multinational conglomerate like General Electric
also appropriate for a private company that, say, just needs to provide financial statements
to its bank to get a loan? Private companies might be able to avoid much of that complexity.
They don’t sell securities like stocks and bonds to the general public, and they usually can
identify the information needs of the specific users who rely on their financial statements
and provide direct access to management to answer questions. Private companies typically
also have a smaller accounting staff than do public companies. For those reasons, private
companies have long sought a version of GAAP that is less costly to apply and better meets
the information needs of the users of their financial statements.

In 2012, the Financial Accounting Foundation responded to this concern by establishing
the Private Company Council (PCC). The ten-member PCC determines whether changes
to existing GAAP are necessary to meet the needs of users of private company financial
statements but a proposed exception or modification for private companies must be
endorsed by the FASB before being issued as an Accounting Standards Update and added
to the Codification. The PCC also advises the FASB about its current projects that affect
private companies.

Encouraging High-Quality Financial Reporting

Numerous factors affect the quality of financial reporting. In this section, we discuss the role
of the auditor, recent reforms in financial reporting, and the debate about whether account-
ing standards should emphasize rules or underlying principles.

The Role of the Auditor

It is the responsibility of management to apply GAAP appropriately. Another group,
auditors, examine (audit) financial statements to express a professional, independent
opinion about whether the statements fairly present the company’s financial position, its
results of operations, and its cash flows in compliance with GAAP. Audits add credibility to
the financial statements, increasing the confidence of those who rely on the information.
Auditors, therefore, play an important role in the capital markets.

1“Sarah Deans and Dane Mott, “Lowering Standards,” www.morganmarkets.com, 10/14/2008.
Charlie McCreevy, Keynote Address, “Financial Reporting in a Changing World” Conference, Brussels, 5/7/2009.
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Most companies receive what’s called an unmodified audit report. For example, Apple
Inc.’s 2017 audit report by Ernst & Young LLP states, “In our opinion, the financial state-
ments referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Apple Inc. at September 30, 2017 and September 24, 2016, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
September 30, 2017, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.”
This is known as a clean opinion. Had there been any material departures from GAAP or
other problems that caused the auditors to question the fairness of the statements, the report
would have been modified to inform readers. Normally, companies correct any material
misstatements that auditors identify in the course of an audit, so companies usually receive
clean opinions. The audit report for public companies also provides the auditors’ opinion on
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

In most states, only individuals licensed as certified public accountants (CPAs) can
represent that the financial statements have been audited in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Requirements to be licensed as a CPA vary from state to state,
but all states specify education, testing, and experience requirements. The testing require-
ment is to pass the Uniform CPA Examination.

Financial Reporting Reform

The dramatic collapse of Enron in 2001 and the dismantling of the international public
accounting firm of Arthur Andersen in 2002 severely shook U.S. capital markets. The
credibility of the accounting profession itself as well as of corporate America was called
into question. Public outrage over accounting scandals at high-profile companies like
WorldCom, Xerox, Merck, Adelphia Communications, and others increased the pres-
sure on lawmakers to pass measures that would restore credibility and investor confidence
in the financial reporting process.

Driven by these pressures, Congress acted swiftly and passed the Public Company
Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act of 2002, commonly referred to as the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or SOX, for the two congressmen who sponsored the bill. SOX applies
to public securities-issuing entities. It provides for the regulation of auditors and the types of
services they furnish to clients, increases accountability of corporate executives, addresses
conflicts of interest for securities analysts, and provides for stiff criminal penalties for
violators. Ilustration 1-9 outlines key provisions of the Act.

Section 404 is perhaps the most controversial provision of SOX. It requires that company
management document internal controls and report on their adequacy. Auditors also must
express an opinion on whether the company has maintained effective control over financial
reporting.

No one argues the importance of adequate internal controls, but many argued that the
benefits of Section 404 did not justify the costs of complying with it. Research provides
evidence that 404 reports affect investors’ risk assessments and companies’ stock prices,
indicating these reports are seen as useful by investors.?! Unfortunately, it is not possible
to quantify the more important benefit of potentially avoiding business failures like Enron
by focusing attention on the implementation and maintenance of adequate internal controls.

The costs of 404 compliance initially were quite steep. For example, one survey of For-
tune 1,000 companies estimated that large companies spent, on average, approximately
$8.5 million and $4.8 million (including internal costs and auditor fees) during the first
two years of the act to comply with 404 reporting requirements.> As expected, the costs
dropped significantly in the second year, and continued to drop as the efficiency of internal
control audits increased. Many companies now perceive that the benefits of these internal
control reports exceed their costs.?

We revisit Section 404 in Chapter 7 in the context of an introduction to internal controls.

2'Hollis Ashbaugh Skaife, Daniel W. Collins, William R. Kinney, Jr., and Ryan LaFond, “The Effect of SOX Internal Control Deficien-
cies on Firm Risk and Cost of Equity,” Journal of Accounting Research 47 (2009), pp. 1-43.

2¢Sarbanes-Oxley 404 Costs and Implementation Issues: Spring 2006 Survey Update,” CRA International (April 17, 2006).

ZProtiviti, Inc., 2011 Sarbanes-Oxley Compliance Survey (June, 2011).

Certified public
accountants (CPAs) are
licensed by states to
provide audit services.
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Key Provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act:

- Oversight board. The five-member (two accountants) Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board has the authority to establish standards dealing with auditing,
quality control, ethics, independence, and other activities relating to the preparation
of audit reports, or can choose to delegate these responsibilities to the AICPA. Prior
to the act, the AICPA set auditing standards. The SEC has oversight and enforcement
authority.

. Corporate executive accountability. Corporate executives must personally certify the
financial statements and company disclosures with severe financial penalties and the
possibility of imprisonment for fraudulent misstatement.

- Nonaudit services. The law makes it unlawful for the auditors of public companies
to perform a variety of nonaudit services for audit clients. Prohibited services include
bookkeeping, internal audit outsourcing, appraisal or valuation services, and various other
consulting services. Other nonaudit services, including tax services, require preapproval
by the audit committee of the company being audited.

- Retention of work papers. Auditors of public companies must retain all audit or review
work papers for seven years or face the threat of a prison term for willful violations.

- Auditor rotation. Lead audit partners are required to rotate every five years. Mandatory
rotation of audit firms came under consideration.

» Conflicts of interest. Audit firms are not allowed to audit public companies whose chief
executives worked for the audit firm and participated in that company’s audit during the
preceding year.

- Hiring of auditor. Audit firms are hired by the audit committee of the board of directors of
the company, not by company management.

- Internal control. Section 404 of the act requires that company management document
and assess the effectiveness of all internal control processes that could affect financial
reporting. The PCAOB’s Auditing Standard No. 2 (since replaced by AS 2207) requires
that the company auditors express an opinion on whether the company has maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting.

A Move Away from Rules-Based Standards?

The accounting scandals at Enron and other companies involved managers using elaborately
structured transactions to try to circumvent specific rules in accounting standards. One con-
sequence of those scandals was a rekindled debate over principles-based, or more recently
termed objectives-oriented, versus rules-based accounting standards. In fact, a provision
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act required the SEC to study the issue and provide a report to Con-
gress on its findings. That report, issued in July 2003, recommended that accounting stan-
dards be developed using an objectives-oriented approach.>

An objectives-oriented approach to standard setting emphasizes using professional judg-
ment, as opposed to following a list of rules, when choosing how to account for a trans-
action. Proponents of an objectives-oriented approach argue that a focus on professional
judgment means that there are few rules to sidestep and we are more likely to arrive at an
appropriate accounting treatment. Detractors, on the other hand, argue that the absence of
detailed rules opens the door to even more abuse, because management can use the latitude
provided by objectives to justify their preferred accounting approach. Even in the absence
of intentional misuse, reliance on professional judgment might result in different interpreta-
tions for similar transactions, raising concerns about comparability. Also, detailed rules help
auditors withstand pressure from clients who want a more favorable accounting treatment
and help companies ensure that they are complying with GAAP and avoid litigation or SEC

2“Study Pursuant to Section 108 (d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption by the United States Financial Reporting Sys-
tem of a Principles-Based Accounting System,” Securities and Exchange Commission (July 2003).
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inquiry. For these reasons, it’s challenging to avoid providing detailed rules in the U.S.
reporting environment.

Regardless of whether accounting standards are based more on rules or on objectives,
prior research highlights that there is some potential for abuse, either by structuring
transactions around precise rules or opportunistically interpreting underlying principles.?
The key is whether management is dedicated to high-quality financial reporting. It
appears that poor ethical values on the part of management are at the heart of accounting
abuses and scandals, so we now turn to a discussion of ethics in the accounting
profession.

Ethics in Accounting

Ethics is a term that refers to a code or moral system that provides criteria for evaluating
right and wrong. An ethical dilemma is a situation in which an individual or group is faced
with a decision that tests this code. Many of these dilemmas are simple to recognize and
resolve. For example, have you ever been tempted to call your professor and ask for an
extension on the due date of an assignment by claiming a pretended illness? Temptation like
this will test your personal ethics.

Accountants, like others in the business world, are faced with many ethical dilemmas,
some of which are complex and difficult to resolve. For instance, the capital markets’ focus
on near-term profits may tempt a company’s management to bend or even break accounting
rules to inflate reported net income. In these situations, technical competence is not enough
to resolve the dilemma.

ETHICS AND PROFESSIONALISM One characteristic that distinguishes a profession
from other occupations is the acceptance by its members of a responsibility for the interests
of those it serves. Ethical behavior is expected of those engaged in a profession. That expec-
tation often is articulated in a code of ethics. For example, law and medicine are professions
that have their own codes of professional ethics. These codes provide guidance and rules to
members in the performance of their professional responsibilities.

Public accounting has achieved widespread recognition as a profession. The AICPA,
the national organization of certified public accountants, has its own Code of Professional
Conduct that prescribes the ethical conduct members should strive to achieve. Similarly,
the Institute of Management Accountants (IMA)—the primary national organization of
accountants working in industry and government—has its own code of ethics, as does the
Institute of Internal Auditors—the national organization of accountants providing inter-
nal auditing services for their own organizations.

ANALYTICAL MODEL FOR ETHICAL DECISIONS Ethical codes are informative and
helpful, but the motivation to behave ethically must come from within oneself and not just
from the fear of penalties for violating professional codes. Presented below is a sequence of
steps that provide a framework for analyzing ethical issues. These steps can help you apply
your own sense of right and wrong to ethical dilemmas:?

Step 1. Determine the facts of the situation. This involves determining the who, what,
where, when, and how.

Step 2. Identify the ethical issue and the stakeholders. Stakeholders may include
shareholders, creditors, management, employees, and the community.

»Mark W. Nelson, John A. Elliott, and Robin L. Tarpley, “Evidence From Auditors About Manager’ and Auditors Earnings Management
Decisions,” The Accounting Review 77 (2002), pp. 175-202.

*Adapted from Harold Q. Langenderfer and Joanne W. Rockness, “Integrating Ethics into the Accounting Curriculum: Issues, Problems,
and Solutions,” Issues in Accounting Education (Spring 1989). These steps are consistent with those provided by the American Account-
ing Association’s Advisory Committee on Professionalism and Ethics in their publication Ethics in the Accounting Curriculum: Cases
and Readings, 1990.

Ethics deals with the
ability to distinguish right
from wrong.
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. N
Dilemma -2

You recently have been employed by a large retail chain that sells sporting goods. One

of your tasks is to help prepare periodic financial statements for external distribution. The
chain’s largest creditor, National Savings & Loan, requires quarterly financial statements, and
you are currently working on the statements for the three-month period ending June 30,
2021.

During the months of May and June, the company spent $1,200,000 on a hefty radio and
TV advertising campaign. The $1,200,000 included the costs of producing the commercials
as well as the radio and TV time purchased to air the commercials. All of the costs were
charged to advertising expense. The company’s chief financial officer (CFO) has asked you
to prepare a June 30 adjusting entry to remove the costs from advertising expense and to
set up an asset called prepaid advertising that will be expensed in July. The CFO explained
that “This advertising campaign has led to significant sales in May and June and | think it
will continue to bring in customers through the month of July. By recording the ad costs as
an asset, we can match the cost of the advertising with the additional July sales. Besides, if
we expense the advertising in May and June, we will show an operating loss on our income
statement for the quarter. The bank requires that we continue to show quarterly profits in
order to maintain our loan in good standing.”

Step 3. Identify the values related to the situation. For example, in some situations
confidentiality may be an important value that might conflict with the right to
know.

Step 4.  Specify the alternative courses of action.

Step 5. Evaluate the courses of action specified in step 4 in terms of their consistency
with the values identified in step 3. This step may or may not lead
to a suggested course of action.

Step 6. Identify the consequences of each possible course of action. If step 5 does not
provide a course of action, assess the consequences of each possible course of
action for all of the stakeholders involved.

Step 7. Make your decision and take any indicated action.

Ethical dilemmas are presented throughout this book. The analytical steps outlined above
provide a framework you can use to evaluate these situations.

The Conceptual Framework

Sturdy buildings are built on sound foundations. The U.S. Constitution is the foundation for
the laws of our land. The conceptual framework has been described as an “Accounting
Constitution” because it provides the underlying foundation for U.S. accounting standards.
The conceptual framework provides structure and direction to financial accounting and
reporting but does not directly prescribe GAAP. It is a coherent system of interrelated objec-
tives and fundamentals that is intended to lead to consistent standards and that prescribes
the nature, function, and limits of financial accounting and reporting. The fundamentals
are the underlying concepts of accounting that guide the selection of events to be accounted
for, the measurement of those events, and the means of summarizing and communicating
them to interested parties.?’

The FASB disseminates this framework through Statements of Financial Accounting
Concepts (SFACs). SFAC 8 discusses the objective of financial reporting and the qualitative
characteristics of useful financial information. SFAC 7 describes how cash flows and present
values are used when making accounting measurements, SFAC 6 defines the accounts and

2“Conceptual Framework for Financial Accounting and Reporting: Elements of Financial Statements and Their Measurement,”
Discussion Memorandum (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1976), p. 2.
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accrual accounting concepts that appear in financial statements, and SFAC 5 discusses rec-
ognition and measurement concepts. Earlier SFACs either have been superseded or involve
nonbusiness organizations that aren’t considered in this book.

In the remainder of this section we discuss the components of the conceptual framework,
as depicted in Illustration 1-10.

nternational Financial Reporting Standards

Role of the conceptual framework. The conceptual frameworks in U.S. GAAP and IFRS
are very similar and are converging even more with ongoing efforts by the FASB and IASB.
However, in U.S. GAAP, the conceptual framework primarily provides guidance to standard
setters to help them develop high-quality standards. In IFRS, the conceptual framework
guides standard setting, but in addition it provides a basis for practitioners to make
accounting judgments when another IFRS standard does not apply. Also, IFRS emphasizes
the overarching concept of the financial statements providing a “fair presentation” of the
company. U.S. GAAP does not include a similar requirement, but U.S. auditing standards
require this consideration.

® LO1-1

19



20 SECTION 1

® LO1-7

Decision usefulness
requires that information
possess the qualities of
relevance and faithful
representation.

lustration 1-11

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

Objective of Financial Reporting

As indicated in Part A of this chapter, the objective of general purpose financial reporting
is to provide financial information about companies that is useful to capital providers in
making decisions. For example, investors decide whether to buy, sell, or hold equity or debt
securities, and creditors decide whether to provide or settle loans. Information that is useful
to capital providers may also be useful to other users of financial reporting information,
such as regulators or taxing authorities.

Investors and creditors are interested in the amount, timing, and uncertainty of a com-
pany’s future cash flows. Information about a company’s economic resources (assets)
and claims against resources (liabilities) also is useful. Not only does this information
about resources and claims provide insight into future cash flows, it also helps decision
makers identify the company’s financial strengths and weaknesses and assess liquidity
and solvency.

Qualitative Characteristics of Financial
Reporting Information

What characteristics should information have to best meet the objective of financial report-
ing? IMustration 1-11 indicates the desirable qualitative characteristics of financial reporting
information, presented in the form of a hierarchy of their perceived importance. Notice that
these characteristics are intended to enhance the decision usefulness of information.

Fundamental Qualitative Characteristics

For financial information to be useful, it should possess the fundamental decision-specific
qualities of relevance and faithful representation. Both are critical. Information is of
little value if it’s not relevant. And even if information is relevant, it is not as useful if
it doesn’t faithfully represent the economic phenomenon it purports to represent. Let’s
look closer at each of these two qualitative characteristics, including the components that
make those characteristics desirable. We also consider other characteristics that enhance
usefulness.

Hierarchy of Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information

QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS

1
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RELEVANCE Obviously, to make a difference in the decision process, information must
be relevant to the decision. Relevance in the context of financial reporting means that infor-
mation must possess predictive value and/or confirmatory value, typically both. For
example, current-period net income has predictive value if it helps users predict a compa-
ny’s future cash flows, and it has confirmatory value if it helps investors confirm or change
their prior assessments regarding a company’s cash-flow generating ability. Predictive and
confirmatory value are central to the concept of “earnings quality,” the ability of reported
earnings (income) to predict a company’s future earnings.

Financial information is material if it is probable that including or correcting the
information would affect a user’s judgment decisions. Materiality is an aspect of
relevance that depends on a company’s particular situation and is based on the nature or
magnitude of the item that is being reported. Recall that Apple Inc.’s audit report
discussed earlier only expressed an opinion about material items. If information is
immaterial, it’s not relevant.

The threshold for materiality often depends on the relative dollar amount of the transac-
tion. For example, $10,000 in total anticipated bad debts for a multibillion dollar company
would not be considered material. This same $10,000 amount, however, might easily be
material for a neighborhood pizza parlor. Because of the context-specific nature of materi-
ality, the FASB has been reluctant to establish any quantitative materiality guidelines. The
threshold for materiality has been left to the subjective judgment of the company preparing
the financial statements and its auditors.

Materiality often relates to the nature of the item as well. It has to be evaluated in light of
surrounding circumstances, and it depends on qualitative as well as quantitative consider-
ations. For example, an illegal payment of a $10,000 bribe to an official of a foreign govern-
ment to secure a valuable contract probably would be considered material qualitatively even
if the amount is small relative to the size of the company. Similarly, a small dollar amount
that changes a net loss to a net income for the reporting period could be viewed as material
to financial statement users for qualitative reasons.

FAITHFUL REPRESENTATION Faithful representation exists when there is agreement
between a measure or description and the phenomenon it purports to represent. For exam-
ple, the term inventory in the balance sheet of a retail company is understood by external
users to represent items that are intended for sale in the ordinary course of business. If
inventory includes, say, accounts receivable, it lacks faithful representation.

To break it down further, faithful representation requires that information be complete,
neutral, and free from error. A depiction of an economic phenomenon is complete if it
includes all the information necessary for faithful representation of the economic phenome-
non that it purports to represent. Omitting a portion of that information can cause it to be
false or misleading.

A financial accounting standard, and the standard-setting process, is neutral if it is free
from bias. You learned earlier that changes in accounting standards can lead to adverse eco-
nomic consequences for certain companies and that political pressure is sometimes brought
to bear on the standard-setting process in hopes of achieving particular outcomes. Account-
ing standards should be established with the goal of providing high-quality information, and
should not try to achieve particular social outcomes or favor particular groups or companies.
The FASB faces a difficult task in maintaining neutrality in the face of economic conse-
quences and resulting political pressures.
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Representational faithfulness also is enhanced if information is free from error, mean-
ing that there are no errors or omissions in the description of the amount or the process used
to report the amount. Uncertainty is a fact of life when we measure many items of financial
information included in financial statements. Estimates are common, and some inaccuracy
is likely. An estimate is represented faithfully if it is described clearly and accurately as
being an estimate, and financial statement users are given enough information to understand
the potential for inaccuracy that exists.

Many accountants have recommended that we deal with the potential for error by employ-
ing conservatism. Conservatism means that accountants require greater verification before
recognizing good news than bad news. The result is that losses are reflected in net income
more quickly than are gains, and net assets tend to be biased downwards.

SFAC 8 explicitly rejects conservatism as a desirable characteristic of accounting infor-
mation, stating that conservatism undermines representational faithfulness by being incon-
sistent with neutrality. Nevertheless, some accounting practices appear to be generated by
a desire to be conservative. For example, companies are required to recognize losses for
declines in the value of inventory, buildings, and equipment, but aren’t allowed to recognize
gains for increases in those values. One justification for these practices is that investors and
creditors who lose money on their investments are less likely to sue the company if bad
news has been exaggerated and good news underestimated. Another justification is that con-
servative accounting can trigger debt covenants that allow creditors to protect themselves
from bad management. So, despite the lack of support for conservatism in the conceptual
framework, it is likely to persist as an important consideration in accounting practice and in
the application of some accounting standards.

Enhancing Qualitative Characteristics

[lustration 1-11 identifies four enhancing qualitative characteristics: comparability (includ-
ing consistency), verifiability, timeliness, and understandability.

Comparability helps users see similarities and differences between events and condi-
tions. We already have discussed the importance of investors and creditors being able to
compare information among companies to make their resource allocation decisions. Closely
related to comparability is the notion that consistency of accounting practices over time
permits valid comparisons among different reporting periods. The predictive and confirma-
tory value of information is enhanced if users can compare the performance of a company
over time.” Companies typically include as Note 1 to the financial statements a summary of
significant accounting policies and provide full disclosure of any changes in those policies
to alert users to the potential for diminished consistency.

Verifiability implies that different knowledgeable and independent measurers would
reach consensus regarding whether information is a faithful representation of what it is
intended to depict. Direct verification involves observing the item being depicted. For
example, the historical cost of a parcel of land to be reported in a company’s balance sheet
usually is highly verifiable. The cost can be traced to an exchange transaction, the purchase
of the land. On the other hand, the fair value of that land is much more difficult to verify.
Appraisers could differ in their assessment of fair value. Verification of their estimates
would be indirect, involving examination of their valuation models and assessments of the
reasonableness of model inputs. The term objectivity often is linked to verifiability. The
historical cost of the land is objective and easy to verify, but the land’s fair value is subjec-
tive, and may be influenced by the measurer’s past experience and biases. A measurement
that is subjective is more difficult to verify, which may make users doubt its representational
faithfulness.

Timeliness also is important for information to be useful. Information is timely when it’s
available to users early enough to allow them to use it in their decision process. To enhance

*Companies occasionally do change their accounting practices, which makes it difficult for users to make comparisons among different
reporting periods. Chapter 4 and Chapter 20 describe the disclosures that a company makes in this situation to restore consistency among
periods.
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timeliness, the SEC requires its registrants to submit financial statement information on a
quarterly as well as on an annual basis for each fiscal year.

Understandability means that users must be able to comprehend the information within
the context of the decision being made. This is a user-specific quality because users will
differ in their ability to comprehend any set of information. The overriding objective of
financial reporting is to provide comprehensible information to those who have a reason-
able understanding of business and economic activities and are diligent in studying the
information.

Key Constraint: Cost Effectiveness

Most of us learn early in life that we can’t get everything we want. The latest electronic gadget
may have all the qualitative characteristics that current technology can provide, but limited
resources may lead us to buy a model with fewer bells and whistles. Cost effectiveness
constrains the accounting choices we make. The benefits of endowing financial information
with all the qualitative characteristics we’ve discussed must exceed the costs of doing so.

The costs of providing financial information include those of gathering, processing, and
disseminating information. There also are costs to users when interpreting information. In
addition, costs include possible adverse economic consequences of implementing account-
ing standards. For example, consider the requirement that companies having more than one
operating segment must disclose certain disaggregated financial information.?’ In addition to
the costs of information gathering, processing, and communicating that information, many
companies feel that this reporting requirement imposes what could be called competitive
disadvantage costs. These companies are concerned that their competitors will gain some
advantage from having access to the disaggregated data.

The perceived benefit from this or any accounting standard is increased decision useful-
ness of the information provided, which, ideally, improves the resource allocation process.
It is inherently impossible to quantify this benefit. The elaborate information-gathering pro-
cess undertaken by the FASB in setting accounting standards is an attempt to assess both
costs and benefits of a proposed accounting standard, even if in a subjective, nonquantifi-
able manner.

Elements of Financial Statements

SFAC 6 defines 10 elements of financial statements. These elements are “the building
blocks with which financial statements are constructed—the classes of items that financial
statements comprise.”*® They focus directly on items related to reporting financial position
and measuring performance. The accrual accounting model is embodied in the element
definitions. For now, we list and define the elements in Illustration 1-12. You will learn
much more about these elements in subsequent chapters.

Underlying Assumptions

Though not emphasized in the FASB’s concepts statements, four basic assumptions under-
lie GAAP: (1) the economic entity assumption, (2) the going concern assumption, (3) the
periodicity assumption, and (4) the monetary unit assumption. These assumptions identify
the entity that is being reported on, the assumption that the entity will continue to exist, and
the frequency and denomination in which reports occur.

Hlustration 1-13 summarizes the four assumptions underlying GAAP.

Economic Entity Assumption

The economic entity assumption presumes that all economic events can be identified with
a particular economic entity. Investors desire information about an economic entity that

YFASB ASC 280: Segment Reporting (previously “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 131 (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, 1997)).
“Elements of Financial Statements,” Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB, 1985), par. 5.
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Information is
understandable if users
can comprehend it.

Information is cost
effective if the benefit
of increased decision
usefulness exceeds the
costs of providing that
information.

The costs of providing
financial information
include any possible
adverse economic
consequences of
accounting standards.

The 10 elements of
financial statements
defined in SFAC 6
describe financial position
and periodic performance.
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The economic entity
assumption presumes that
economic events can be
identified with a particular
economic entity.
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Mustration 1-12

Elements of Financial Statements

~

Elements of Financial Statements

Assets

Liabilities

Equity (or net assets)
Investments by owners

Distributions to owners

Comprehensive income

Revenues

Expenses

Gains
Losses

Probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity as a result of
past transactions or events.

Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obligations of a
particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as

a result of past transactions or events.

Called shareholders’ equity or stockholders’ equity for a corporation, it is the residual interest
in the assets of an entity that remains after deducting its liabilities.

Increases in equity of a particular business enterprise resulting from transfers to it from other
entities of something of value to obtain or increase ownership interests in it.

Decreases in equity of a particular enterprise resulting from transfers to owners.

The change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other
events and circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all changes in equity during a
period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners.
Inflows or other enhancements of assets of an entity or settlements of its liabilities during a
period from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or other activities that consti-
tute the entity’s ongoing major or central operations.

Outflows or other using up of assets or incurrences of liabilities during a period from deliv-
ering or producing goods, rendering services, or other activities that constitute the entity’s
ongoing major or central operations.

Increases in equity from peripheral or incidental transactions of an entity.

Represent decreases in equity arising from peripheral or incidental transactions of

an entity.

lustration 1-13

Summary of Assumptions
Underlying GAAP

Assumptions Description h

Economic entity All economic events can be identified with a particular economic entity.

Going concern In the absence of information to the contrary, it is anticipated that a
business entity will continue to operate indefinitely.

Periodicity The life of a company can be divided into artificial time periods to pro-
vide timely information to external users.

Monetary unit In the United States, financial statement elements should be measured

L in terms of the U.S. dollar.

corresponds to their ownership interest. For example, if you were considering buying some
ownership stock in Alphabet (the parent company of Google), you would want information
on the various operating units that constitute Alphabet. You would need information not
only about its United States operations but also about its European and other international
operations. The financial information for the various companies (subsidiaries) in which
Alphabet owns a controlling interest (greater than 50% ownership of voting stock) should be
combined with that of Alphabet (the parent) to provide a complete picture. The parent and
its subsidiaries are separate legal entities but one accounting entity.

Another key aspect of this assumption is the distinction between the economic activities
of owners and those of the company. For example, the economic activities of a sole propri-
etorship, Uncle Jim’s Restaurant, should be separated from the activities of its owner, Uncle
Jim. Uncle Jim’s personal residence, for instance, is not an asset of the business.

Going Concern Assumption

Another necessary assumption is that, in the absence of information to the contrary, we
anticipate that a business entity will continue to operate indefinitely. Accountants realize



CHAPTER 1 Environment and Theoretical Structure of Financial Accounting 25

that the going concern assumption does not always hold since there certainly are many
business failures. However, this assumption is critical to many broad and specific account-
ing principles. For example, the assumption provides justification for measuring many
assets based on their historical costs. If it were known that an enterprise would cease opera-
tions in the near future, assets and liabilities would be measured at their current liquidation
values. Similarly, when we depreciate a building over an estimated life of 40 years, we
assume the business will operate that long.

Periodicity Assumption

The periodicity assumption relates to the qualitative characteristic of timeliness. Exter-
nal users need periodic information to make decisions. This need for periodic information
requires that the economic life of a company (presumed to be indefinite) be divided into arti-
ficial time periods for financial reporting. Corporations whose securities are publicly traded
are required to provide financial information to the SEC on a quarterly and annual basis.*!
Financial statements often are prepared on a monthly basis for banks and others that might
need more timely information.

For many companies, the annual time period (the fiscal year) is the calendar year. How-
ever, other companies have chosen a fiscal year that does not correspond to the calendar
year. The accounting profession and the SEC advocate that companies adopt a fiscal year
that corresponds to their natural business year. A natural business year is the 12-month
period that ends when the business activities of a company reach their lowest point in the
annual cycle. For example, many retailers, such as Walmart, have adopted a fiscal year
ending around January 31. Business activity in January generally is quite slow following
the very busy Christmas period. The Campbell Soup Company’s fiscal year ends in July;
Clorox’s in June; and Monsanto’s in August.

Monetary Unit Assumption

The monetary unit assumption requires that financial statement elements be measured in
nominal units of money, without any adjustment for changes in purchasing power. In the
United States, the U.S. dollar is the monetary unit used in financial statements. In the Euro-
pean Union (EU), the euro is the monetary unit. Other countries use other currencies as their
monetary units.

One problem with use of a monetary unit like the dollar or the euro is that it is presumed
to be stable over time. That is, the value of the dollar, in terms of its ability to purchase
certain goods and services, is assumed to be constant over time. This assumption obvi-
ously does not strictly hold. The U.S. economy has experienced periods of rapidly changing
prices. To the extent that prices are unstable, and machines, trucks, and buildings were
purchased at different times, the monetary unit used to measure them is not the same. The
effect of changing prices on financial information generally is discussed elsewhere in your
accounting curriculum, often in an advanced accounting course.

Recognition, Measurement, and Disclosure Concepts

Now that we have identified the various elements and underlying assumptions of the finan-
cial statements, we discuss when the elements should be recognized (recorded) and how
they should be measured and disclosed. For example, an asset was previously defined as a
probable future economic benefit obtained or controlled by a company as a result of past
transactions or events. But when should the asset be recorded, at what amount, and what
other important information about the asset should be provided in the financial statements?
SFAC 5 addresses these issues. Recognition refers to the process of admitting information
into the financial statements. Measurement is the process of associating numerical amounts
with the elements. Disclosure refers to including pertinent information in the financial
statements and accompanying notes.

3IThe report that must be filed for the first three quarters of each fiscal year is Form 10-Q and the annual report is Form 10-K.

The going concern
assumption presumes that
a business will operate
indefinitely.

The periodicity
assumption allows the
life of a company to be
divided into artificial time
periods to provide timely
information.

The monetary unit
assumption states that
financial statement
elements should be
measured in a particular
monetary unit (in the
United States, the U.S.
dollar).
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Recognition criteria
determine whether items
should be included in the
financial statements.

Revenues are inflows
of assets or settlements
of liabilities as a result
of providing goods or
services to customers.

Expenses are outflows or
other using up of assets
or incurrences of liabilities
from providing goods or
services.
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Recognition

GENERAL RECOGNITION CRITERIA According to SFAC 5, an item should be recog-
nized in the basic financial statements when it meets the following four criteria, subject to a
cost effectiveness constraint and materiality threshold:

1. Definition. The item meets the definition of an element of financial statements.
2. Measurability. The item has a relevant attribute measurable with sufficient reliability.

3. Relevance. The information about it is capable of making a difference in user
decisions.

4. Reliability. The information is representationally faithful, verifiable, and neutral.*

SFAC 5 provides further guidance with respect to revenue and expense recognition, and
you will learn about more specific guidelines throughout this book.

REVENUE RECOGNITION Revenues are inflows of assets or settlements of liabilities
resulting from providing a product or service to a customer. An income statement should
report the results of these activities only for the time period specified in the financial state-
ments. Therefore, the timing of revenue recognition is a key element of earnings measure-
ment. Not adhering to revenue recognition criteria could result in overstating revenue and
hence net income in one reporting period and, consequently, understating revenue and net
income in another period.

Until recently, revenue recognition was guided by the realization principle, which
requires that two criteria be satisfied before revenue can be recognized:

1. The earnings process is judged to be complete or virtually complete.

2. There is reasonable certainty as to the collectibility of the asset to be received
(usually cash).

As discussed further in Chapter 6, ASU No. 2014-09 changed how we determine the
timing and measurement of revenue.?® That standard requires that companies recognize
revenue when goods or services are transferred to customers for the amount the company
expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue is rec-
ognized at a point in time or over a period of time, depending on when goods or services
are transferred to customers. For example, revenue for the sale of most goods is recog-
nized upon delivery, but revenue for services like renting apartments or lending money is
recognized over time as those services are provided. No revenue is recognized if it isn’t
probable that the seller will collect the amounts it’s entitled to receive. While that stan-
dard doesn’t rely on the realization principle, you can see that aspects of the realization
principle remain—we still focus on the seller fulfilling its obligations to its customers,
and before revenue can be recognized we still require a relatively high likelihood that the
seller will be paid.

Notice that these criteria help implement the accrual accounting model. Revenue is rec-
ognized when the seller transfers goods or services to a customer, which isn’t necessarily at
the same time the seller is paid by the customer.

The timing of revenue recognition also affects the timing of asset recognition. When
revenue is recognized by crediting a revenue account, the corresponding debit typically
increases some asset, usually cash or an account receivable.

EXPENSE RECOGNITION Expenses are outflows or other using up of assets or incur-
rences of liabilities from providing goods or services. When are expenses recognized? In
practice, expense recognition often matches revenues and expenses that arise from the same

32“Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements,” Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5 (Stamford, Conn.: FASB,
1984), par. 63. SFAC 8 has replaced reliability with faithful representation as the second primary qualitative characteristic of financial
information.

3“Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606),” Accounting Standards Update 201409 (Norwalk, Conn: FASB, 2014).
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transactions or other events.** There is a cause-and-effect relationship between revenue and
expense recognition implicit in this approach. The net result is a measure—net income—
that identifies the amount of profit or loss for the period provided by operations.

Although these concepts are straightforward, their implementation can be difficult,
because many expenses are not incurred directly to produce a particular amount of revenue.
Instead, the association between revenue and many expenses is indirect. Therefore, expense
recognition is implemented by one of four different approaches, depending on the nature of
the specific expense:*

« Based on an exact cause-and-effect relationship. This approach is appropriate for cost
of goods sold, as one example. There is a definite cause-and-effect relationship between
PetSmart’s revenue from selling dog food and its costs to purchase that dog food from
suppliers. Commissions paid to salespersons for obtaining revenues also is an example
of an expense recognized based on this approach.

« By associating an expense with the revenues recognized in a specific time period.
Many expenses can be related only to periods of time during which revenue is earned.
For example, the monthly salary paid to an office worker is not directly related to any
specific revenue event. Instead, the employee provides benefits to the company for that
one month that indirectly relate to the revenue recognized in that same period.

» By a systematic and rational allocation to specific time periods. Some costs are
incurred to acquire assets that provide benefits to the company for more than one report-
ing period, so we recognize expenses over those time periods. For example, straight-line
depreciation is a “systematical and rational” way to allocate the cost of equipment to the
periods in which that equipment is used to produce revenue.

o In the period incurred, without regard to related revenues. Sometimes costs are
incurred, but it is impossible to determine in which period or periods, if any, related
revenues will occur. For example, let’s say Google spends $1 million for a series of
television commercials. It’s difficult to determine when, how much, or even whether
additional revenues occur as a result of that particular series of ads. As a result, we rec-
ognize advertising expenditures as expenses in the period incurred.

The timing of expense recognition also affects the timing of asset and liability recogni-
tion and de-recognition. When we debit an expense, the corresponding credit usually either
decreases an asset (for example, decreasing cash because it was used to pay an employee’s
salary) or increases a liability (for example, increasing salaries payable to accrue wages that
will be paid at a later date).

Measurement

If an amount is to be recognized, it also must be measured. As indicated in SFAC 5, GAAP
currently employs a “mixed attribute” measurement model. If you look at a balance sheet, for
instance, you might see land measured at historical cost, inventory at net realizable value, a liability
at the present value of future cash payments, and an investment at fair value. The attribute chosen
to measure a particular item should be the one that maximizes the combination of relevance and
representational faithfulness. SFAC 5 lists five measurement attributes employed in GAAP:

1. Historical cost
2. Net realizable value
3. Current cost

*The term matching principle is sometimes used to refer to the practice of first recognizing revenue and then recognizing all expenses
that were incurred to generate that revenue. However, the conceptual framework does not include that term. Rather, SFACs 5 and 6 dis-
cuss matching as a result of recognizing expenses and revenues that arise from the same underlying transactions or events. Standard set-
ters are reluctant to apply matching more broadly, because they are concerned that doing so could result in inappropriately recognizing
as assets some amounts that do not provide “probable future economic benefits,” and therefore don’t meet the definition of an asset. We
discuss this topic more in the “Evolving GAAP” section at the end of this chapter.

3“Elements of Financial Statements—a replacement of FASB Concepts Statement No. 3 (incorporating an amendment of FASB Con-
cepts Statement No. 2),” Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6 (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, 1985).
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Historical cost bases
measurements on the
amount given or received
in the original exchange
transaction.

Net realizable value bases
measurements on the net
amount of cash into which
the asset or liability will be
converted in the ordinary
course of business.

Current cost is the cost
that would be incurred to
purchase or reproduce an
asset.

Present value bases
measurement on future
cash flows discounted for
the time value of money.

Fair value bases
measurements on the
price that would be
received to sell assets or
transfer liabilities in an

orderly market transaction.
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4. Present (or discounted) value of future cash flows
5. Fair value

These different measurement attributes often indicate the same amount, particularly
when the amount is initially recognized. However, sometimes they differ in important ways.

HISTORICAL COST We often measure assets and liabilities based on their original trans-
action value, that is, their historical cost. Some accountants refer to this practice as apply-
ing the historical cost principle. For an asset, historical cost equals the value of what is
given in exchange (usually cash) for the asset at its initial acquisition. For liabilities, it is the
current cash equivalent received in exchange for assuming the liability. Historical cost for
long-lived, revenue-producing assets such as equipment typically is adjusted subsequent to
its initial measurement by recognizing depreciation or amortization.

Why base measurement on historical costs? First, historical cost provides important cash
flow information as it represents the cash or cash equivalent paid for an asset or received
in exchange for the assumption of a liability. Second, because historical cost valuation is
the result of an exchange transaction between two independent parties, the agreed-upon
exchange value is objective and highly verifiable.

NET REALIZABLE VALUE Some assets are measured at their net realizable value, which
is defined by the FASB as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. Intuitively, net
realizable value is the net amount of cash into which an asset or liability is expected to be
converted in the ordinary course of business. For example, if inventory could be sold for
$10,000, and the company would incur additional costs of $2,000 to complete it and trans-
port it to a customer, the inventory’s net realizable value is $8,000. Departures from histor-
ical cost measurement such as this provide useful information to aid in the prediction of
future cash flows.

CURRENT COST Companies sometimes report current costs, particularly if they oper-
ate in inflationary economies. The current cost of an asset is the cost that would be incurred
to purchase or reproduce the asset.

PRESENT VALUE Because of its importance to many accounting measurements, present
value is the focus of a FASB concept statement, SFAC 7, which provides a framework for
using future cash flows as the basis for accounting measurement and also indicates that the
objective in valuing an asset or liability using present value is to approximate its fair value.*
We explore the topic of present value in depth in Chapter 5 and the application of present
value in accounting measurement in subsequent chapters.

FAIR VALUE We measure many financial assets and liabilities at fair value (called cur-
rent market value originally in SFAC 5). Also, we use fair values when determining whether
the value of nonfinancial assets like property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets has
been impaired. Given the complexity and growing importance of this measurement attri-
bute, we discuss it in some detail.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell assets or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
A key aspect of this definition is its focus on the perspective of market participants. For
instance, if a company buys a competitor’s patent, not intending to use it but merely to
keep the competitor from using it, the company still will have to assign a value to the asset
because a market participant would find value in using the patent.

The FASB has provided a framework for measuring fair value whenever fair value is
called for in applying generally accepted accounting principles.’”” The IASB uses the same

3%«Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements,” Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 7
(Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, 2000).

FASB ASC 820: Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (previously “Fair Value Measurements,” Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 157 (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, 2006)).
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framework.*® In the framework, three types of valuation techniques can be used to measure
fair value. Market approaches base valuation on market information. For example, the value
of a share of a company’s stock that’s not traded actively could be estimated by multiplying
the earnings of that company by the P/E (price of shares/earnings) multiples of similar com-
panies. Income approaches estimate fair value by first estimating future amounts (for exam-
ple, earnings or cash flows) and then mathematically converting those amounts to a single
present value. You will see how to apply such techniques in Chapter 5 when we discuss time
value of money concepts. Cost approaches determine value by estimating the amount that
would be required to buy or construct an asset of similar quality and condition. A firm can
use one or more of these valuation approaches, depending on availability of information,
and should try to use them consistently unless changes in circumstances require a change in
approach.

To increase consistency and comparability in applying this definition, the framework pro-
vides a “hierarchy” that prioritizes the inputs companies should use when determining fair
value. The priority is based on three broad preference levels. The higher the level (Level 1 is
the highest), the more preferable the input. The framework encourages companies to strive
to obtain the highest level input available for each situation. Illustration 1-14 describes the
type of inputs and provides an example for each level.

Companies also must provide detailed disclosures about their use of fair value measure-
ments. The disclosures include a description of the inputs used to measure fair value. For
recurring fair value measurements that rely on significant unobservable inputs (within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy), companies should disclose the effect of the measurements on
earnings (or changes in net assets) for the period.

Mustration 1-14

Fair Value Hierarchy
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Fair value can be
measured using:
1. Market approaches.
2. Income approaches.
3. Cost approaches.

Fair Value Hierarchy

Level

Inputs

Example

1
Most Desirable

3
Least Desirable

Quoted market prices in
active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

Inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable
for the asset or liability.
These inputs include quoted
prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active or inactive
markets and inputs that are
derived principally from or
corroborated by observable
related market data.

Unobservable inputs that
reflect the entity’s own
assumptions about the
assumptions market partic-
ipants would use in pricing
the asset or liability devel-
oped based on the best
information available in the
circumstances.

In Chapter 12 you will learn that certain investments in marketable
securities are reported at their fair values. Fair value in this case
would be measured using the quoted market price from the NYSE,
NASDAQ, or other exchange on which the security is traded.

In Chapter 10 we discuss how companies sometimes acquire
assets with consideration other than cash. In any noncash transac-
tion, each element of the transaction is recorded at its fair value. If
one of the assets in the exchange is a building, for instance, then
quoted market prices for similar buildings recently sold could be
used to value the building or, if there were no similar buildings
recently exchanged from which to obtain a comparable market
price, valuation could be based on the price per square foot
derived from observable market data.

Asset retirement obligations (AROs), discussed in Chapter 10, are
measured at fair value. Neither Level 1 nor Level 2 inputs would
be possible in most ARO valuation situations. Fair value would

be estimated using Level 3 inputs to include the present value of
expected cash flows estimated using the entity’s own data if there
is no information indicating that market participants would use dif-
ferent assumptions.

#“Fair Value Measurement,” International Financial Reporting Standard No. 13 (London, UK: IASCF, 2011).
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The fair value option
lets companies choose
whether to value some
financial assets and
liabilities at fair value.

The full-disclosure
principle requires that
any information useful
to decision makers be
provided in the financial
statements, subject to
the cost effectiveness
constraint.
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The use of the fair value measurement attribute is increasing, both under U.S. GAAP and
IFRS. This trend, though, is controversial. Proponents of fair value cite its relevance and are
convinced that historical cost information may not be useful for many types of decisions.
Opponents of fair value counter that estimates of fair value may lack representational faith-
fulness, particularly when based on inputs from Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, and that
managers might be tempted to exploit the unverifiability of such inputs to manipulate earn-
ings. They argue that accounting should emphasize verifiability by recognizing only those
gains and other increases in fair value that actually have been realized in transactions or are
virtually certain to exist.

FAIR VALUE OPTION Usually the measurement attribute we use for a particular finan-
cial statement item is not subject to choice. However, GAAP allows a fair value option in
some circumstances which permits companies to choose whether to report specified finan-
cial assets and liabilities at fair value.* For example, in Chapter 14 you will learn that a
company normally would report bonds payable at historical cost (adjusted for unamortized
premium or discount), but the fair value option allows that company to choose instead to
report the bonds payable at fair value. If a company chooses the fair value option, future
changes in fair value are reported as gains and losses in the income statement.

Why allow the fair value option for financial assets and liabilities and not for, say,
buildings or land? Financial assets and liabilities are cash and other assets and liabilities
that convert directly into known amounts of cash. These include investments in stocks and
bonds of other entities, notes receivable and payable, bonds payable, and derivative secu-
rities.** Some of these financial assets and liabilities currently are required under GAAP
to be reported at fair value, and others are not, leading to some potential inconsistencies in
how similar or related items are treated. The fair value option provides companies a way
to reduce volatility in reported earnings without having to comply with complex hedge
accounting standards. It also helps in the convergence with international accounting stan-
dards we discussed earlier in the chapter as the IASB also has adopted a fair value option
for financial instruments.

Disclosure

Remember, the purpose of accounting is to provide information that is useful to decision
makers. So, naturally, if there is accounting information not included in the primary finan-
cial statements that would benefit users, that information should be provided too. The
full-disclosure principle means that the financial reports should include any information
that could affect the decisions made by external users. Of course, the benefits of that infor-
mation should exceed the costs of providing the information. Such information is disclosed
in a variety of ways, including:

1. Parenthetical comments or modifying comments placed on the face of the financial
statements.

2. Disclosure notes conveying additional insights about company operations, accounting
principles, contractual agreements, and pending litigation.

3. Supplemental schedules and tables that report more detailed information than is
shown in the primary financial statements.

We discuss and illustrate disclosure requirements as they relate to specific financial state-
ment elements in later chapters as those elements are discussed.

[lustration 1-15 provides an overview of key recognition, measurement and disclosure
concepts.

¥FASB ASC 825-10-25-1: Financial Instruments—Overall—Recognition—Fair Value Option.
“0The fair value option does not apply to certain specified financial instruments, including pension obligations and assets or liabilities
arising from leases.
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Concept Description

Recognition General criteria:
1. Meets the definition of an element

2. Has a measurement attribute
3. Isrelevant
4. Is reliable (representationally faithful)
Examples of recognition timing:
1. Revenues
2. Expenses
Measurement Mixed attribute model in which the attribute used to measure an item
is chosen to maximize relevance and representational faithfulness.

These attributes include:
1. Historical cost

2. Net realizable value
3. Current cost
4. Present (or discounted) value of future cash flows
5. Fair value
Disclosure Financial reports should include all information that could affect the
decisions made by external users.

Examples of disclosures:
1. Parenthetical amounts

2. Notes to the financial statements

3. Supplemental schedules and tables

\

Where Were Headed @

“Disclosure overload” is a frequent complaint by companies and investors alike. The notes

to the financial statements can be very useful, but they are costly for companies to prepare
and difficult for many users to sift through and understand. In response to that concern, the
FASB has been developing a framework intended to make disclosures more effective and
less redundant. In August of 2018 the FASB issued an addition to Concepts Statement No. 8,
titled Chapter 8: Notes to Financial Statements, which suggests a series of questions that the
FASB and its staff should consider when determining what notes should be required by new
standards.* A separate part of the project will develop further guidance to help companies
apply judgment when meeting disclosure requirements.

Evolving GAAP

U.S. and international GAAP have been evolving over time from an emphasis on revenues
and expenses to an emphasis on assets and liabilities. Of course, you know from introduc-
tory accounting that the balance sheet and income statement are intertwined and must rec-
oncile with each other. For example, the revenues reported in the income statement depict
inflows of assets whose balances at a particular point in time are reported in the balance
sheet. But which comes first, identifying revenues and expenses, or identifying assets and
liabilities? That emphasis can affect accounting standards in important ways. To help you
understand the changes taking place, we start by discussing the revenue/expense approach
and then discuss the asset/liability approach.

#“Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting—Chapter 8, Notes to Financial Statements™ Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. 8 (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, 2018).

lustration 1-15

Summary of Recognition,
Measurement, and
Disclosure Concepts

® LO1-10
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With the revenue/expense
approach, recognition
and measurement of
revenues and expenses
are emphasized.

With the asset/liability
approach, recognition
and measurement of
assets and liabilities drives
revenue and expense
recognition.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

Under the revenue/expense approach, we emphasize principles for recognizing rev-
enues and expenses, with some assets and liabilities recognized as necessary to make the
balance sheet reconcile with the income statement. For example, when accounting for sales
revenue our focus would be on whether a good or service has been delivered, and if we
determine that to be the case, we would record an asset (usually cash or accounts receivable)
that is associated with that revenue.* We also would identify the expenses associated with
delivering those goods and services, and then would adjust assets and liabilities accordingly.

Under the asset/liability approach, on the other hand, we first recognize and measure
the assets and liabilities that exist at a balance sheet date and, secondly, recognize and mea-
sure the revenues, expenses, gains and losses needed to account for the changes in these
assets and liabilities from the previous measurement date. Proponents of this approach point
out that, since revenues and expenses are defined in terms of inflows and outflows of assets
and liabilities, the fundamental concepts underlying accounting are assets and liabilities.
Therefore, we should try to recognize and measure assets and liabilities appropriately, and
as a result will also capture their inflows and outflows in a manner that provides relevant
and representationally faithful information about revenues and expenses.

For example, when accounting for a sales transaction, our focus would be on whether a
potential accounts receivable meets the definition of an asset (a probable future economic
benefit). We would consider such factors as whether the receivable is supported by an
enforceable contract and whether the seller has performed its obligations enough to be able
to expect receipt of cash flows. The key would be determining if the seller has an asset and
then recognizing whatever amount of revenue is implied by the inflow of that asset. Also,
we would not attempt to match expenses to revenues. Rather, we would determine those
net assets that had decreased as part of operations during the period, and recognize those
decreases as expenses.

In subsequent chapters you will see that recent standards involving accounting for reve-
nue, investments, and income taxes follow this asset/liability approach. These changes are
controversial. It may seem like it shouldn’t matter whether standard setters use the revenue/
expense or asset/liability approach, given that both approaches affect both the income state-
ment and balance sheet, and it is true that these approaches often will result in the same
accounting outcomes. However, the particular approach used by a standard setter can affect
recognition and measurement in important ways. In particular, the asset/liability approach
encourages us to focus on accurately measuring assets and liabilities. It perhaps is not sur-
prising, then, that a focus on assets and liabilities has led standard setters to lean more and
more toward fair value measurement. The future changes to the conceptual framework dis-
cussed in the following Where We’re Headed box are likely to continue this emphasis on the
asset/liability approach.

here Were Headed €

Since 2010, the FASB and IASB worked separately on their conceptual frameworks. The
FASB has worked on relatively narrow projects, such as the definition of materiality and

a more general disclosure framework. The IASB, in contrast, has moved forward with a
more comprehensive overhaul of its conceptual framework. The IASB’s 2015 exposure
draft of its concepts statement addressed a range of issues, including the objective and
qualitative characteristics of financial reporting, the definitions of key financial-statement
elements, when to recognize and de-recognize assets and liabilities, when to use various
measurement approaches, the distinction between net income and other comprehensive
income, and what constitutes a reporting entity. The IASB anticipates issuing a concepts
statement sometime in 2018.

“Some assets and liabilities aren’t related to revenue or expense. For example, issuance of shares of stock increases cash as well as
shareholders’ equity. The treatment of these sorts of transactions is not affected by whether GAAP emphasizes revenues and expenses or
assets and liabilities.
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Financial Reporting Case Solution

1. What should you tell your friend about the presence of accounting standards in the
United States and the rest of the world? Who has the authority for standard setting?
Who has the responsibility? (p. 8) In the United States we have a set of standards
known as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). GAAP is a dynamic set of
both broad and specific guidelines that companies should follow when measuring and
reporting the information in their financial statements and related notes. The Securities
and Exchange Commission has the authority to set accounting standards for companies
whose securities are publicly traded but it relies on the private sector to accomplish that
task. At present, the Financial Accounting Standards Board is the private sector body
responsible for standard setting.

— o
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2. What is the economic and political environment in which standard setting occurs?
(p. 12) The setting of accounting and reporting standards often has been characterized
as a political process. Standards, particularly changes in standards, can have significant
differential effects on companies, investors and creditors, and other interest groups. A
change in an accounting standard or the introduction of a new standard can result in
a substantial redistribution of wealth within our economy. The FASB’s due process is
designed to obtain information from all interested parties to help determine the appro-
priate accounting approach, but standards are supposed to be neutral with respect to
the interests of various parties. Nonetheless, both the FASB and IASB sometimes come
under political pressure that sways the results of the standard-setting process.

3. What is the relationship among management, auditors, investors, and creditors that
tends to preclude the “What would you like it to be?” attitude? (p. 74) It is the responsi-
bility of management to apply accounting standards when communicating with investors
and creditors through financial statements. Auditors serve as independent intermediaries
to help ensure that the management-prepared statements are presented fairly in accor-
dance with GAAP. In providing this assurance, the auditor precludes the “What would
you like it to be?” attitude.

4. In general, what is the conceptual framework that underlies accounting principles,
and how does it encourage high-quality financial reporting? (p. 18) The concep-
tual framework is a coherent system of interrelated objectives and fundamentals that
improves financial reporting by encouraging consistent standards and by prescribing the
nature, function, and limits of financial accounting and reporting. The fundamentals are
the underlying concepts of accounting, concepts that guide the selection of events to
be accounted for, the measurement of those events, and the means of summarizing and
communicating them to interested parties. @

The Bottom Line

® LO1-1  Financial accounting is concerned with providing relevant financial information to various external users.
However, the primary focus is on the financial information provided by profit-oriented companies to their
present and potential investors and creditors. (p. 3)

® L01-2 Cash-basis accounting provides a measure of periodic performance called net operating cash flow, which
is the difference between cash receipts and cash disbursements from transactions related to providing
goods and services to customers. Accrual accounting provides a measure of performance called net
income, which is the difference between revenues and expenses. Periodic net income is considered a better
indicator of future operating cash flows than is current net operating cash flows. (p. 7)

® LO1-3  Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) comprise a dynamic set of both broad and specific
guidelines that companies follow when measuring and reporting the information in their financial state-
ments and related notes. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has the authority to set account-
ing standards in the United States. However, the SEC has always delegated the task to a private sector
body, at this time the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The International Accounting
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Standards Board (IASB) sets global accounting standards and works with national accounting standard
setters to achieve convergence in accounting standards around the world. (p. 8)

® LO1-4  Accounting standards can have significant differential effects on companies, investors, creditors, and other
interest groups. Various interested parties sometimes lobby standard setters for their preferred outcomes. For
this reason, the setting of accounting standards often has been characterized as a political process. (p. 12)

® L01-5 Factors encouraging high-quality financial reporting include conceptually based financial accounting
standards, external auditors, financial reporting reforms (such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), ethical man-
agement, and professional accounting organizations that prescribe ethical conduct and license practi-
tioners. (p. 14)

® LO1-6 The FASB’s conceptual framework is a set of cohesive objectives and fundamental concepts on which
financial accounting and reporting standards can be based. (p. 18)

® LO1-7 The objective of financial reporting is to provide useful financial information to capital providers. The
primary decision-specific qualities that make financial information useful are relevance and faithful rep-
resentation. To be relevant, information must possess predictive value and/or confirmatory value, and
all material information should be included. Completeness, neutrality, and freedom from error enhance
faithful representation. The 10 elements of financial statements are assets, liabilities, equity, investments
by owners, distributions to owners, revenues, expenses, gains, losses, and comprehensive income. (p. 20)

® L01-8 The four basic assumptions underlying GAAP are (1) the economic entity assumption, (2) the going con-
cern assumption, (3) the periodicity assumption, and (4) the monetary unit assumption. (p. 23)

® LO1-9 Recognition determines whether an item is reflected in the financial statements, and measurement deter-
mines the amount of the item. Measurement involves choice of a monetary unit and choice of a measure-
ment attribute. In the United States, the monetary unit is the dollar. Various measurement attributes are used
in GAAP, including historical cost, net realizable value, current cost, present value, and fair value. (p. 25)

® LO1-10 A revenue/expense approach to financial reporting emphasizes recognition and measurement of revenues
and expenses, while an asset/liability approach emphasizes recognition and measurement of assets and
liabilities. (p. 31)

® LO1-11 IFRS and U.S. GAAP are similar in the organizations that support standard setting and in the presence
of ongoing political pressures on the standard-setting process. U.S. GAAP and IFRS also have similar
conceptual frameworks, although the role of the conceptual framework in IFRS is to provide guidance to
preparers as well as to standard setters, while the role of the conceptual framework in U.S. GAAP is more
to provide guidance to standard setters. (pp. 11, /4 and 19) @

Questions For Review of Key Topics

Q1-1 What is the function and primary focus of financial accounting?

Q1-2 What is meant by the phrase efficient allocation of resources? What mechanism fosters the efficient allocation of
resources in the United States?

Q1-3 Identify two important variables to be considered when making an investment decision.
Q1-4 What must a company do in the long run to be able to provide a return to investors and creditors?
Q1-5 What is the primary objective of financial accounting?

Q1-6 Define net operating cash flows. Briefly explain why periodic net operating cash flows may not be a good
indicator of future operating cash flows.

Q1-7 What is meant by GAAP? Why should all companies follow GAAP in reporting to external users?
Q1-8 Explain the roles of the SEC and the FASB in the setting of accounting standards.
Q1-9 Explain the role of the auditor in the financial reporting process.

Q1-10  List three key provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Order your list from most important to least
important in terms of the likely long-term impact on the accounting profession and financial reporting.

Q1-1 Explain what is meant by adverse economic consequences of new or changed accounting standards.

Q1-12  Why does the FASB undertake a series of elaborate information-gathering steps before issuing a substantive
accounting standard?

Q1-13  What is the purpose of the FASB’s conceptual framework?
Q1-14  Discuss the terms relevance and faithful representation as they relate to financial accounting information.
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What are the components of relevant information? What are the components of faithful representation?
Explain what is meant by: The benefits of accounting information must exceed the costs.
What is meant by the term materiality in financial reporting?

Briefly define the financial accounting elements: (1) assets, (2) liabilities, (3) equity, (4) investments by owners,
(5) distributions to owners, (6) revenues, (7) expenses, (8) gains, (9) losses, and (10) comprehensive income.

What are the four basic assumptions underlying GAAP?

What is the going concern assumption?

Explain the periodicity assumption.

What are four key accounting practices that often are referred to as principles in current GAAP?
What are two advantages to basing the valuation of assets and liabilities on their historical cost?
Describe how revenue recognition relates to transferring goods or services.

What are the four different approaches to implementing expense recognition? Give an example of an expense
that is recognized under each approach.

In addition to the financial statement elements arrayed in the basic financial statements, what are some other
ways to disclose financial information to external users?

Briefly describe the inputs that companies should use when determining fair value. Organize your answer
according to preference levels, from highest to lowest priority.

‘What measurement attributes are commonly used in financial reporting?

Distinguish between the revenue/expense and the asset/liability approaches to setting financial reporting
standards.

What are the functions of the conceptual framework under IFRS?
What is the standard-setting body responsible for determining [IFRS? How does it obtain its funding?

In its Final Staff Report (issued in 2012), what type of convergence between U.S. GAAP and IFRS did the SEC
staff argue was not feasible? What reasons did the SEC staff give for that conclusion?

Brief Exercises
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Cash flows during the first year of operations for the Harman-Kardon Consulting Company were as follows:
Cash collected from customers, $340,000; Cash paid for rent, $40,000; Cash paid to employees for services ren-
dered during the year, $120,000; Cash paid for utilities, $50,000.

In addition, you determine that customers owed the company $60,000 at the end of the year and no bad debts
were anticipated. Also, the company owed the gas and electric company $2,000 at year-end, and the rent payment
was for a two-year period. Calculate accrual net income for the year.

For each of the following items, identify the appropriate financial statement element or elements: (1) probable
future sacrifices of economic benefits; (2) probable future economic benefits owned by the company; (3) inflows
of assets from ongoing, major activities; (4) decrease in equity from peripheral or incidental transactions.

Listed below are several statements that relate to financial accounting and reporting. Identify the accounting con-

cept that applies to each statement.

1. SiriusXM Radio Inc. files its annual and quarterly financial statements with the SEC.

2. The president of Applebee’s International, Inc., travels on the corporate jet for business purposes only and
does not use the jet for personal use.

3. Jackson Manufacturing does not recognize revenue for unshipped merchandise even though the merchandise
has been manufactured according to customer specifications.

4. Lady Jane Cosmetics depreciates the cost of equipment over their useful lives.

Identify the accounting concept that was violated in each of the following situations.

1. Astro Turf Company recognizes an expense, cost of goods sold, in the period the product is manufactured.

2. McCloud Drug Company owns a patent that it purchased three years ago for $2 million. The controller
recently revalued the patent to its approximate market value of $8 million.

3. Philips Company pays the monthly mortgage on the home of its president Larry Crosswhite and charges the
expenditure to miscellaneous expense.
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For each of the following situations, (1) indicate whether you agree or disagree with the financial reporting prac-

tice employed and (2) state the accounting concept that is applied (if you agree) or violated (if you disagree).

1. Winderl Corporation did not disclose that it was the defendant in a material lawsuit because the trial was still
in progress.

2. Alliant Semiconductor Corporation files quarterly and annual financial statements with the SEC.

3. Reliant Pharmaceutical paid rent on its office building for the next two years and charged the entire expendi-
ture to rent expense.

4. Rockville Engineering records revenue only after products have been shipped, even though customers pay
Rockville 50% of the sales price in advance.

Indicate the organization related to IFRS that performs each of the following functions:
1. Obtains funding for the IFRS standard-setting process.

2. Determines IFRS.

3. Oversees the IFRS Foundation.

4. Provides input about the standard-setting agenda.
5

. Provides implementation guidance about relatively narrow issues.

B comect

Listed below are several transactions that took place during the first two years of operations for the law firm of
Pete, Pete, and Roy.

Year 1 Year 2
Amounts billed to clients for services rendered $170,000 $220,000
Cash collected from clients 160,000 190,000
Cash disbursements
Salaries paid to employees for services rendered during the year 90,000 100,000
Utilities 30,000 40,000
Purchase of insurance policy 60,000 -0-

In addition, you learn that the firm incurred utility costs of $35,000 in year 1, that there were no liabilities at
the end of year 2, no anticipated bad debts on receivables, and that the insurance policy covers a three-year period.

1. Calculate the net operating cash flow for years 1 and 2.

2. Prepare an income statement for each year similar to Illustration 1-4 according to the accrual accounting
model.

3. Determine the amount of receivables from clients that the firm would show in its year 1 and year 2 balance
sheets prepared according to the accrual accounting model.

Listed below are several transactions that took place during the second and third years of operations for the RPG
Company.

Year 2 Year 3

Amounts billed to customers for services rendered $350,000 $450,000
Cash collected from credit customers 260,000 400,000
Cash disbursements:

Payment of rent 80,000 -0-

Salaries paid to employees for services rendered during the year 140,000 160,000

Utilities 30,000 40,000

Advertising 15,000 35,000

In addition, you learn that the company incurred advertising costs of $25,000 in year 2, owed the advertising
agency $5,000 at the end of year 1, and there were no liabilities at the end of year 3. Also, there were no antici-
pated bad debts on receivables, and the rent payment was for a two-year period, year 2 and year 3.

1. Calculate accrual net income for both years.

2. Determine the amount due the advertising agency that would be shown as a liability on RPG’s balance sheet
at the end of year 2.
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Access the FASB Accounting Standards Codification at the FASB website (www.fasb.org).

1. Identify the Codification topic number that provides guidance on fair value measurements.

2. What is the specific seven-digit Codification citation (XXX-XX-XX) that lists the disclosures required in
the notes to the financial statements for each major category of assets and liabilities measured at fair value?

Access the FASB Accounting Standards Codification at the FASB website (www.fasb.org). Determine the spe-
cific citation for each of the following items:
1. The topic number for business combinations

2. The topic number for related party disclosures

3. The specific seven-digit Codification citation (XXX-XX-XX) for the initial measurement of internal-use
software

4. The specific seven-digit Codification citation (XXX-XX-XX) for the subsequent measurement of asset
retirement obligations

5. The specific seven-digit Codification citation (XXX-XX-XX) for the recognition of stock compensation

Three groups that participate in the process of establishing GAAP are users, preparers, and auditors. These groups
are represented by various organizations. For each organization listed below, indicate which of these groups it
primarily represents.

1. Securities and Exchange Commission

2. Financial Executives International

3. American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
4. Institute of Management Accountants
5.

Association of Investment Management and Research

For each of the items listed below, identify the appropriate financial statement element or elements.
. Obligation to transfer cash or other resources as a result of a past transaction

. Dividends paid by a corporation to its shareholders

. Inflow of an asset from providing a good or service

. The financial position of a company

. Increase in equity during a period from nonowner transactions

. Increase in equity from peripheral or incidental transaction

Sale of an asset used in the operations of a business for less than the asset’s book value

. The owners’ residual interest in the assets of a company

. An item owned by the company representing probable future benefits

. Revenues plus gains less expenses and losses

. An owner’s contribution of cash to a corporation in exchange for ownership shares of stock

P
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. Outflow of an asset related to the production of revenue

Listed below are several terms and phrases associated with the FASB’s conceptual framework. Pair each item
from List A (by letter) with the item from List B that is most appropriately associated with it.

List A List B
1. Predictive value a. Decreases in equity resulting from transfers to owners.
2. Relevance b. Requires consideration of the costs and value of information.
3. Timeliness c. Important for making interfirm comparisons.
4. Distribution to owners d. Applying the same accounting practices over time.
5. Confirmatory value e. Users understand the information in the context of the decision being made.
___ 6. Understandability f. Agreement between a measure and the phenomenon it purports to represent.
7 Gain g. Information is available prior to the decision.
__ 8. Faithful representation h. Pertinent to the decision at hand.
_______ 9. Comprehensive income i. Implies consensus among different measurers.
—10. Materiality j. Information confirms expectations.
11. Comparability k. The change in equity from nonowner transactions.
12. Neutrality I. The process of admitting information into financial statements.
13. Recognition m. The absence of bias.
14. Consistency n. Increases in equity from peripheral or incidental transactions of an entity.
15. Cost effectiveness o. Information is useful in predicting the future.
16. Verifiability p. Concerns the relative size of an item and its effect on decisions.
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The conceptual framework indicates the desired fundamental and enhancing qualitative characteristics of
accounting information. Several constraints impede achieving these desired characteristics. Answer each of the
following questions related to these characteristics and constraints.

1.

Which component would allow a large company to record the purchase of a $120 printer as an expense rather
than capitalizing the printer as an asset?

. Donald Kirk, former chairman of the FASB, once noted that . . . there must be public confidence that the

standard-setting system is credible, that selection of board members is based on merit and not the influence of
special interests . . .” Which characteristic is implicit in Mr. Kirk’s statement?

. Allied Appliances, Inc., changed its revenue recognition policies. Which characteristic is jeopardized by this

change?

. National Bancorp, a publicly traded company, files quarterly and annual financial statements with the SEC.

Which characteristic is relevant to the timing of these periodic filings?

. In general, relevant information possesses which qualities?
. When there is agreement between a measure or description and the phenomenon it purports to represent,

information possesses which characteristic?

. Jeff Brown is evaluating two companies for future investment potential. Jeff’s task is made easier because

both companies use the same accounting methods when preparing their financial statements. Which charac-
teristic does the information Jeff will be using possess?

. A company should disclose information only if the perceived benefits of the disclosure exceed the costs of

providing the information. Which constraint does this statement describe?

Listed below are several terms and phrases associated with the accounting concepts. Pair each item from List A
(by letter) with the item from List B that is most appropriately associated with it.

List A List B

1. Expense recognition

2. Periodicity assumption

3. Historical cost principle

4. Materiality

5. Revenue recognition

6. Going concern assumption
7. Monetary unit assumption
8. Economic entity assumption
9. Full-disclosure principle

. The enterprise is separate from its owners and other entities.

. A common denominator is the dollar.

. The entity will continue indefinitely.

. Record expenses in the period the related revenue is recognized.
. The original transaction value upon acquisition.

. All information that could affect decisions should be reported.

. The life of an enterprise can be divided into artificial time periods.
. Criteria usually satisfied for products at point of sale.

. Concerns the relative size of an item and its effect on decisions.

. TQ .0 QN T O

Listed below are several statements that relate to financial accounting and reporting. Identify the accounting con-
cept that applies to each statement.

1.

A~ W

Jim Marley is the sole owner of Marley’s Appliances. Jim borrowed $100,000 to buy a new home to be used
as his personal residence. This liability was not recorded in the records of Marley’s Appliances.

. Apple Inc. distributes an annual report to its shareholders.
. Hewlett-Packard Corporation depreciates machinery and equipment over their useful lives.

. Crosby Company lists land on its balance sheet at $120,000, its original purchase price, even though the land

has a current fair value of $200,000.

. Honeywell International Inc. records revenue when products are delivered to customers, even though the

cash has not yet been received.

. Liquidation values are not normally reported in financial statements even though many companies do go out

of business.

. IBM Corporation, a multibillion dollar company, purchased some small tools at a cost of $800. Even though

the tools will be used for a number of years, the company recorded the purchase as an expense.

Identify the accounting concept that was violated in each of the following situations.

1.

Pastel Paint Company purchased land two years ago at a price of $250,000. Because the value of the land has
appreciated to $400,000, the company has valued the land at $400,000 in its most recent balance sheet.

2. Atwell Corporation has not prepared financial statements for external users for over three years.

3. The Klingon Company sells farm machinery. Revenue from a large order of machinery from a new buyer was

recorded the day the order was received.

. Don Smith is the sole owner of a company called Hardware City. The company recently paid a $150 utility

bill for Smith’s personal residence and recorded a $150 expense.
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5. Golden Book Company purchased a large printing machine for $1,000,000 (a material amount) and recorded
the purchase as an expense.

6. Ace Appliance Company is involved in a major lawsuit involving injuries sustained by some of its employees
in the manufacturing plant. The company is being sued for $2,000,000, a material amount, and is not insured.
The suit was not disclosed in the most recent financial statements because no settlement had been reached.

For each of the following situations, indicate whether you agree or disagree with the financial reporting practice

employed and state the accounting concept that is applied (if you agree) or violated (if you disagree).

1. Wagner Corporation adjusted the valuation of all assets and liabilities to reflect changes in the purchasing
power of the dollar.

2. Spooner Oil Company changed its method of accounting for oil and gas exploration costs from successful
efforts to full cost. No mention of the change was included in the financial statements. The change had a
material effect on Spooner’s financial statements.

3. Cypress Manufacturing Company purchased machinery having a five-year life. The cost of the machinery is
being expensed over the life of the machinery.

4. Rudeen Corporation purchased equipment for $180,000 at a liquidation sale of a competitor. Because the
equipment was worth $230,000, Rudeen valued the equipment in its subsequent balance sheet at $230,000.

5. Davis Bicycle Company received a large order for the sale of 1,000 bicycles at $100 each. The customer paid
Davis the entire amount of $100,000 on March 15. However, Davis did not record any revenue until April 17,
the date the bicycles were delivered to the customer.

6. Gigantic Corporation purchased two small calculators at a cost of $32.00. The cost of the calculators was
expensed even though they had a three-year estimated useful life.

7. Esquire Company provides financial statements to external users every three years.

For each of the following situations, state whether you agree or disagree with the financial reporting practice

employed, and briefly explain the reason for your answer.

1. The controller of the Dumars Corporation increased the carrying value of land from its original cost of $2
million to its recently appraised value of $3.5 million.

2. The president of Vosburgh Industries asked the company controller to charge miscellaneous expense for the
purchase of an automobile to be used solely for personal use.

3. At the end of its 2020 fiscal year, Dower, Inc., received an order from a customer for $45,350. The merchan-
dise will ship early in 2021. Because the sale was made to a long-time customer, the controller recorded the
sale in 2020.

4. At the beginning of its 2020 fiscal year, Rossi Imports paid $48,000 for a two-year lease on warehouse space.
Rossi recorded the expenditure as an asset to be expensed equally over the two-year period of the lease.

5. The Reliable Tire Company included a note in its financial statements that described a pending lawsuit
against the company.

6. The Hughes Corporation, a company whose securities are publicly traded, prepares monthly, quarterly,
and annual financial statements for internal use but disseminates to external users only the annual
financial statements.

Listed below are accounting concepts discussed in this chapter.
Economic entity assumption

Going concern assumption
Periodicity assumption
Monetary unit assumption
Historical cost principle
Conservatism

Expense recognition

S I B R S A

Full-disclosure principle
Cost effectiveness

©e

j- Materiality

Identify by letter the accounting concept that relates to each statement or phrase below.
1. Inflation causes a violation of this assumption.

2. Information that could affect decision making should be reported.

3. Recognizing expenses in the period they were incurred to produce revenue.
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. The basis for measurement of many assets and liabilities.

. Relates to the qualitative characteristic of timeliness.

. All economic events can be identified with a particular entity.

. The benefits of providing accounting information should exceed the cost of doing so.
. A consequence is that GAAP need not be followed in all situations.

O 00 3 O L B~

. Not a qualitative characteristic, but a practical justification for some accounting choices.

10. Assumes the entity will continue indefinitely.

E1-15 Determine the response that best completes the following statements or questions.
Multiple choice; 1. The primary objective of financial reporting is to provide information
concept a. About a firm’s management team.
statements, basic b. Useful to capital providers.
assumptions, . - . .. . . . .
principles c. Concerning the changes in financial position resulting from the income-producing efforts of the entity.
® LO1-6 through d. About a firm’s financing and investing activities.
LO1-9 2. Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts issued by the FASB

a. Represent GAAP.

b. Have been superseded by SFASS.

c. Are subject to approval of the SEC.

d. Identify the conceptual framework within which accounting standards are developed.

3. In general, revenue is recognized when
a. The sales price has been collected.
b. A purchase order has been received.
c. A good or service has been delivered to a customer.

d. A contract has been signed.

4. In depreciating the cost of an asset, accountants are most concerned with
a. Conservatism.
b. Recognizing revenue in the appropriate period.
c. Full disclosure.
d. Recognizing expense in the appropriate period.

5. The primary objective of expense recognition is to
a. Provide full disclosure.
b. Record expenses in the period that related revenues are recognized.
c. Provide timely information to decision makers.

d. Promote comparability between financial statements of different periods.

6. The separate entity assumption states that, in the absence of contrary evidence, all entities will survive
indefinitely.
a. True
b. False

Decision Makers’ Perspective

Apply your critical-thinking ability to the knowledge you’ve gained. These cases will provide you an opportunity to
develop your research, analysis, judgment, and communication skills. You will also work with other students, integrate
what you’ve learned, apply it in real-world situations, and consider its global and ethical ramifications. This practice will
broaden your knowledge and further develop your decision-making abilities.

©lmageGap/Getty Images

Judgment In 1934, Congress created the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Case 1-1

The development | Does the SEC have more authority or less authority than the FASB with respect to standard setting? Explain
of accounting the relationship between the SEC and the FASB.

SEMEREE 2. Can you think of any reasons why the SEC relies on private sector bodies to set accounting standards, rather

® LO1-3 than undertaking the task itself?
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The purpose of this case is to introduce you to the information available on the website of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) and its EDGAR database.

Access the SEC home page on the Internet. The web address is www.sec.gov. Answer the following questions:
1. Choose the subaddress “About the SEC.” What are the two basic objectives of the 1933 Securities Act?

2. Return to the SEC home page and access EDGAR. Describe the contents of the database.

The purpose of this case is to introduce you to the information available on the website of the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB).

Access the FASB home page on the Internet. The web address is www.fasb.org. Answer the following questions:
1. The FASB has how many board members?

2. How many board members of the FASB have a background that is primarily drawn from accounting
education?

3. Describe the mission of the FASB.
4. How are topics added to the FASB’s technical agenda?

The purpose of this case is to introduce you to the information available on the website of the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Access the IASB home page on the Internet. The web address is https://www.ifrs.org/groups/international-
accounting-standards-board/. Answer the following questions.
1. The IASB has how many board members?

2. In what city is the IASB located?
3. Describe the mission of the IASB.

Some theorists contend that companies that create pollution should report the social cost of that pollution in
income statements. They argue that such companies are indirectly subsidized as the cost of pollution is borne by
society while only production costs (and perhaps minimal pollution fines) are shown in the income statement.
Thus, the product sells for less than would be necessary if all costs were included.

Assume that the FASB is considering a standard to include the social costs of pollution in the income statement.
The process would require considering both relevance and faithful representation of the information produced by
the new standard. Your instructor will divide the class into two to six groups depending on the size of the class. The
mission of your group is to explain how the concepts of relevance and faithful representation relate to this issue.

Each group member should consider the question independently and draft a tentative answer prior to the class
session for which the case is assigned.
In class, each group will meet for 10 to 15 minutes in different areas of the classroom. During that meeting,
group members will take turns sharing their suggestions for the purpose of arriving at a single group treatment.
After the allotted time, a spokesperson for each group (selected during the group meetings) will share the
group’s solution with the class. The goal of the class is to incorporate the views of each group into a consensus
answer to the question.

One of your friends is a financial analyst for a major stock brokerage firm. Recently she indicated to you that she
had read an article in a weekly business magazine that alluded to the political process of establishing accounting
standards. She had always assumed that accounting standards were established by determining the approach that
conceptually best reflected the economics of a transaction.

Write a one to two-page article for a business journal explaining what is meant by the political process for estab-
lishing accounting standards. Be sure to include in your article a discussion of the need for the FASB to balance
accounting considerations and economic consequences.

Auditors often earn considerable fees from a company for examining (auditing) its financial statements. In addi-
tion, it’s not uncommon for auditors to earn additional fees from the company by providing consulting, tax, and
other advisory services.

1. Which party has primary responsibility—auditors or company executives—for properly applying accounting
standards when communicating with investors and creditors through financial statements?

2. Are auditors considered employees of the company?
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3. Does the fact that clients compensate auditors for providing audits and other consulting services have the
potential to jeopardize an auditor’s independence?

4. What pressures on a typical audit engagement might affect an auditor’s independence?

A friend asks you about whether GAAP requires companies to disclose forecasts of financial variables to external
users. She thinks that information could be very useful to investors.

1. What are the two primary qualitative characteristics of accounting information?

2. Does GAAP routinely require companies to disclose forecasts of financial variables to external users?
Indicate yes or no and explain how your answer relates to the qualitative characteristics of accounting
information.

Assume that the FASB is considering revising an important accounting standard.

1. What constraint applies to the FASB’s consideration of whether to require companies to provide new
information?

2. In what Concepts Statement is that constraint discussed?
3. What are some of the possible costs that could result from a revision of an accounting standard?

4. What does the FASB do in order to assess possible benefits and costs of a proposed revision of an accounting
standard?

A new client, the Wolf Company, asks your advice concerning the point in time that the company should recog-
nize revenue from the rental of its office buildings under generally accepted accounting principles. Renters usually
pay rent on a quarterly basis at the beginning of the quarter. The owners contend that the critical event that moti-
vates revenue recognition should be the date the cash is received from renters. After all, the money is in hand and
is very seldom returned.

Do you agree or disagree with the position of the owners of Wolf Company? State whether you agree or disagree,
and support your answer by relating it to accrual accounting under GAAP.

Access the financial statements for the year ended January 28, 2017, for Gap Inc. by downloading them from
www.gapinc.com, and use them to answer the following questions.

1. What amounts did Gap Inc. report for the following items for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2017?
a. Total net revenues
b. Total operating expenses
c. Net income (earnings)
d. Total assets
e. Total stockholders’ equity
2. How many shares of common stock had been issued by Gap Inc. as of January 28, 2017?

3. Does Gap Inc. report more than one year of data in its financial statements? Explain why or why not.

Consider the question of whether the United States should converge accounting standards with IFRS.

1. Make a list of arguments that favor convergence.
2. Make a list of arguments that favor nonconvergence.

3. Indicate your own conclusion regarding whether the United States should converge with IFRS, and indicate
the primary considerations that determined your conclusion.

Data Analytics

The phrase scientia est potentia is a Latin aphorism meaning “knowledge is power!” In a business sense, this
might be paraphrased as “Information is money!” Better information . . . better business decisions! This is the
keystone of data analytics.

Data analytics is the process of examining data sets in order to draw conclusions about the information they
contain. Data analytics is widely used in business to enable organizations to make better-informed business deci-
sions. Increasingly, this is accomplished with the aid of specialized data visualization software such as Tableau.
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In each chapter of this textbook, you will have the opportunity to experience the power and efficacy of data ana-
lytics in the context of that chapter’s topics, using Tableau as a tool.

To prepare for this case—and those in subsequent chapters—using Tableau, you will need to download Tab-
leau to your computer. Tableau provides free instructor and student licenses as well as free videos and support for
utilizing and learning the software. You will receive further information on setting up Tableau from your instruc-
tor. Once you are set up with Tableau, watch the three “Getting Started” Tableau videos. Future cases will build
off what you learn in these videos, and additional videos will be suggested. All short training videos can be found
at www.tableau.com/learn/training#getting-started.

This case introduces you to data analysis in a very basic way by allowing you to quickly extract, visualize, and
compare financial data over a span of ten years for two (hypothetical) publicly traded companies: Discount Goods
and Big Store. For this case, assume you are an analyst conducting introductory research into the relative merits
of investing in these companies. For this initial look, you want to visualize the pattern of net income and of net
operating cash flows over the past ten years for the two companies.

Use Tableau to create charts depicting (a) the trend of net income and (b) the trend of net operating cash flows over

the period 2012-2021 for each of the two companies. Based upon what you find, answer the following questions:

1. One of the companies reported a huge loss on its income statement related to a foreign expatriation of proper-
ties in one of the years. Which company, which year, and what was the amount of net income or net loss that
resulted for that year?

2. What was the amount of net operating cash flow in the year of the loss for the company reporting the loss?

3. Which company reported the largest percentage change in net operating cash flows between 2012 and 2021,
and what was the percentage change for that company (rounded to nearest whole percentage point)?

4. Which company reported the largest percentage change in net income between 2012 and 2021, and what was
the percentage change for that company (rounded to nearest whole percentage point)?

Resources:

You have available to you an extensive data set that includes detailed financial data for Discount Goods and Big

Store and for 2012-2021. The data set is in the form of an Excel file available to download from Connect, or under

Student Resources within the Library tab. There are four Excel files available. The one for use in this chapter is

named “Discount_Goods_Big_StoreCasel.xIsx.” Download this file and save it to the computer on which you

will be using Tableau.
After you view the training videos, follow these steps to create the charts you’ll use for this case:

e Open Tableau and connect to the Excel spreadsheet you downloaded. You should see the data in the “canvas”
area of Tableau.

e Click on the “Sheet 1” tab at the bottom of the canvas, to the right of the Data Source at the bottom of the screen.

e Move “Account name” into the Filters shelf. In the Filter dialog box that opens, if all accounts are selected,
un-check all accounts by selecting the “None” button.

o Select only the account “Net cash flows from operating activities.” Click OK. Note: the accounts are listed
alphabetically.

e Drag “Store” and “Measure Names” into the “Columns” row at the top of the canvas.

e Drag “Measure Values” into “Rows”.

e Remove “Number of Records” from “Measure Values” by clicking the pull-down menu arrow from the Mea-
sures Values dimension. Select “Edit Filter”, unselect “Number of Records”, and click “OK.”

e On the “Show Me” menu in the upper right corner of the toolbar, select the side-by-side bars if they do not
already appear in that chart format. Add labels to the bars by clicking on “Label” in the “Marks” card and click-
ing the box “Show mark label.” In the same box, format the labels to Times New Roman, bold, black, 10-point
by selecting those options using “Font”.

e Change the title of the sheet to be “Operating Cash Flows: Discount Goods vs. Big Store” by right-clicking
“Sheet 1" and selecting “Edit Title.” Format the store names to Times New Roman, bold, black, and 15-point
font. (We’ll create the Net income/(loss) sheet next.)

o Change the colors of the bars by dragging “Measure Names” onto “Color” in the “Marks” card.

o Format the years by right-clicking on one year, selecting format in the Format Measures Name window (on the
left)-Default Font dropdown box, select Times New Roman, bold, black, and 10-point options.

o To save time completing the next page, right-click the “Sheet 1"’ tab at the bottom of the canvas and select “Duplicate.”

e Click on the “Sheet 2" tab. You should now see a duplicate of the “Sheet 1” canvas. Click on “Account name”
on “Filter” in the “Marks” card. When the filter dialog box opens, un-check all accounts by selecting the
“None” button. Note: The filter dialog box may open to the right of the canvas.

e Select only the account “Net income/(loss).” Change the title to “Net Income / (Loss): Discount Goods vs. Big
Store” by editing the title as instructed above.

e Once complete, save the file as “DA1_Your initials.twbx.”
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Continuing Cases
Target Case Target Corporation prepares its financial statements according to U.S. GAAP. Target’s financial statements
and disclosure notes for the year ended February 3, 2018, are available in Connect. This material also is available
® LO1-9 under the Investor Relations link at the company’s website (www.target.com).
Required:

1. What amounts did Target report for the following items for the year ended February 3, 2018?
a. Total revenues
b. Income from current operations
c. Net income or net loss
d. Total assets
e. Total equity
2. What was Target’s basic earnings per share for the year ended February 3, 2018?
What is Target’s fiscal year-end? Why do you think Target chose that year-end?

o

. Regarding Target’s audit report:
a. Who is Target’s auditor?
b. Did Target receive a “clean” (unmodified) audit opinion?

Air France-KLM Air France-KLM (AF), a Franco-Dutch company, prepares its financial statements according to International

Case Financial Reporting Standards. AF’s financial statements and disclosure notes for the year ended December 31,
2017, are available in Connect. This material is also available under the Finance link at the company’s website
® LO1-1 (www.airfranceklm.com).
g'! IFRS Required:

1. What amounts did AF report for the following items for the year ended December 31, 2017?
a. Total revenues
b. Income from current operations
c. Net income or net loss (AF equity holders)
d. Total assets
e. Total equity
. W

2. What was AF’s basic earnings or loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2017?

CPA Exam Questions and Simulations

' ROGER Sample CPA Exam questions from Roger CPA Review are available in Connect as support for the topics in

B\ CPAReview this chapter. These multiple-choice questions and task-based simulations include expert-written explanations and
solutions, and provide a starting point for students to become familiar with the content and functionality of the
actual CPA Exam.






CHAPTER

f

Review of the
Accounting Process

OVERVIEW A Chapter 1 explained that the primary means of conveying financial information
to investors, creditors, and other external users is through financial statements
and related notes. The purpose of this chapter is to review the fundamen-
tal accounting process used to produce the financial statements. This review
establishes a framework for the study of the concepts covered in intermediate
accounting.

Actual accounting systems differ significantly from company to company.
This chapter focuses on the many features that tend to be common to any

accounting system.

LEARNING —‘— After studying this chapter, you should be able to:

OBJECTIVES ® LO2-1 Understand routine economic events—transactions—and determine their effects
on a company’s financial position and on specific accounts. (p. 48)

® LO2-2 Describe the steps in the accounting processing cycle. (p. 57)

® LO2-3 Analyze and record transactions using journal entries. (p. 55)

® LO2-4 Post the effects of journal entries to general ledger accounts and prepare an
unadjusted trial balance. (p. 60)

® LO2-5 |dentify and describe the different types of adjusting journal entries. (p. 63)

® LO2-6 Record adjusting journal entries in general journal format, post entries, and
prepare an adjusted trial balance. (p. 64)

® LO2-7 Describe the four basic financial statements. (p. 72)

® LO2-8 Explain the closing process. (p. 76)

® LO2-9 Convert from cash-basis net income to accrual-basis net income. (p. 80)
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FINANCIAL REPORTING CASE

Engineering Profits

After graduating from college last year, two of your engineering-
major friends started an Internet consulting practice. They
began operations on July 1 and felt they did quite well during
their first year. Now they would like to borrow $20,000 from a
local bank to buy new computing equipment and office furniture.
To support their loan application, the friends presented the
bank with the following income statement for their first year of
operations ending June 30:

©goodluz/123RF

Consulting revenue $96,000
Operating expenses:

Salaries $32,000

Rent 9,000

Supplies 4,800

Utilities 3,000

Advertising 1,200 (50,000)
Net income $ 46,000

The bank officer noticed that there was no depreciation expense in the income statement and has asked your friends to revise the
statement after making year-end adjustments. After agreeing to help, you discover the following information:
a. The friends paid $80,000 for equipment when they began operations. They think the equipment will be useful for five years.
b. They pay $500 a month to rent office space. In January, they paid a full year’s rent in advance. This is included in the $9,000 rent
expense.

c. Included in consulting revenue is $13,000 they received from a customer in June as a deposit for work to be performed in August.

v

By the time you finish this chapter, you should be able to respond appropriately to the QUESTIONS
questions posed in this case. Compare your response to the solution provided at the end
of the chapter.

1. What purpose do adjusting entries serve? (p. 64)

2. What year-end adjustments are needed to revise the income statement? Did your friends
do as well their first year as they thought? (p. 64)

A solid foundation is vital to a sound understanding of intermediate accounting. So, we
review the fundamental accounting process here to serve as a framework for the new con-
cepts you will learn in this course.

Chapter 1 introduced the theoretical structure of financial accounting and the environ-
ment within which it operates. The primary function of financial accounting—to provide
financial information to external users that possesses the fundamental decision-specific
qualities of relevance and faithful representation—is accomplished by periodically dissem-
inating financial statements and related notes. In this chapter we review the process used
to identify, analyze, record, summarize, and then report the economic events affecting a
company’s financial position.

a7
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Computers are used

to process accounting
information. In this chapter
we provide an overview

of the basic model that
underlies computer
software programs.

® LO2-1

Economic events cause
changes in the financial
position of the company.

External events involve
an exchange between
the company and another
entity.

Internal events do not
involve an exchange
transaction but do affect
the company’s financial
position.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

Keep in mind as you study this chapter that the accounting information systems businesses
actually use are quite different from company to company. Larger companies generally use
more complex systems than smaller companies use. The types of economic events affecting
companies also cause differences in systems. We focus on the many features that tend to be
common to all accounting systems.

It’s important to understand that this chapter and its appendices are not intended to
describe actual accounting systems. In most business enterprises, the sheer volume of data
that must be processed precludes a manual accounting system. Fortunately, the computer
provides a solution. We describe and illustrate a manual accounting information system
to provide an overview of the basic model that underlies the computer software programs
actually used to process accounting information.

Electronic data processing is fast, accurate, and affordable. Many large and medium-
sized companies own or rent their own mainframe computers and company-specific data
processing systems. Smaller companies can take advantage of technology with relatively
inexpensive desktop and laptop computers and generalized data software packages such
as QuickBooks and Peachtree Accounting Software. Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)
systems are now being installed in companies of all sizes. The objective of ERP is to
create a customized software program that integrates all departments and functions across
a company onto a single computer system that can serve the information needs of those
different departments, including the accounting department.

The Basic Model

The first objective of any accounting system is to identify the economic events that can be
expressed in financial terms by the system.! An economic event for accounting purposes is
any event that directly affects the financial position of the company. Recall from Chapter 1
that financial position comprises assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity. Broad and specific
accounting principles determine which events should be recorded, when the events should
be recorded, and the dollar amount at which they should be measured.

Economic events can be classified as either external events or internal events. External
events involve an exchange between the company and a separate economic entity. Exam-
ples are transactions involving purchasing merchandise inventory for cash, borrowing cash
from a bank, and paying salaries to employees. In each instance, the company receives
something (merchandise, cash, and services) in exchange for something else (cash, assump-
tion of a liability, or both).

On the other hand, internal events directly affect the financial position of the company
but don’t involve an exchange transaction with another entity. Examples are the deprecia-
tion of equipment and the use of supplies. As we will see later in the chapter, these events
must be recorded to properly reflect a company’s financial position and results of operations
in accordance with the accrual accounting model.

The Accounting Equation

The accounting equation underlies the process used to capture the effect of economic
events.

Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity

This general expression portrays the equality between the total economic resources of an
entity (its assets)—shown on the left side of the equation—and the total claims against the
entity (liabilities and equity)—shown on the right side. In other words, the resources of an
enterprise are provided by creditors and owners. Look at that equation again, it’s the key to
all the discussion that follows.

'There are many economic events that affect a company indirectly and are not recorded. For example, when the Federal Reserve changes
its discount rate, it is an important economic event that can affect the company in many ways, but it is not recorded by the company.
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As discussed in Chapter 1, owners of a corporation are its shareholders, so owners’ equity ~ Owners’ equity, for
for a corporation is referred to as shareholders’ equity. Shareholders’ equity for a corpora- @ corporation called
tion arises primarily from two sources: (1) amounts invested by shareholders in the corpora- ~ Shareholders’ equity, is
tion and (2) amounts earned by the corporation (on behalf of its shareholders). These are :Iif;:'rﬁ:; :_ ’i’ns::;:tzla:r
reported as (1) paid-in capital and (2) retained earnings. Retained earnings equals net retained earnings.
income less distributions to shareholders (primarily dividends) since the inception of the
corporation. Illustration 2—1 shows the basic accounting equation for a corporation with
shareholders’ equity expanded to highlight its composition. We use the corporate format

throughout the remainder of the chapter.

A =L 4+ SE Mustration 21

Accounting Equation for a
Corporation

+ Paid-In Capital + Retained Earnings
+ Revenues — Expenses — Dividends
+ Gains — Losses

The equation also implies that each economic event affecting this equation will have a  Each event, or transaction,
dual effect because resources always must equal claims. For illustration, consider the events has a dual effect on the
(we refer to these throughout the text as transactions) in Illustration 2-2. As we analyze 2ccounting equation.
each transaction to determine its effect on the equation, we also look at its effect on specific

™\ llustration 22

1. An attorney invested $50,000 to open a law office. ) )
Transaction analysis

An investment by the owner causes both assets and shareholders’ (owners’) equity

to increase.
Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
+$50,000 (cash) +$50,000 (investment by owner)

2. $40,000 was borrowed from a bank and a note payable was signed.
This transaction causes assets and liabilities to increase. A bank loan increases cash and
creates an obligation to repay it.
Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
+%$40,000 (cash) +%$40,000 (note payable)
3. Supplies costing $3,000 were purchased on account.
Buying supplies on credit also increases both assets and liabilities.
Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
+$3,000 (supplies) +$3,000 (accounts payable)
Transactions 4, 5, and 6 are revenue and expense transactions. Revenues and expenses
(and gains and losses) are events that cause shareholders’ equity to change. Revenues and
gains describe inflows of assets, causing shareholders’ equity to increase. Expenses and losses
describe outflows of assets (or increases in liabilities), causing shareholders’ equity to decrease.
4. Services were performed on account for $10,000.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
+$10,000 (accounts +$10,000 (revenue)
receivable)

5. Salaries of $5,000 were paid to employees.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

—$5,000 (cash) —$5,000 (expense)
6. $500 of supplies were used.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

—$500 (supplies) —$500 (expense)

7. $1,000 was paid on account to the supplies vendor.
This transaction causes assets and liabilities to decrease.
Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
—$1,000 (cash) —$1,000 (accounts payable)
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The double-entry system
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collection of storage areas,
called accounts, used to
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in financial position
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side of an account and
credit means right side of
an account.

Asset increases are
entered on the debit side
of accounts and decreases
are entered on the credit
side. Liability and equity
account increases are
credits and decreases are
debits.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

financial elements, which we call accounts, that will be classified and reported to decision
makers. To visualize these effects, we show the transactions in a columnar fashion within
the equation layout.

Now let’s see how these accounts are related.

Account Relationships

All transactions could be recorded in columnar fashion as increases or decreases to elements
of the accounting equation. However, even for a very small company with few transactions,
this would become cumbersome. So, most companies use a process called the double-entry
system. The term double-entry refers to the dual effect that each transaction has on the
accounting equation.

Elements of the accounting equation are represented by accounts which are contained
in a general ledger. Increases and decreases in each element of a company’s financial
position are recorded in these accounts allowing us to keep track of their balances. A sep-
arate account is maintained for individual assets and liabilities, retained earnings, and
paid-in capital. Also, to accumulate information needed for the income statement, we use
separate accounts to keep track of the changes in retained earnings caused by revenues,
expenses, gains, and losses. The number of accounts depends on the complexity of the
company’s operations.

An account includes the account title, an account number to aid the processing task,
and columns or fields for increases, decreases, the cumulative balance, and the date. For
instructional purposes we use T-accounts instead of formal ledger accounts. A T-account
has space at the top for the account title and two sides for recording increases and decreases.

Account Title

For centuries, accountants have effectively used a system of debits and credits to
increase and decrease account balances in the ledger. Debits merely represent the left side of
the account and credits the right side, as shown below.

Account Title

Debit side

Credit side

Whether a debit or a credit represents an increase or a decrease depends on the type of
account. Accounts on the left side of the accounting equation (assets) are increased (+) by
debit entries and decreased (—) by credit entries. Accounts on the right side of the account-
ing equation (liabilities and shareholders’ equity) are increased (+) by credit entries and
decreased (—) by debit entries. This arbitrary, but effective, procedure ensures that for each
transaction the net impact on the left sides of accounts always equals the net impact on the
right sides of accounts.

For example, consider the bank loan in our earlier illustration. An asset, cash, increased
by $40,000. Increases in assets are debits. Liabilities also increased by $40,000. Increases in
liabilities are credits.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
Cash Note Payable

Debit Credit Debit Credit

+ 40,000 40,000 +

The debits equal the credits in every transaction (dual effect), so both before and after a
transaction the accounting equation is in balance.

Prior exposure to the terms debit and credit probably comes from your experience
with a bank account. For example, when a bank debits your checking account for service
charges, it decreases your account balance. When you make a deposit, the bank credits
your account, increasing your account balance. You must remember that from the bank’s
perspective, your bank account balance is a liability—it represents the amount that the
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bank owes you. Therefore, when the bank debits your account, it is decreasing its liability.
When the bank credits your account, its liability increases.

[lustration 2-3 demonstrates the relationship among the accounting equation, debits and
credits, and the increases and decreases in financial position elements.

AN
Assets = Liabilities + Paid-In Capital + Retained Earnings
Debit | Credit Debit | Credit Debit | Credit Debit Credit
+ - - + - + - +
/—/%
Expenses, Losses, Revenues
and Dividends and Gains
Debit | Credit Debit | Credit
+ - - +

Notice that increases and decreases in retained earnings are recorded indirectly. For
example, an expense represents a decrease in retained earnings, which requires a debit. That
debit, however, is recorded in an appropriate expense account rather than in retained earn-
ings itself. This allows the company to maintain a separate record of expenses incurred
during an accounting period. The debit to retained earnings for the expense is recorded
in a closing entry (reviewed later) at the end of the period, only after the expense total is
reflected in the income statement. Similarly, an increase in retained earnings due to revenue
is recorded indirectly with a credit to a revenue account, which is later reflected as a credit
to retained earnings.

The general ledger accounts serve as control accounts. Subsidiary accounts associated
with a particular general ledger control account are maintained in separate subsidiary led-
gers. For example, a subsidiary ledger for accounts receivable contains individual account
receivable accounts for each of the company’s credit customers and the total of all subsid-
iary accounts would equal the amount in the control account. Subsidiary ledgers are dis-
cussed in more detail in Appendix 2C.

Each general ledger account can be classified as either permanent or temporary.
Permanent accounts represent assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity at a point in time.
Temporary accounts represent changes in the retained earnings component of shareholders’
equity for a corporation caused by revenue, expense, gain, loss, and dividend transactions. It
would be cumbersome to record each revenue/expense, gain/loss, and dividend transaction
directly into the retained earnings account. The different types of events affecting retained
earnings should be kept separate to facilitate the preparation of the financial statements. The
balances in these temporary accounts are periodically, usually once a year, closed (zeroed
out), and the net effect is recorded in the permanent retained earnings account. The temporary
accounts need to be zeroed out to measure income on an annual basis. This closing process
is discussed in a later section of this chapter.

The Accounting Processing Cycle

Now that we’ve reviewed the basics of the double-entry system, let’s look closer at the
process used to identify, analyze, record, and summarize transactions and prepare finan-
cial statements. This section deals only with external transactions, those that involve an
exchange transaction with another entity and that change financial position when the event
occurs. Internal transactions are discussed in a later section.

The 10 steps in the accounting processing cycle are listed in Illustration 2—4. Steps 14
occur during the accounting period while steps 5-8 are applied at the end of the accounting
period. Steps 9 and 10 are needed only at the end of the year.
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lustration -3

Accounting Equation,
Debits and Credits,
Increases and Decreases

Permanent accounts
represent the basic
financial position elements
of the accounting
equation.

Temporary accounts
keep track of the
changes in the retained
earnings component of
shareholders’ equity.

® LO2-2
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lustration -4

The Accounting Processing
Cycle

STEP 1

Obtain information about
transactions from source
documents.

STEP 2

Analyze the transaction.

STEP 3

Record the transaction in a
journal.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

The Steps of the Accounting Processing Cycle

Step 1  Obtain information about external transactions from
source documents.

During the
accounting Step 2 Analyze the transaction.
period Step 3  Record the transaction in a journal.
Step 4 Post from the journal to the general ledger accounts.
Step 5 Prepare an unadjusted trial balance.
At the end Step 6 Record adjusting entries and post to the general
ofthe ledger accounts.
accounting . X
period Step 7 Prepare an adjusted trial balance.
Step 8 Prepare financial statements.
At the end of Step 9 Close the temporary accounts to retained earnings.
the year Step 10 Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

Brief Overview of Accounting Processing Cycle

Now we will take a closer look at each of these steps. First, let’s see a brief overview of each
step, and then we will explore each one in more detail.

The first step in the process is to identify external transactions affecting the accounting
equation. An accountant usually does not directly witness business transactions. A mecha-
nism is needed to relay the essential information about each transaction to the accountant.
Source documents such as sales invoices, bills from suppliers, and cash register tapes serve
this need.

These source documents usually identify the date and nature of each transaction, the par-
ticipating parties, and the monetary terms. For example, a sales invoice identifies the date of
sale, the customer, the specific goods sold, the dollar amount of the sale, and the payment
terms. With this information, the second step in the processing cycle, transaction analysis,
can proceed. Transaction analysis is the process of reviewing the source documents to deter-
mine the dual effect on the accounting equation and the specific elements (which we’ll be
calling accounts) that will be used to classify the item of analysis.

Let’s revisit the seven transactions described previously in llustration 2-2 and expand
that analysis to include their effects of specific account balances represented by T-accounts.
We do this in Illustration 2-5. The item in each T-account is numbered to show the related
transaction. We don’t use dollar signs next to numbers in the accounting records (journal
entries, journals, ledgers, trial balances)—only in the actual financial statements.

The third step in the process is to record the transaction in a journal. A journal provides a
chronological record of all economic events affecting a firm. Each journal entry is expressed
in terms of equal debits and credits to accounts affected by the transaction being recorded.
Debits and credits represent increases or decreases to specific accounts, depending on the
type of account, as explained earlier. For example, for credit sales, we record a debit to
accounts receivable and a credit to sales revenue in a sales journal.

A sales journal is an example of a special journal used to record a repetitive type
of transaction. In Appendix 2C we discuss the use of special journals in more depth. In
this chapter and throughout the text, we use the general journal format to record all
transactions.

Any type of transaction can be recorded in a general journal. It has a place for the date of
the transaction, a place for account titles, account numbers, and supporting explanations, as
well as a place for debit entries, and a place for credit entries. A simplified journal entry is
used throughout the text that lists the account titles to be debited and credited and the dollar
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STEP 4

Post from the journal to the
general ledger accounts.

STEP 5

Prepare an unadjusted trial
balance.

STEP 6

Record and post adjusting
entries.

STEP 7

Prepare an adjusted trial
balance.

STEP 8

Prepare the financial
statements.

STEP 9

Close the temporary
accounts to retained
earnings.

STEP 10

Prepare a post-closing trial
balance.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

amounts. A common convention is to list the debited accounts first, indent the credited
accounts, and use the first of two columns for the debit amounts and the second column
for the credit amounts. An explanation is entered for each journal entry (for ease in this
example the explanation is located below the entry). For example, the journal entry for the
bank loan in Illustration 2—1, which requires a debit to cash and a credit to notes payable, is
recorded as follows:

40,000
NOTES PAYADIE ... 40,000

To record the borrowing of cash and the signing of a note payable.

The fourth step is to periodically transfer or post the debit and credit information from
the journal to individual ledger accounts. Recall that a ledger is simply a collection of all
of the company’s various accounts. Each account provides a summary of the effects of all
events and transactions on that individual account. Posting involves transferring debits and
credits recorded in individual journal entries to the specific accounts affected. As discussed
earlier in the chapter, most accounting systems today are computerized. For these systems,
the journal input information creates a stored journal and simultaneously posts each entry to
the ledger accounts.

The fifth step is to prepare an unadjusted trial balance. The general ledger accounts pro-
vide the information needed. A trial balance is simply a list of general ledger accounts and
their balances at a particular date. The unadjusted trial balance allows us to check for com-
pleteness, verify that the total of all debits is equal to the total of all credits, and detect some
errors that may have occurred. We call it an unadjusted trial balance because, as we discuss
later, we will prepare another trial balance after adjusting the accounts for items not yet
reflected in the balances.

The sixth step is to record adjusting entries and post those to the general ledger accounts.
Before we can prepare the financial statements, we need to bring our account balances
up-to-date. We do this using adjusting entries at the end of the period. Adjusting entries are
used to record changes in assets and liabilities (and their related revenues and expenses) that
have occurred during the period but which we have not yet recorded.

The seventh step is to prepare an adjusted trial balance. After posting the adjusting jour-
nal entries to the general ledger accounts, we prepare another trial balance, this time after all
account balances are updated by the adjusting entries.

The eigth step is to prepare the financial statements. In fact, the purpose of all the steps
up to this point is so we have the information needed to do this. These statements:

« the income statement and statement of comprehensive income,
« the balance sheet,

o the statement of cash flows, and

« the statement of shareholders’ equity

are the primary means of providing information to investors and other decision makers,
which is the purpose of accounting. The adjusted trial balance supplies the necessary infor-
mation to produce these statements.

The ninth step is to record closing entries and post those to the general ledger accounts.
Closing entries serve two purposes: (1) to transfer the balances of temporary accounts (rev-
enues, expenses, gains, losses, and dividends) to the retained earnings account, and (2) to
reduce the balances of these temporary accounts to zero to “wipe the slate clean” and ready
them for measuring activity in the next period.

The final step is to prepare a post-closing trial balance. After the temporary account
balances (revenues, expenses, and dividends) are transferred to retained earnings and the
closing entries are posted to the ledger accounts, we prepare another trial balance. This
post-closing trial balance is comprised of final balances in permanent accounts that will be
used to open (begin) the records in the next period.
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lllustration of Accounting Processing Cycle

Now that we have looked at a brief overview of the ten steps of the accounting processing
cycle, let’s take a closer look at each one. We start by illustrating the first four steps in the
processing cycle using the external transactions described in Illustration 2—6 that occurred
during the month of July 2021, the first month of operations for Dress Right Clothing
Corporation. The company operates a retail store that sells men’s and women’s clothing.
Dress Right is organized as a corporation so owners’ equity is classified by source as either
paid-in capital or retained earnings.

N
July 1 Two individuals each invested $30,000 in the corporation. Each investor
was issued 3,000 shares of common stock.

1 Borrowed $40,000 from a local bank and signed two notes. The first
note for $10,000 requires payment of principal and 10% interest in six
months. The second note for $30,000 requires the payment of principal
in two years. Interest at 10% is payable each year on July 1, 2022, and
July 1, 2023.

1 Paid $24,000 in advance for one year’s rent on the store building.
Purchased office equipment from eTronics for $12,000 cash.

3 Purchased $60,000 of clothing inventory on account from the Birdwell
Wholesale Clothing Company.

6 Purchased $2,000 of supplies for cash.

4-31 During the month, sold merchandise costing $20,000 for $35,000 cash.

9 Sold clothing on account to Briarfield School for Girls for $3,500. The
clothing cost $2,000.

16 Subleased a portion of the building to a jewelry store. Received $1,000
in advance for the first two months’ rent beginning on July 16.
20 Paid Birdwell Wholesale Clothing $25,000 on account.
20 Paid salaries to employees for the first half of the month, $5,000.
25 Received $1,500 on account from Briarfield.
\_ 30 The corporation paid its shareholders a cash dividend of $1,000.

The local bank requires that Dress Right furnish financial statements on a monthly basis.
The transactions listed in the illustration are used to demonstrate the accounting processing
cycle for the month of July, 2021.

Journal, Ledger, and Trial Balance

Now that we’ve overviewed the ten steps in the accounting processing cycle, we look closer
at the process.

STEPS 1, 2, AND 3 Obtain information about transactions from source documents.

Analyze the transaction.

Record the transaction in a journal.

For each transaction, a source document provides the necessary information to complete
steps two and three in the processing cycle: transaction analysis and recording the appropri-
ate journal entry. Each transaction described in Illustration 2—6 is analyzed below, preceded
by the necessary journal entry.

JOURNAL ENTRIES

July 1

COMMON STOCK ..ttt ettt s e s s s s anenns 60,000

lustration 26

External Transactions for
July 2021

® LO2-3

To record the issuance of
common stock.
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To record the borrowing of
cash and the signing of a
note payable.

To record the payment of
one year’s rent in advance.

To record the purchase of
office equipment.

To record the purchase of
merchandise inventory.

To record the purchase of
supplies.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

This first transaction is an investment by owners that increases an asset, cash, and also
increases shareholders’ equity. Increases in assets are recorded as debits and increases in
shareholders’ equity are recorded as credits. We use the paid-in capital account called com-
mon stock because stock was issued in exchange for cash paid in.>

July 1

40,000

This transaction causes increases in both cash and the liability, notes payable. Increases
in assets are debits and increases in liabilities are credits. The note requires payment of

$40,000 in principal and $6,500[($10,000 X 10% X % = $500) + ($30,000 x 10% X 2 years
= $6,000)] in interest. However, at this point we are concerned only with the external trans-

action that occurs when the cash is borrowed and the note is signed. Later we discuss how
the interest is recorded.

July 1

24,000

This transaction increased an asset called prepaid rent, which is debited, and decreased
the asset cash (a credit). Dress Right acquired the right to use the building for one full year.
This is an asset because it represents a future benefit to the company. As we will see later,
this asset expires over the one-year rental period.

July 1
12,000
12,000

This transaction increases one asset, office equipment, and decreases another, cash.

July 3
INVENTOTY .ttt ettt
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ...t

60,000
60,000

This purchase of merchandise on account is recorded by a debit to inventory, an asset,
and a credit to accounts payable, a liability. Increases in assets are debits. Increases in lia-
bilities are credits.

The Dress Right Clothing Company uses the perpetual inventory system to keep track of its
merchandise inventory. This system requires that the cost of merchandise purchased be recorded
in inventory, an asset account. When inventory is sold, the inventory account is decreased by the
cost of the item sold. An alternative method, the periodic system, is briefly discussed later in this
chapter. We explore the topic of inventory in depth in Chapters 8 and 9.

July 6

2,000

We record the acquisition of supplies as a debit to the asset account supplies (an increase)
and as a credit to the asset cash (a decrease). Supplies are an asset because they represent
future benefits.

The different types of stock are discussed in Chapter 18.
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July 4-31
CASN ettt 35,000

SAIES FEVENUE.......eiteeeeeeeteteeteeteeeeteete ettt ea et s s es s ss s s eseasenns 35,000
Cost 0f gOOdS SOl (EXPENSE) w..eeveveuiriieieieeeieiireeieieeeereseeee e eeeees 20,000

INVENTOTY ottt a et s s sesasnannes 20,000

During the month of July, cash sales to customers totaled $35,000. The company’s assets
(cash) increase by this amount as does shareholders’ equity. This increase in equity is
recorded by a credit to the temporary account sales revenue.

At the same time, an asset, inventory, decreases and retained earnings decreases. Recall
that expenses are outflows or using up of assets from providing goods and services. Dress
Right incurred an expense equal to the cost of the inventory sold. The temporary account
cost of goods sold increases. However, this increase in an expense represents a decrease in
shareholders’ equity—retained earnings—and accordingly the account is debited. Both of
these transactions are summary transactions. Normally each sale made during the month
requires a separate and similar entry in a special journal, which we discuss in Appendix 2C.

July 9
ACCOUNTS FECEIVADIE ...t 3,500

Sales revenue....... 3,500
Cost of goods sold.... . 2,000

INVENTOTY ettt et ae e eenes 2,000

This transaction is similar to the cash sale shown earlier. The only difference is that the
asset acquired in exchange for merchandise is accounts receivable rather than cash.

AddiIiunaI Consideration

Periodic Inventory System
The principal alternative to the perpetual inventory system is the periodic system. By this
approach, we record the cost of merchandise purchased in a temporary account called
purchases. When inventory is sold, the inventory account is not decreased and cost of goods sold
is not recorded. Instead, we determine the balance in the inventory account only at the end of a
reporting period (periodically), and then we can determine the cost of goods sold for the period.
For example, the purchase of $60,000 of merchandise on account by Dress Right
Clothing is recorded as follows:

PUICRASES ...t a s 60,000
Accounts PAYable.......coeiiirriiic e 60,000

No cost of goods sold entry is recorded when sales are made in the periodic system.

At the end of July, the amount of ending inventory is determined (either by means of a
physical count of goods on hand or by estimation) to be $38,000 and cost of goods sold for
the month is determined as follows:

Beginning inventory $ -0-
Plus: Purchases 60,000
Less: Ending inventory (38,000)
Cost of goods sold $ 22,000

We record the cost of goods sold for the period and adjust the inventory account to the
actual amount on hand (in this case from zero to $38,000) this way:

Cost Of JOOAS SOIA......cucuiiiieieieeeer e 22,000
INVENTOTY ..ttt 38,000
PUFCRASES ...ttt 60,000

We discuss inventory in depth in Chapters 8 and 9.

To record the month’s
cash sales and the cost of
those sales.

To record a credit sale and
the cost of that sale.
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To record the receipt of
rent in advance.

To record the payment of
accounts payable.

To record the payment of
salaries for the first half of
the month.

To record receipt of cash
on account.

To record the payment of a
cash dividend.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

July 16

Deferred rent revenue (lHability) .......cceeeerrreieeninnrineccenreeeeceene 1,000

Cash increases by $1,000 so we debit the cash account. At this point, Dress Right does
not recognize revenue yet even though cash has been received. Instead, revenue is recorded
only after Dress Right has provided the jewelry store with the use of facilities; that is, as
the rental period expires. On receipt of the cash, a liability called deferred rent revenue
increases and is credited. This liability represents Dress Right’s obligation to provide the
use of facilities to the jewelry store.

July 20
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE......eieiiieteeee et sens 25,000
CASN ettt 25,000

This transaction decreases both an asset (cash) and a liability (accounts payable). A debit
decreases the liability, and a credit decreases the asset.

July 20
SAlAMNES EXPENSE ..ottt s et se e e s esesesenaneanes 5,000
[@F= 1] o TSROt 5,000

Employees were paid for services rendered during the first half of the month. The cash
expenditure did not create an asset since no future benefits resulted. Cash decreases and
is credited; shareholders’ equity decreases and is debited. The reduction in shareholders’
equity is recorded in the temporary account, salaries expense.

July 25

ACCOUNES FECEIVADIE ..ot 1,500
This transaction is an exchange of one asset, accounts receivable, for another asset, cash.

July 30
DIVIAENAS ...ttt b et eneneas 1,000

1,000

The payment of a cash dividend is a distribution to owners that reduces both cash and
retained earnings. Dividends is a temporary account that later is closed (transferred) to
retained earnings along with the other temporary accounts (revenues and expenses) at the
end of the fiscal year. We discuss and illustrate the closing process later in the chapter.

Additional Consideration

An alternative method of recording a cash dividend is to debit retained earnings at the time
the dividend is paid rather than reducing retained earnings during the closing process. The
entry to record the dividend using this approach is as follows:

Retained arnings ...cccoeveeeeeeeee et 1,000

1,000

As an expedient, we apply this approach when discussing dividends in Chapter 18.




CHAPTER 2

Review of the Accounting Process

[Nlustration 2—7 summarizes each of the transactions we just discussed as they would appear in a
general journal. In addition to the date, account titles, and debit and credit columns, the journal also
has a column titled Post Ref. (Posting Reference). In this column we enter the number assigned
to the general ledger account that is being debited or credited. For purposes of this illustration,
all asset accounts have been assigned numbers in the 100s, all liabilities are 200s, permanent
shareholders’ equity accounts are 300s, revenues are 400s, expenses are 500s and dividends is 600.

N
General Journal Page 1
Date 2021 Account Title and Explanation Post Ref. Debit Credit
July 1 Cash 100 60,000
Common stock 300 60,000
To record the issuance of common stock.
1 Cash 100 40,000
Notes payable 220 40,000
To record the borrowing of cash and the
signing of notes payable.
1 Prepaid rent 130 24,000
Cash 100 24,000
To record the payment of one year’s rent in
advance.
1 Office equipment 150 12,000
Cash 100 12,000
To record the purchase of office equipment.
3 Inventory 140 60,000
Accounts payable 210 60,000
To record the purchase of merchandise
inventory.
6 Supplies 125 2,000
Cash 100 2,000
To record the purchase of supplies.
4-31 Cash 100 35,000
Sales revenue 400 35,000
To record cash sales for the month.
4-31 Cost of goods sold 500 20,000
Inventory 140 20,000
To record the cost of cash sales.
9 Accounts receivable 110 3,500
Sales revenue 400 3,500
To record credit sale.
9 Cost of goods sold 500 2,000
Inventory 140 2,000
To record the cost of a credit sale.
16 Cash 100 1,000
Deferred rent revenue 230 1,000
To record the receipt of rent in advance.
20 Accounts payable 210 25,000
Cash 100 25,000
To record the payment of accounts payable.
20 Salaries expense 510 5,000
Cash 100 5,000
To record the payment of salaries for the first
half of the month.
25 Cash 100 1,500
Accounts receivable 110 1,500
To record the receipt of cash on account.
30 Dividends 600 1,000
Cash 100 1,000
L To record the payment of a cash dividend.

llustration -/

The General Journal
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® LO2-4

lustration -8

General Ledger Accounts

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

The ledger accounts also contain a posting reference, usually the page number of the
journal in which the journal entry was recorded. This allows for easy cross-referencing
between the journal and the ledger.

LEDGER ACCOUNTS Step 4 in the processing cycle is to transfer (post) the debit/credit
information from the journal to the general ledger accounts. Illustration 2—8 contains the ledger
accounts (in T-account form) for Dress Right affer all the general journal transactions have been

Balance Sheet Accounts A
Cash 100 Prepaid Rent 130
July 1 GJ1 60,000 | 24,000 July 1 GJ1 July 1 GJ1 24,000
1GJ1 40,000 | 12,000 1GJ1
4-31 GJ1 35,000 2,000 6 GJ1
16 GJ1 1,000 | 25,000 20 GJ1
25 GJ1 1,500 5,000 20 GJ1
1,000 30 GJ1
July 31 Bal. 68,500 July 31 Bal. 24,000
Accounts Receivable 110 Inventory 140
July 9 GJ1 3,500 1,500 July 25 GJ1 July 3 GJ1 60,000 | 20,000  July 4-31
2,000 9 GJ1
July 31 Bal. 2,000 July 31 Bal. 38,000
Supplies 125 Office equipment 150
July 6 GJ1 2,000 July 1 GJ1 12,000
July 31 Bal. 2,000 July 31 Bal. 12,000
Accounts Payable 210 Notes Payable 220
July 20 GJ1 25,000 | 60,000 July 3GJ1 40,000 July 1 GJ1
35,000 July 31 Bal. 40,000 July 31 Bal.
Deferred Rent Revenue 230
1,000 July 16 GJ1
1,000 July 31 Bal.
Common Stock 300 Retained Earnings 310
60,000 July 1 GJ1
60,000 July 31Bal. July31Bal. O
Income Statement Accounts
Sales Revenue 400 Cost of Goods Sold 500
35,000 July 4-31GJ1 July 4-31 GJ1 20,000
3,500 9 GJ1 9 GJ1 2,000
38,500 July31Bal. July 31 Bal. 22,000
Salaries Expense 510
July 20 GJ1 5,000
July 31 Bal. 5,000
Dividends
Dividends 600
July 30 GJ1 1,000
July 31 Bal. 1,000

\
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posted. The reference GJ1 next to each of the posted amounts indicates that the source of the
entry is page 1 of the general journal. An alternative is to number each of the entries in chrono-
logical order and reference them by number. Note that each account shows the balance that we
call a normal balance—that is, the balance is the debit or credit side used to increase the account.

TRIAL BALANCE Before preparing financial statements and adjusting entries (internal STEP 5
transactions) at the end of an accounting period, we prepare an unadjusted trial balance—  prepare an unadjusted trial
step 5. A trial balance is simply a list of the general ledger accounts along with their bal-  balance.
ances at a particular date, listed in the order that they appear in the ledger. The purpose of
the trial balance is to allow us to check for completeness and to verify that the sum of the
accounts with debit balances equals the sum of the accounts with credit balances. The fact
that the debits and credits are equal, though, does not necessarily ensure that the equal bal-
ances are correct. The trial balance could contain offsetting errors. As we will see later in the
chapter, this trial balance also helps with preparing adjusting entries.
The unadjusted trial balance at July 31, 2021, for Dress Right appears in [llustration 2-9.
Notice that dividends has a debit balance of $1,000. This reflects the payment of the cash div-
idend to shareholders. We record increases and decreases in retained earnings from revenue,
expense, gain and loss transactions indirectly in temporary accounts. Before the start of the
next year, we transfer these increases and decreases to the retained earnings account.

"\ Mlustration 2-9
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION Unadijusted Trial Balance
Unadjusted Trial Balance
July 31, 2021
Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 68,500
Accounts receivable 2,000
Supplies 2,000
Prepaid rent 24,000
Inventory 38,000
Office equipment 12,000
Accounts payable 35,000
Notes payable 40,000
Deferred rent revenue 1,000
Common stock 60,000
Retained earnings 0
Sales revenue 38,500
Cost of goods sold 22,000
Salaries expense 5,000
Dividends 1,000 At any time, the total of
Totals 174,500 174,500 all debit balances should
s s equal the total of all credit
\ balances.

Concept Review Exercise

The Wyndham Wholesale Company began operations on August 1, 2021. The following JOURNAL ENTRIES

transactions occur during the month of August. FOR EXTERNAL
TRANSACTIONS

a. Owners invest $50,000 cash in the corporation in exchange for 5,000 shares of common
stock.

b. Equipment is purchased for $20,000 cash.

c. On the first day of August, $6,000 rent on a building is paid for the months of August
and September.

d. Merchandise inventory costing $38,000 is purchased on account. The company uses the
perpetual inventory system.

e. $30,000 is borrowed from a local bank, and a note payable is signed.
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. Credit sales for the month are $40,000. The cost of merchandise sold is $22,000.
. $15,000 is collected on account from customers.

50—+

. $20,000 is paid on account to suppliers of merchandise.

. Salaries of $7,000 are paid to employees for August.

. A bill for $2,000 is received from the local utility company for the month of August.
. $20,000 cash is loaned to another company, evidenced by a note receivable.

. The corporation pays its shareholders a cash dividend of $1,000.

—

—_—

. Prepare a journal entry for each transaction.
2. Prepare an unadjusted trial balance as of August 31, 2021.

1. Prepare a journal entry for each transaction.

a. The issuance of common stock for cash increases both cash and shareholders’ equity
(common stock).

50,000
50,000
b. The purchase of equipment increases equipment and decreases cash.
EQUIPIMENT ..ottt es e 20,000
CASH L. 20,000
c. The payment of rent in advance increases prepaid rent and decreases cash.
Prepaid FENT ...t 6,000
CASH e 6,000

d. The purchase of merchandise on account increases both inventory and accounts
payable.

INVENTONY oottt ettt ettt et s et enene 38,000
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ...t 38,000

e. Borrowing cash and signing a note increases both cash and notes payable.

30,000

30,000

f. The sale of merchandise on account increases both accounts receivable and sales
revenue. Also, cost of goods sold increases and inventory decreases.

ACCOUNES FECEIVADIE ...t ettt et eneens 40,000

SAIES FTEVENUE ...ttt sttt neaenn 40,000
CoSt Of GOOAS SOIA......cuiieiiieiiee et 22,000

INVENTONY ettt sttt s e eeees 22,000

g. The collection of cash on account increases cash and decreases accounts receivable.

SN ettt ettt ettt ettt ete s enn 15,000
ACCOUNTS rECEIVADIE ...t 15,000

h. The payment to suppliers on account decreases both accounts payable and cash.

Accounts payable.. . 20,000
CASH ettt 20,000
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i. The payment of salaries for the period increases salaries expense (decreases retained
earnings) and decreases cash.
CASH e 7,000

j- The receipt of a bill for services rendered increases both an expense (utilities
expense) and accounts payable. The expense decreases retained earnings.

ULIlItIES ©XPENSE ..ttt eeenens 2,000
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ... 2,000

k. The lending of cash to another entity and the signing of a note increases notes
receivable and decreases cash.

20,000
20,000
1. Cash dividends paid to shareholders reduce both retained earnings and cash.
Dividends3.. . 1,000
CASN ettt ettt ens 1,000
2. Prepare an unadjusted trial balance as of August 31, 2021.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 21,000
Accounts receivable 25,000
Prepaid rent 6,000
Inventory 16,000
Notes receivable 20,000
Equipment 20,000
Accounts payable 20,000
Notes payable 30,000
Common stock 50,000
Retained earnings (o]
Sales revenue 40,000
Cost of goods sold 22,000
Salaries expense 7,000
Utilities expense 2,000
Dividends 1,000

Totals 140,000 140,000

{ ]
Adjusting Entries  L02-5

Step 6 in the processing cycle is to record in the general journal and post to the ledger STEP6
accounts the effect of internal events on the accounting equation. These transactions do not  Record adjusting entries
involve an exchange transaction with another entity and, therefore, are not initiated by a  and post to the ledger
source document. They are recorded at the end of any period when financial statements are ~ 3COUNts.
prepared. These transactions are commonly referred to as adjusting entries.

Even when all transactions and events are analyzed, corrected, journalized, and posted to
appropriate ledger accounts, some account balances will require updating. Adjusting entries

3An alternative is to debit retained earnings at the time the dividend is distributed.



64 SECTION 1

FINANCIAL
Reporting Case

Q1,p. 47

FINANCIAL
Reporting Case

Q2, p. 47

Prepayments are
transactions in which
the cash flow precedes
expense or revenue
recognition.

Prepaid expenses

represent assets recorded
when a cash disbursement

creates benefits beyond
the current reporting
period.

The adjusting entry
required for a prepaid
expense is a debit to an

expense and a credit to an

asset.
® LO2-6

Supplies
Beg. bal. 0]

2,000 | 800
Endbal. 1,200

Supplies Expense
Beg. bal. 0]
800

End. bal. 800

To record the cost of
supplies used during the
month of July.
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are required to implement the accrual accounting model. More specifically, these entries
help ensure that all revenues are recognized in the period goods or services are transferred
to customers, regardless of when the cash is received. Also, they enable a company to rec-
ognize all expenses incurred during a period, regardless of when cash payment is made. As
a result, a period’s income statement provides a more complete measure of a company’s
operating performance and a better measure for predicting future operating cash flows. The
balance sheet also provides a more complete assessment of assets and liabilities as sources
of future cash receipts and disbursements. You might think of adjusting entries as a method
of bringing the company’s financial information up-to-date before preparing the financial
statements.
Adjusting entries are necessary for three situations:

1. Prepayments, sometimes referred to as deferrals
2. Accruals
3. Estimates

Prepayments

Prepayments occur when the cash flow precedes either expense or revenue recognition.
For example, a company may buy supplies in one period but use them in a later period. The
cash outflow creates an asset (supplies) which then must be expensed in a future period as
the asset is used up. Similarly, a company may receive cash from a customer in one period
but provide the customer with a good or service in a future period. For instance, magazine
publishers usually receive cash in advance for magazine subscriptions. The cash inflow cre-
ates a liability (deferred revenue) that is recognized as revenue in a future period when the
goods or services are transferred to customers.

PREPAID EXPENSES Prepaid expenses are the costs of assets acquired in one period
and expensed in a future period. Whenever cash is paid, and it is not to (1) satisfy a liability
or (2) pay a dividend or return capital to owners, it must be determined whether or not the
payment creates future benefits or whether the payment benefits only the current period.
The purchase of buildings, equipment, or supplies or the payment of rent in advance are
examples of payments that create future benefits and should be recorded as assets. The ben-
efits provided by these assets expire in future periods and their cost is expensed in future
periods as related revenues are recognized.

To illustrate this concept, assume that a company paid a radio station $2,000 in July for
advertising. If that $2,000 were for advertising provided by the radio station during the month
of July, the entire $2,000 would be expensed in the same period as the cash disbursement. If,
however, the $2,000 was a payment for advertising to be provided in a future period, say the
month of August, then the cash disbursement creates an asset called prepaid advertising.
Then, an adjusting entry is required at the end of August to increase advertising expense
(decrease shareholders’ equity) and to decrease the asset, prepaid advertising, by $2,000. So,
the adjusting entry for a prepaid expense is a debit to an expense and a credit to an asset.

The unadjusted trial balance can provide a starting point for determining which adjusting
entries are required for a period, particularly for prepayments. Review the July 31, 2021,
unadjusted trial balance for the Dress Right Clothing Corporation in Illustration 2-9 and try
to anticipate the required adjusting entries for prepaid expenses.

The first asset that requires adjustment is supplies, $2,000 of which were purchased during
July. This transaction created an asset as the supplies will be used in future periods. The com-
pany could either track the supplies used or simply count the supplies at the end of the period
and determine the dollar amount of supplies remaining. Assume that Dress Right determines that
at the end of July, $1,200 of supplies remain. The following adjusting journal entry is required.

July 31
SUPPIIES EXPENSE ...ttt sesess e e s s esesesnnnnes 800
SUPPIIES .ttt ettt aenes 800
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The next prepaid expense requiring adjustment is rent. Recall that at the beginning of
July, the company paid $24,000 to its landlord representing one year’s rent in advance. As
it is reasonable to assume that the rent services provided each period are equal, the monthly
rent is $2,000. At the end of July 2021, one month’s prepaid rent has expired and must be
recognized as expense.

July 31
Rent expense ($24,000 = 12) .o ses e 2,000
Prepaid FENT ... 2,000

After this entry is recorded and posted to the ledger accounts, the prepaid rent account
will have a debit balance of $22,000, representing 11 remaining months at $2,000 per month,
and the rent expense account will have a $2,000 debit balance.

The final prepayment involves the asset represented by office equipment that was pur-
chased for $12,000. This asset has a long life but nevertheless will expire over time. For the
previous two adjusting entries, it was fairly straightforward to determine the amount of the
asset that expired during the period.

However, it is difficult, if not impossible, to determine how much of the benefits from
using the office equipment expired during any particular period. Recall from Chapter 1 that
one approach is to recognize an expense “by a systematic and rational allocation to specific
time periods.”

Assume that the office equipment has a useful life of five years (60 months) and will
be worthless at the end of that period, and that we choose to allocate the cost equally over
the period of use. The amount of monthly expense, called depreciation expense, is $200
($12,000 + 60 months = $200), and the following adjusting entry is recorded.

July 31
Depreciation EXPENSE.......ccieeeieeeteeee et eseaens 200
Accumulated depreciation

200

The entry reduces an asset, office equipment, by $200. However, the asset account is not
reduced directly. Instead, the credit is to an account called accumulated depreciation. This
is a contra account to office equipment. The normal balance in a contra asset account will be
a credit, that is, “contra,” or opposite, to the normal debit balance in an asset account. The
purpose of the contra account is to keep the original cost of the asset intact while reducing
it indirectly. In the balance sheet, office equipment is reported net of accumulated depreci-
ation. When we have multiple depreciable assets, it’s helpful to differentiate accumulated
depreciation accounts, like accumulated depreciation—office equipment, accumulated
depreciation—buildings, etc. This topic is covered in depth in Chapter 11.

After this entry is recorded and posted to the ledger accounts, the accumulated depre-
ciation account will have a credit balance of $200 and the depreciation expense account
will have a $200 debit balance. If a required adjusting entry for a prepaid expense is not
recorded, net income, assets, and shareholders’ equity (retained earnings) will be overstated.

DEFERRED REVENUES Deferred revenues are created when a company receives cash
from a customer in one period for goods or services that are to be provided in a future
period. The cash receipt, an external transaction, is recorded as a debit to cash and a credit
to a liability. This liability reflects the company’s obligation to provide goods or services in
the future.

To illustrate a deferred revenue transaction, assume that during the month of June a mag-
azine publisher received $24 in cash for a 24-month subscription to a monthly magazine.
The subscription begins in July. On receipt of the cash, the publisher records a liability,
deferred subscription revenue, of $24. Subsequently, revenue of $1 is recognized as each

To record the cost of
expired rent for the month
of July.

Rent Expense

Beg. bal. 0
2,000

End bal. 2,000

Prepaid Rent

Beg. bal. (]
24,000 | 2,000

End. bal. 22,000

To record depreciation of
office equipment for the
month of July.

Deferred revenues
represent liabilities
recorded when cash is
received from customers
in advance of providing a
good or service.
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The adjusting entry

required when deferred
revenues are recognized is
a debit to a liability and a

credit to revenue.

To record previously
deferred rent revenue

recognized during July.

Deferred Rent Revenue

250 | 1,000

0 Beg. bal.

Rent Revenue

750 End bal.

250

0 Beg. bal.

Rent Expense

250 End bal.

Beg. bal. [0]
24,000 | 22,000
End bal. 2,000

Prepaid Rent

Beg. bal.

0
22,000

End bal.

22,000
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monthly magazine is published and mailed to the customer. An adjusting entry is required
each month to increase shareholders’ equity (revenue) to recognize the $1 in revenue and to
decrease the liability. Assuming that the cash receipt entry included a credit to a liability, the
adjusting entry for deferred revenues, therefore, is a debit to a liability, in this case deferred
subscription revenue, and a credit to revenue.

Once again, the unadjusted trial balance provides information concerning deferred reve-
nues. For Dress Right Clothing Corporation, the only deferred revenue in the trial balance
is deferred rent revenue. Recall that the company subleased a portion of its building to a
jewelry store for $500 per month. On July 16, the jewelry store paid Dress Right $1,000 in
advance for the first two months’ rent. The transaction was recorded as a debit to cash and a
credit to deferred rent revenue.

At the end of July, how much of the $1,000 must be recognized? Approximately one-half
of one month’s rent service has been provided, or $250, requiring the following adjusting
entry.

July 31
Deferred rent rEVENUE ..ottt
RENT FEVENUE ...ttt

250
250

After this entry is recorded and posted to the ledger accounts, the deferred rent rev-
enue account is reduced to a credit balance of $750 for the remaining one and one-half
months’ rent, and the rent revenue account will have a $250 credit balance. If this entry is
not recorded, net income and shareholders’ equity (retained earnings) will be understated,
and liabilities will be overstated.

ALTERNATIVE APPROACH TO RECORD PREPAYMENTS The same end result can be
achieved for prepayments by recording the external transaction directly into an expense or
revenue account. In fact, many companies prefer this approach. For simplicity, bookkeeping
instructions might require all cash payments for expenses to be debited to the appropriate
expense accounts and all cash payments for revenues to be credited to the appropriate reve-
nue accounts. In the adjusting entry, then, the unexpired prepaid expense (asset) or deferred
revenue (liability) as of the end of the period are recorded.

For example, on July 1, 2021, Dress Right paid $24,000 in cash for one year’s rent on its
building. The entry included a debit to prepaid rent. The company could have debited rent
expense instead of prepaid rent.

Alternative Approach
July 1

24,000

The adjusting entry then records the amount of prepaid rent as of the end of July, $22,000,
and reduces rent expense to $2,000, the cost of rent for the month of July.

Alternative Approach

July 31

Prepaid Fent ...
Rent expense

22,000

The net effect of handling the transactions in this manner is the same as the previous
treatment. Either way, the prepaid rent account will have a debit balance at the end of July
of $22,000 to represent 11 months remaining prepaid rent, and the rent expense account will
have a debit balance of $2,000 to represent the one month of rent used in the period of this
income statement being prepared. What’s important is that an adjusting entry is recorded to
ensure the appropriate amounts are reflected in both the expense and asset before financial
statements are prepared.
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Similarly, the July 16 cash receipt from the jewelry store representing an advance for two
months’ rent initially could have been recorded by Dress Right as a credit to rent revenue
instead of deferred rent revenue (a liability).

Alternative Approach
July 16
1,000
1,000

If Dress Right records the entire $1,000 as rent revenue in this way, it would then use
the adjusting entry to record the amount of deferred revenue as of the end of July, $750 to
represent the one and one-half month of rent revenue remaining as collected in advance, and
the rent revenue account will have a credit balance of $250, which is for the one-half month
of July that has passed in the current period.

Alternative Approach

July 31

RENT FEVENUE ...ttt nas
Deferred rent rEVENUE ..ottt

750
750

Accruals

Accruals occur when the cash flow comes affer either expense or revenue recognition. For
example, a company often uses the services of another entity in one period and pays for
them in a subsequent period. An expense must be recognized in the period incurred and an
accrued liability recorded. Also, goods and services often are provided to customers on
credit. In such instances, a revenue is recognized in the period goods or services are trans-
ferred to customers and an asset, a receivable, is recorded.

Many accruals involve external transactions that automatically are recorded from a
source document. For example, a sales invoice for a credit sale provides all the information
necessary to record the debit to accounts receivable and the credit to sales revenue. How-
ever, there are some accruals that involve internal transactions and thus require adjusting
entries. Because accruals involve recognition of expense or revenue before cash flow, the
unadjusted trial balance will not be as helpful in identifying required adjusting entries as
with prepayments.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES For accrued liabilities, we are concerned with expenses
incurred but not yet paid. Dress Right Clothing Corporation requires two adjusting entries
for accrued liabilities at July 31, 2021.

The first entry is for employee salaries for the second half of July. Recall that on July 20
the company paid employees $5,000 for salaries for the first half of the month. Salaries for
the second half of July probably will be paid in early August. Nevertheless, an expense is
incurred in July for services rendered to the company by its employees. The accrual income
statement for July must reflect these services for the entire month regardless of when the
cash payment is made.

Therefore, an obligation exists at the end of July to pay the salaries earned by employees
for the last half of that month. An adjusting entry is required to increase salaries expense
(decrease shareholders’ equity) and to increase liabilities for the salaries payable. The
adjusting entry for an accrued liability always includes a debit to an expense, and a credit
to a liability. Assuming that salaries for the second half of July are $5,500, the following
adjusting entry is recorded.

July 31
SAlAMNES EXPENSE ...ttt sttt eeees
Salaries payable

5,500

After this entry is recorded and posted to the general ledger, the salaries expense account
will have a debit balance of $10,500 ($5,000 + 5,500), and the salaries payable account will
have a credit balance of $5,500.
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Rent Revenue

0 Beg. bal.
1,000

250 End bal.

750

Deferred Rent Revenue

0 Beg. bal.
750

750 End bal.

Accruals involve
transactions where the
cash outflow or inflow
takes place in a period
subsequent to expense or
revenue recognition.

Accrued liabilities
represent liabilities
recorded when an expense
has been incurred prior to
cash payment.

The adjusting entry
required to record an
accrued liability is a debit
to an expense and a credit
to a liability.

Salaries Payable

0 Beg. bal.
5,500

5,500 End bal.

Salaries Expense

Beg. bal. 6]
July20 5,000
5,500

End bal. 10,500
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To accrue interest revenue
earned in August on a
note receivable.
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The unadjusted trial balance does provide information about the second required accrued
liability entry. In the trial balance we can see a balance in the notes payable account of
$40,000. The company borrowed this amount on July 1, 2021, evidenced by two notes, each
requiring the payment of 10% interest. Whenever the trial balance reveals interest-bearing
debt, and interest is not paid on the last day of the period, an adjusting entry is required for
the amount of interest that has built up (accrued) since the last payment date or the last date
interest was accrued. In this case, we calculate interest as follows:

Principal X Interest rate X Time = Interest
$40,000 x 10% X Vi = $333 (rounded)
Interest rates always are stated as the annual rate. Therefore, the above calculation uses

this annual rate multiplied by the principal amount multiplied by the amount of time out-
standing, in this case one month or one-twelfth of a year.

July 31
INTErEST EXPENSE ...ttt ettt es s
INTEreSt PAYADIE ...

333
558

After this entry is recorded and posted to the ledger accounts, the interest expense account
will have a debit balance of $333, and the interest payable account will have a credit balance of
$333. Failure to record a required adjusting entry for an accrued liability will cause net income
and shareholders’ equity (retained earnings) to be overstated and liabilities to be understated.*

It’s important to note that we differentiate accrued liabilities like salaries payable and inter-
est payable from accounts payable accounts. Accounts payable is the account we use for pur-
chases of merchandise that will be resold in the ordinary course of business and for property,
plant, and equipment that will be not paid for with notes payable or other types of financing.

Also, sometimes we use an account titled “accrued liabilities” instead of specific payable
accounts. This is particularly useful when grouping several relatively small liabilities that
aren’t large enough to warrant separate reporting.

ACCRUED RECEIVABLES Accrued receivables involve the recognition of revenue for
goods or services transferred to customers before cash is received. An example of an inter-
nal accrued revenue event is the recognition of interest earned on a loan to another entity.
For example, assume that Dress Right loaned another corporation $30,000 at the beginning
of August, evidenced by a note receivable. Terms of the note call for the payment of princi-
pal, $30,000, and interest at 8% in three months. An external transaction records the cash
disbursement—a debit to note receivable and a credit to cash of $30,000.

What adjusting entry would be required at the end of August? Dress Right needs to record
the interest revenue earned but not yet received along with the corresponding receivable.
Interest receivable increases and interest revenue (shareholders’ equity) also increases. The
adjusting entry for accrued receivables always includes a debit to an asset, a receivable, and
a credit to revenue. In this case, at the end of August Dress Right recognizes $200 in interest
revenue ($30,000 x 8% x 1/12) and makes the following adjusting entry. If this entry is not
recorded, net income, assets, and shareholders’ equity (retained earnings) will be understated.

August 31
INterest reCeIVabIE ..o
INTEIrEST FEVENUE ...ttt

200
200

There are no accrued revenue adjusting entries required for Dress Right at the end of July.
The required adjusting entries for prepayments and accruals are recapped with the aid
of T-accounts in Illustration 2—-10. In each case an expense or revenue is recognized in a
period that differs from the period in which cash was paid or received. These adjusting

“Dress Right Clothing is a corporation. Corporations are income-tax-paying entities. Income taxes—federal, state, and local—are
assessed on an annual basis and payments are made throughout the year. An additional adjusting entry would be required for Dress
Right to accrue the amount of estimated income taxes payable that are applicable to the month of July. Accounting for income taxes is
introduced in Chapter 4 and covered in depth in Chapter 16.
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entries are necessary to properly measure operating performance and financial position on
an accrual basis.

Estimates

A third classification of adjusting entries is estimates. Accountants often must make esti-
mates of future events to comply with the accrual accounting model. For example, the cal-
culation of depreciation expense requires an estimate of expected useful life of the asset
being depreciated as well as its expected residual value. We discussed the adjusting entries
for depreciation expense in the context of its being a prepayment, but it also could be thought
of as an estimate.

One adjusting-entry situation involving an estimate that does not fit neatly into either
the prepayment or accrual classification is bad debts. Accounting for bad debts requires
a company to estimate the amount of accounts receivable that ultimately will prove to be
uncollectible and to reduce accounts receivable by that estimated amount. This is neither a
prepayment nor an accrual because it does not involve the payment of cash either before or
after income is reduced. We explore accounts receivable and bad debts in depth in Chapter 7.

Ilustration 2—-11 recaps the July 31, 2021, adjusting entries for Dress Right Clothing
Corporation as they would appear in a general journal. The journal entries are numbered
(1) to (6) corresponding to the numbers used in the worksheet illustrated in Appendix 2A.

After the adjusting entries are posted to the general ledger accounts, the next
step—step 7—in the processing cycle is to prepare an adjusted trial balance. The term
adjusted refers to the fact that adjusting entries have now been posted to the accounts.
Recall that the column titled Post. Ref. (Posting Reference) is the number assigned to
the general ledger account that is being debited or credited. Illustration 2—12 shows the
July 31, 2021, adjusted trial balance for Dress Right Clothing Corporation.
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lustration 210

Adjusting Entries

Accountants often must
make estimates in order
to comply with the accrual
accounting model.



70 SECTION 1

Mustration 211

The General Journal—
Adjusting Entries

lustration 212

Adjusted Trial Balance

STEP 7

Prepare an adjusted trial
balance.
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Totals 180,533

N
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
General Journal Page 2
Date Post.
2021 Account Title and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
July 31 Supplies expense 520 800
(n Supplies 125 800
To record the cost of supplies used during
the month of July.
(2) 31 Rent expense 530 2,000
Prepaid rent 130 2,000
To record the cost of expired rent for the month of July.
(3) 31 Depreciation expense 540 200
Accumulated depreciation 155 200
To record depreciation of office equipment for the
month of July.
(4) 31 Deferred rent revenue 230 250
Rent revenue 410 250
To record previously deferred rent revenue recognized
during July.
(5) 31 Salaries expense 510 5,500
Salaries payable 230 5,500
To record accrued salaries at the end of July.
(6) 31 Interest expense 550 333
Interest payable 240 333
To accrue interest expense for July on notes payable.
\_
~N
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
Adjusted Trial Balance
July 31, 2021
Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 68,500
Accounts receivable 2,000
Supplies 1,200
Prepaid rent 22,000
Inventory 38,000
Office equipment 12,000
Accumulated depreciation 200
Accounts payable 35,000
Notes payable 40,000
Deferred rent revenue 750
Salaries payable 5,500
Interest payable 333
Common stock 60,000
Retained earnings 0
Sales revenue 38,500
Rent revenue 250
Cost of goods sold 22,000
Salaries expense 10,500
Supplies expense 800
Rent expense 2,000
Depreciation expense 200
Interest expense 333
Dividends 1,000
180,533
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Concept Review Exercise

The Wyndham Wholesale Company needs to prepare financial statements at the end of ADJUSTING ENTRIES
August 2021 for presentation to its bank. An unadjusted trial balance as of August 31, 2021,
was presented in a previous Concept Review Exercise.

The following information also is available:

a. The notes payable account contains one note. The note requires the entire $30,000
in principal plus interest at 10% to be paid on July 31, 2022. The date of the note is
August 1, 2021.

b. Depreciation on the equipment for the month of August is $500.

c. The notes receivable account contains one note. It is dated August 16, 2021. The note
requires the entire $20,000 in principal plus interest at 12% to be repaid in four months
(the loan was outstanding for one-half month during August).

d. The prepaid rent of $6,000 represents rent for the months of August and September.

1. Prepare any necessary adjusting entries at August 31, 2021.
2. Prepare an adjusted trial balance as of August 31, 2021.

3. What is the total net effect on income (overstated or understated) if the adjusting entries
are not recorded?

1. Prepare any necessary adjusting entries at August 31, 2021.

a. An adjusting entry is required to accrue the interest expense on the note payable for
the month of August. Accrued interest is calculated as follows:

$30,000 x 10% X Vi» = $250

INTEIEST EXPENSE ...ttt ne 250
INTEreSt PAYADIE ..o 250

b. Depreciation expense on the equipment must be recorded.

Depreciation EXPENSE ...t seaens 500

Accumulated depreciation 500

c. An adjusting entry is required for the one-half month of accrued interest revenue
earned on the note receivable. Accrued interest is calculated as follows:

$20,000 x 12% X Vi X V4 = $100

INterest reCeIVabIE ........c.ocoouie e 100
INEEIEST FEVENUE......oeeeieeee e 100

d. An adjusting entry is required to recognize the amount of prepaid rent that expired
during August.

RENT EXPENSE. ...ttt esenen 3,000
Prepaid FENT ..ottt 3,000
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2. Prepare an adjusted trial balance as of August 31, 2021.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 21,000

Accounts receivable 25,000

Prepaid rent 3,000

Inventory 16,000

Interest receivable 100

Notes receivable 20,000

Equipment 20,000

Accumulated depreciation 500
Accounts payable 20,000
Interest payable 250
Notes payable 30,000
Common stock 50,000

Retained earnings (0]

Sales revenue 40,000
Interest revenue 100
Cost of goods sold 22,000
Salaries expense 7,000
Utilities expense 2,000
Interest expense 250
Depreciation expense 500
Rent expense 3,000
Dividends 1,000
Totals 140,850 140,850

3. What is the effect on income (overstated or understated), if the adjusting entries are not

recorded?
Income overstated
Adjusting Entry (understated)
Interest expense $ 250
Depreciation expense 500
Interest revenue (100)
Rent expense 3,000
Net effect, income overstated by $3,650

We now turn our attention to the preparation of financial statements.

Preparing the Financial Statements

The purpose of each of the steps in the processing cycle to this point is to provide informa-
tion for step 8—preparation of the financial statements. The adjusted trial balance contains
the necessary information. After all, the financial statements are the primary means of com-
municating financial information to external parties.

The Income Statement and the Statement of Comprehensive Income

The purpose of the income statement is to summarize the profit-generating activities of a
company that occurred during a particular period of time. It is a change statement in that it
reports the changes in shareholders’ equity (retained earnings) that occurred during the
period as a result of revenues, expenses, gains, and losses. Illustration 2-13 shows the
income statement for Dress Right Clothing Corporation for the month of July 2021.

The income statement indicates a profit for the month of July of $2,917. During the
month, the company was able to increase its net assets (equity) from activities related to
selling its product. Dress Right is a corporation and subject to the payment of income tax on
its profits. We ignore this required accrual here and address income taxes in a later chapter.

The components of the income statement usually are classified, that is, grouped according
to common characteristics. A common classification scheme is to separate operating items
from nonoperating items, as we do in Dress Right’s income statement. Operating items
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~\
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
Income Statement
For the Month of July 2021
Sales revenue $38,500
Cost of goods sold 22,000
Gross profit 16,500
Operating expenses:
Salaries expense $10,500
Supplies expense 800
Rent expense 2,000
Depreciation expense 200
Total operating expenses 13,500
Operating income 3,000
Other income (expense):
Rent revenue 250
Interest expense (333) (83)
Net income $ 2,917
\_

include revenues and expenses directly related to the principal revenue-generating activities
of the company. For example, operating items for a manufacturing company include sales
revenues from the sale of products and all expenses related to this activity. Companies that
sell products like Dress Right often report a subtotal within operating income, sales less cost
of goods sold, called gross profit. Nonoperating items include certain gains and losses and
revenues and expenses from peripheral activities. For Dress Right Clothing, rent revenue
and interest expense are nonoperating items because they do not relate to the principal
revenue-generating activity of the company, selling clothes. In Chapter 4 we discuss the
format and content of the income statement in more depth.

The statement of comprehensive income extends the income statement by reporting all
changes in shareholders’ equity during the period that were not a result of transactions with
owners. A few types of gains and losses, called other comprehensive income (OCI) or
loss items, are excluded from the determination of net income and the income statement, but
are included in the broader concept of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income can
be reported in one of two ways: (1) in a single, continuous statement of comprehensive
income, or (2) in two separate, but consecutive statements.’

In the single statement approach, net income is a subtotal within the statement followed
by these OCI items, culminating in a final total of comprehensive income. In the two state-
ment approach, a company presents an income statement immediately followed by a state-
ment of comprehensive income. The statement of comprehensive income begins with net
income as the first component followed by OCI items to arrive at comprehensive income.
Obviously, the approaches are quite similar; in the separate statement approach, we separate
the continuous statement into two parts, but the content is the same.

Dress Right Clothing has no OCI items so the company presents only an income state-
ment in [llustration 2-13. An entity that has no OCI items is not required to report OCI or
comprehensive income. We discuss comprehensive income and the alternative approaches
to its presentation in more depth in Chapter 4.

The Balance Sheet

The purpose of the balance sheet is to present the financial position of the company
on a particular date. Unlike the income statement, which is a change statement report-
ing events that occurred during a period of time, the balance sheet is a statement that

SFASB ASC 220-10-45-1: Comprehensive Income—Overall—Other Presentation Matters (Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05
(Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, June 2011)).

lustration 213

Income Statement

The balance sheet
presents an organized list
of assets, liabilities, and
equity at a particular point
in time.
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presents an organized list of assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity at a point in time.
To provide a quick overview, Illustration 2—14 shows the balance sheet for Dress Right at
July 31, 2021.

~N
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
Balance Sheet
At July 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 68,500
Accounts receivable 2,000
Supplies 1,200
Inventory 38,000
Prepaid rent 22,000
Total current assets 131,700
Property and equipment:
Office equipment $12,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation 200 11,800
Total assets $143,500
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 35,000
Salaries payable 5,500
Deferred rent revenue 750
Interest payable 888
Notes payable 10,000
Total current liabilities 51,583
Long-term liabilities:
Notes payable 30,000
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock (6,000 shares issued and outstanding) $60,000
Retained earnings 1,917
Total shareholders’ equity 61,917
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $143,500
*Beginning retained earnings + Net income — Dividends
+ 2917 - 1,000 =$1,917
\_

As we do in the income statement, we group the balance sheet elements into meaningful
categories. For example, most balance sheets include the classifications of current assets
and current liabilities. Current assets are those assets that are cash, will be converted into
cash, or will be used up within one year from the balance sheet date (or operating cycle, if
longer). Current liabilities are those liabilities that will be satisfied within one year from the
balance sheet date (or operating cycle, if longer). For a manufacturing company, the operat-
ing cycle refers to the period of time necessary to convert cash to raw materials, raw materi-
als to a finished product, the finished product to receivables, and then finally receivables
back to cash. For most companies, this period is less than a year.

Examples of assets not classified as current include property and equipment and long-
term receivables and investments. The only noncurrent asset that Dress Right has at July 31,
2021, is office equipment, which is classified under the property and equipment category.

All liabilities not classified as current are listed as long term. Dress Right’s liabilities at
July 31, 2021, include the $30,000 note payable due to be paid in 23 months. This liability
is classified as long term.
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Shareholders’ equity lists the paid-in capital portion of equity—common stock—and
retained earnings. Notice that the income statement we looked at in Illustration 2—13 ties
in to the balance sheet through retained earnings. Specifically, the revenue, expense, gain,
and loss transactions that make up net income in the income statement ($2,917) become the
major components of retained earnings. Later in the chapter we discuss the closing process
we use to transfer, or close, these temporary income statement accounts along with the tem-
porary account, dividends. to the permanent retained earnings account.

During the month, retained earnings, which increased by the amount of net income, also
decreased by the amount of the cash dividend paid to shareholders, $1,000. The net effect
of these two changes is an increase in retained earnings from zero at the beginning of the
period to $1,917 ($2,917 — $1,000) at the end of the period and also is reported in the state-
ment of shareholders’ equity in Illustration 2—16.

The Statement of Cash Flows

Similar to the income statement, the statement of cash flows also is a change statement.
The purpose of the statement is to report the events that caused cash to change during the
period. The statement classifies all transactions affecting cash into one of three categories:
(1) operating activities, (2) investing activities, and (3) financing activities. Operating
activities are inflows and outflows of cash related to transactions entering into the determi-
nation of net income. Investing activities involve the acquisition and sale of (1) long-term
assets used in the business and (2) nonoperating investment assets. Financing activities
involve cash inflows and outflows from transactions with creditors and owners.

The statement of cash flows for Dress Right for the month of July 2021 is shown in
Ilustration 2—15. As this is the first period of operations for Dress Right, the cash balance at
the beginning of the period is zero. The net increase in cash of $68,500, therefore, equals the
ending balance of cash disclosed in the balance sheet.

~\
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month of July 2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash inflows:

From customers $36,500

From rent 1,000
Cash outflows:

For rent (24,000)

For supplies (2,000)

To suppliers of merchandise (25,000)

To employees (5,000)
Net cash flows from operating activities $(18,500)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of office equipment (12,000)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Issue of common stock $60,000
Increase in notes payable 40,000
Payment of cash dividend (1,000)
Net cash flows from financing activities 99,000
Net increase in cash $ 68,500

'\

There are two generally accepted formats that can be used to report operating activities,
the direct method and the indirect method. In Illustration 2—-15 we use the direct method.
These two methods are discussed and illustrated in subsequent chapters.

The purpose of the
statement of cash flows is
to report the events that
caused cash to change
during the period.

lustration 215

Statement of Cash Flows
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The Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

The final statement, the statement of shareholders’ equity, also is a change statement. Its
purpose is to disclose the sources of the changes in the various permanent shareholders’
equity accounts that occurred during the period from investments by owners, distributions
to owners, net income, and other comprehensive income. Illustration 2—16 shows the state-
ment of shareholders’ equity for Dress Right for the month of July 2021.5

~
DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
Statement of Shareholders’ Equity
For the Month of July 2021
Total
Common Retained Shareholders’
Stock Earnings Equity
Balance at July 1, 2021 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Issue of common stock 60,000 60,000
Net income for July 2021 2,917 2,917
Less: Dividends (1,000) (1,000)
Balance at July 31, 2021 $ 60,000 $ 1,917 $ 61,917
L — =

The individual profit-generating transactions causing retained earnings to change are
summarized in the income statement. Therefore, the statement of shareholders’ equity only
shows the net effect of these transactions on retained earnings, in this case an increase of
$2,917. In addition, the company paid its shareholders a cash dividend that reduced retained
earnings.

The Closing Process

At the end of any interim reporting period, the accounting processing cycle is now com-
plete. An interim reporting period is any period when financial statements are produced
other than at the end of the fiscal year. However, at the end of the fiscal year, two final steps
are necessary, closing the temporary accounts—step 9—and preparing a post-closing trial
balance—step 10.

The closing process serves a dual purpose: (1) the temporary accounts (revenues,
expenses, gains and losses, and dividends) are reduced to zero balances, ready to measure
activity in the upcoming accounting period, and (2) these temporary account balances are
closed (transferred) to retained earnings to reflect the changes that have occurred in that
account during the period.

To illustrate the closing process, assume that the fiscal year-end for Dress Right Clothing
Corporation is July 31. Using the adjusted trial balance in Illustration 2—12, we can prepare
the following closing entries.

July 31
SAIES FEVENUE.......oeeteeeeee ettt ettt st nenn 38,500
RENT FEVENUE ...ttt ea s s s esenee

Retained €arnings ......ccioveeieeeereeee et 38,750

The first closing entry transfers the revenue account balances to retained earnings.
Because revenue accounts have credit balances, we debit each one to bring their balances to
zero. After this entry is posted to the accounts, both revenue accounts have a zero balance.

®Some companies choose to disclose the changes in the retained earnings component of shareholders’ equity in a separate statement or in
a combined statement of income and retained earnings.
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July 31

Retain@d €arNINGS ...c.cc et eaeaens 35,833
CoSt Of GOOAS SOIA ..o 22,000
SAlANHES EXPENSE ...eiveeieieceeeete ettt ettt ens 10,500
SUPPIIES EXPENSE ..ttt saesesesnnen 800
RENT EXPENSE ...ttt 2,000
Depreciation EXPENSE ... 200
INTEIEST EXPENSE ..ttt 333

The second closing entry transfers the expense account balances to retained earnings.
Because expense accounts have debit balances, we credit them to bring their balances to
zero. After this entry is posted to the accounts, the expense accounts have a zero balance.
Also, because retained earnings in this example began the reporting period with a zero bal-
ance, after we add (credit) revenues to the account and subtract (debit) expenses, the retained
earnings account has a credit balance equal to net income for the period, in this case $2,917.

Retained Earnings
Expenses 35,833 | 38,750 Revenues

2,917 Net income

Additional Consideration

A company can choose to prepare closing entries by closing revenues and expenses to

a temporary account called income summary. If so, the income summary account is then
closed to retained earnings. This alternative set of closing entries provides the same effect
of closing revenues and expenses directly to the retained earnings account as in our
illustration. Most companies, though, have computerized accounting systems that perform
the closing process automatically without the income summary account.

J

In the third entry we close the dividends account to retained earnings. Like expenses,
dividends reduce retained earnings.

July 31
Retain@d EarNINGS ...cceeiieeeeee ettt 1,000
(D114 Te [T e F3 TR 1,000

After this entry is posted to the accounts, the temporary accounts have zero balances and
retained earnings has increased by the amount of the net income and decreased by dividends
distributed from that net income. It’s important to remember that the temporary accounts
are closed only at year-end and not at the end of any interim period. Closing the temporary
accounts during the year would make it difficult to prepare the annual income statement.

Additional Consideration

A previous additional consideration indicated that an alternative method of recording a cash
dividend is to debit retained earnings when the dividends are declared. If this approach is
used, this third closing entry to close the dividends account to retained earnings isn’t needed.

The net result of a cash dividend is the same—a reduction in retained earnings and a
reduction in cash.

77

To close the expense
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Prepare a post-closing trial
balance (at year-end only).
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After the closing entries are posted to the ledger accounts, a post-closing trial balance is
prepared. The purpose of this trial balance is to verify that the closing entries were prepared
and posted correctly and that the accounts are now ready for next year’s transactions.
[lustration 2—17 shows the post-closing trial balance for Dress Right at July 31, 2021,
assuming a July 31 fiscal year-end.

DRESS RIGHT CLOTHING CORPORATION
Post-Closing Trial Balance
July 31, 2021

Account Title Debits Credits

Cash 68,500

Accounts receivable 2,000

Supplies 1,200

Prepaid rent 22,000

Inventory 38,000

Office equipment 12,000

Accumulated depreciation—office equipment 200

Accounts payable 35,000

Notes payable 40,000

Deferred rent revenue 750

Salaries payable 5,500

Interest payable 833

Common stock 60,000

Retained earnings 1,917
Totals 143,700 143,700

~

Concept Review Exercise

FINANCIAL
STATEMENT
PREPARATION AND
CLOSING

1. Prepare an income statement and a statement of shareholders’ equity for the month
ended August 31, 2021, and a classified balance sheet as of August 31, 2021.

2. Assume that August 31 is the company’s fiscal year-end. Prepare the necessary closing
entries and a post-closing trial balance.

1. Prepare an income statement and a statement of shareholders’ equity for the month
ended August 31, 2021, and a classified balance sheet as of August 31, 2021.

WYNDHAM WHOLESALE COMPANY
Income Statement
For the Month of August 2021

Sales revenue $40,000
Cost of goods sold 22,000
Gross profit 18,000
Operating expenses:

Salaries $7,000

Utilities 2,000

Depreciation 500

Rent 3,000

Total operating expenses 12,500

Operating income 5,500
Other income (expense):

Interest revenue 100

Interest expense (250) (150)

Net income $ 5,350

Refer to the August 31, 2021, adjusted trial balance of the Wyndham Wholesale Company
presented in the previous Concept Review Exercise.
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WYNDHAM WHOLESALE COMPANY
Statement of Shareholders’ Equity
For the Month of August 2021

Total
Common Retained Shareholders’
Stock Earnings Equity
Balance at August 1, 2021 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Issue of common stock 50,000 50,000
Net income for August 2021 5,350 5,350
Less: Dividends (1,000) (1,000)
Balance at August 31, 2021 $50,000 $4,350 $54,350
WYNDHAM WHOLESALE COMPANY
Balance Sheet
At August 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 21,000
Accounts receivable 25,000
Inventory 16,000
Interest receivable 100
Notes receivable 20,000
Prepaid rent 3,000
Total current assets 85,100
Property and equipment:
Equipment $20,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation 500 19,500
Total assets $104,600
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 20,000
Interest payable 250
Notes payable 30,000
Total current liabilities 50,250
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, 5,000 shares issued and outstanding $50,000
Retained earnings 4,350
Total shareholders’ equity 54,350
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $104,600

2. Assume that August 31 is the company’s fiscal year-end. Prepare the necessary closing
entries and a post-closing trial balance.

August 31 To close the revenue
SAIES FTEVENUE. ...ttt ettt en e 40,000 accounts to retained
INTEreSt rEVENUE. ... 100 earnings.

Retained earnings 40,100
August 31 To close the expense
Retained €arningsS ...c.oce i 34,750 accounts to retained

COSt Of OOAS SOIA ...ttt 22,000 earnings.

SAlAMNES EXPENSE ...ttt ea e s e es s s s sesnanas 7,000

Utilities expense ........ . 2,000

Depreciation EXPENSE ... 500

RENT EXPENSE ...ttt ee 3,000

INTErEST EXPENSE ..ttt ne 250
August 31 To close the dividends
Retained ea rnings . 1,000 account to retained

DiIVIAENAS ..ottt ettt ae e ae s aeeneenean 1,000 earnings.
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Post-Closing Trial Balance

Account Title Debits Credits

Cash 21,000

Accounts receivable 25,000

Prepaid rent 3,000

Inventory 16,000

Interest receivable 100

Notes receivable 20,000

Equipment 20,000

Accumulated depreciation—equipment 500

Accounts payable 20,000

Interest payable 250

Notes payable 30,000

Common stock 50,000

Retained earnings 4,350
Totals 105,100 105,100

Conversion from Cash Basis to Accrual Basis

In Chapter 1, we discussed and illustrated the differences between cash and accrual account-
ing. Cash-basis accounting produces a measure called net operating cash flow. This mea-
sure is the difference between cash receipts and cash disbursements during a reporting
period from transactions related to providing goods and services to customers. On the other
hand, the accrual-accounting model measures an entity’s accomplishments and resource
sacrifices during the period, regardless of when cash is received or paid. At this point, you
might wish to review the material in Chapter 1 to reinforce your understanding of the moti-
vation for using the accrual-accounting model.

Adjusting entries, for the most part, are conversions from cash basis to accrual basis.
Prepayments and accruals occur when cash flow precedes or follows expense or revenue
recognition.

Accountants sometimes are called upon to convert cash-basis financial statements to
accrual-basis financial statements, particularly for small businesses. You now have all of the
tools you need to make this conversion. For example, if a company paid $20,000 cash for
insurance during the fiscal year and you determine that there was $5,000 in prepaid insur-
ance at the beginning of the year and $3,000 at the end of the year, then you can determine
(accrual basis) insurance expense for the year. Prepaid insurance decreased by $2,000 during
the year, so insurance expense must be $22,000 ($20,000 in cash paid plus the decrease in
prepaid insurance). You can visualize as follows:

Prepaid Insurance

Balance, beginning of year $ 5,000
Plus: Cash paid 20,000
Less: Insurance expense ?
Balance, end of year $ 3,000

Insurance expense of $22,000 completes the explanation of the change in the balance of
prepaid insurance. Prepaid insurance of $3,000 is reported as an asset in an accrual-basis
balance sheet.

Suppose a company paid $150,000 for salaries to employees during the year and you
determine that there were $12,000 and $18,000 in salaries payable at the beginning and end
of the year, respectively. What was salaries expense for the year?
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Salaries Payable

Balance, beginning of year $ 12,000
Plus: Salaries expense ?
Less: Cash paid (150,000)
Balance, end of year $ 18,000

Salaries payable increased by $6,000 during the year, so salaries expense must be
$156,000 ($150,000 in cash paid plus the increase in salaries payable). Salaries payable of
$18,000 is reported as a liability in an accrual-basis balance sheet.

Using T-accounts is a convenient approach for converting from cash to accrual accounting.

Salaries Payable Salaries Expense
12,000 Beg. balance

Cash paid 150,000
? Salaries expense ?

18,000 End. balance

The debit to salaries expense and credit to salaries payable must have been $156,000 to
balance the salaries payable account.

For another example using T-accounts, assume that the amount of cash collected from
customers during the year was $220,000, and you know that accounts receivable at the
beginning of the year was $45,000 and $33,000 at the end of the year. You can use T-accounts
to determine that sales revenue for the year must have been $208,000, the necessary debit to
accounts receivable and credit to sales revenue to balance the accounts receivable account.

Accounts Receivable Sales Revenue
Beg. balance 45,000
Credit sales ? ?  Credit sales

220,000 Cash collections

End. balance 33,000

Now suppose that, on occasion, customers pay in advance of receiving a product or ser-
vice. Recall from our previous discussion of adjusting entries that this event creates a lia-
bility called deferred revenue. Assume the same facts in the previous example except you
also determine that deferred revenues were $10,000 and $7,000 at the beginning and end
of the year, respectively. A $3,000 decrease in deferred revenues means that the company
recognized an additional $3,000 in sales revenue for which the cash had been collected in a
previous year. So, sales revenue for the year must have been $211,000, the $208,000 deter-
mined in the previous example plus the $3,000 decrease in deferred revenue.

[lustration 2—18 provides another example of converting from cash-basis net income to
accrual-basis net income.

Notice a pattern in the adjustments to cash-basis net income. When converting from
cash-basis to accrual-basis income, we add increases and deduct decreases in assets. For
example, an increase in accounts receivable means that the company recognized more
revenue than cash collected, requiring the addition to cash-basis income. Conversely, we
add decreases and deduct increases in accrued liabilities. For example, a decrease in interest
payable means that the company incurred less interest expense than the cash interest it paid,
requiring the addition to cash-basis income. These adjustments are summarized in
[lustration 2-19.

Most companies keep their books on an accrual basis.” A more important conversion for
these companies is from the accrual basis to the cash basis. This conversion, essential for
the preparation of the statement of cash flows, is discussed and illustrated in Chapters 4

"Generally accepted accounting principles require the use of the accrual basis. Some small, nonpublic companies might use the cash
basis in preparing their financial statements as an other basis of accounting.

Most companies must
convert from an accrual
basis to a cash basis when
preparing the statement of
cash flows.
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"lUS"ﬂ"ﬂn 2 ]H The Krinard Cleaning Services Company maintains its records on the cash basis, with one
Cash to Accrual exception. The company reports equipment as an asset and records depreciation expense
on the equipment. During 2021, Krinard collected $165,000 from customers, paid $92,000 in
operating expenses, and recorded $10,000 in depreciation expense, resulting in net income
of $63,000. The owner has asked you to convert this $63,000 in net income to full accrual
net income. You are able to determine the following information about accounts receivable,
prepaid expenses, accrued liabilities, and deferred revenues:
January 1, 2021 December 31, 2021
Accounts receivable $16,000 $25,000
Prepaid expenses 7,000 4,000
Accrued liabilities 2,100 1,400
(for operating expenses)
Deferred revenues 3,000 4,200
Accrual net income is $68,500, determined as follows:
Cash-basis net income $63,000
Add: Increase in accounts receivable 9,000
Deduct: Decrease in prepaid expenses (3,000)
Add: Decrease in accrued liabilities 700
Deduct: Increase in deferred revenues (1,200)
Accrual-basis net income $ 68,500
\_
|||lJSIrEIII[]n 2 ]g Converting Cash-Basis Income to Accrual-Basis Income h
Converting (_:aSh'BaSis to Increases Decreases
Accrual-Basis Income
Assets Add Deduct
L Liabilities Deduct Add

and 21. The lessons learned here, though, will help you with that conversion. For example,
if sales revenue for the period is $120,000 and beginning and ending accounts receivable
are $20,000 and $24,000, respectively, how much cash did the company collect from its
customers during the period? The answer is $116,000. An increase in accounts receivable
of $4,000 means that the company collected $4,000 less from customers than accrual sales
revenue, and cash-basis income is $4,000 less than accrual-basis income.

Financial Reporting Case Solution

1. What purpose do adjusting entries serve? (p. 64) Adjusting entries help ensure that
all revenues are recognized in the period goods or services are transferred to customers,
regardless of when cash is received. In this instance, for example, $13,000 cash has been
received for services that haven’t yet been performed. Also, adjusting entries enable a
company to recognize all expenses incurred during a period, regardless of when cash
is paid. Without depreciation, the friends’ cost of using the equipment is not taken into
account. Conversely, without adjustment, the cost of rent is overstated by $3,000 paid in
advance for part of next year’s rent.

With adjustments, we get an accrual income statement that provides a more com-
plete measure of a company’s operating performance and a better measure for predict-
ing future operating cash flows. Similarly, the balance sheet provides a more complete
assessment of assets and liabilities as sources of future cash receipts and disbursements.

©goodluz/123RF
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2. What year-end adjustments are needed to revise the income statement? Did your
friends do as well their first year as they thought? (p. 64) Three year-end adjusting
entries are needed:

1. Depreciation expense ($80,000 =+ 5 years) 16,000

Accumulated depreciation 16,000
2. Prepaid rent [$500 x 6 months (July—Dec.)] 3,000

Rent expense 3,000
3. Consulting revenue 13,000

Deferred consulting revenue 13,000

No, your friends did not fare as well as their cash-based statement would have indicated.
With appropriate adjustments, their net income is actually only $20,000:

Consulting revenue ($96,000 — $13,000) $83,000
Operating expenses:

Salaries expense $32,000

Rent expense ($9,000 — $3,000) 6,000

Supplies expense 4,800

Utilities expense 3,000

Advertising expense 1,200

Depreciation expense 16,000 63,000
Net income $20,000 °

The Bottom Line

LO2-1

LO2-2

LO2-3

LO2-4

LO2-5

LO2-6

LO2-7

The accounting equation underlies the process used to capture the effect of economic events. The equation
(Assets = Liabilities + Owners’ Equity) implies an equality between the total economic resources of an entity
(its assets) and the total claims against the entity (liabilities and equity). It also implies that each economic event
affecting this equation will have a dual effect because resources always must equal claims. (p. 48)

The accounting processing cycle is the process used to identify, analyze, record, and summarize transac-
tions and prepare financial statements. (p. 51)

After determining the dual effect of external events on the accounting equation, the transaction is recorded
in a journal. A journal is a chronological list of transactions in debit/credit form. (p. 55)

The next step in the processing cycle is to periodically transfer, or post, the debit and credit information
from the journal to individual general ledger accounts. A general ledger is simply a collection of all of
the company’s various accounts. Each account provides a summary of the effects of all events and trans-
actions on that individual account. The process of entering items from the journal to the general ledger is
called posting. An unadjusted trial balance is then prepared. (p. 60)

The next step in the processing cycle is to record the effect of internal events on the accounting equation.
These transactions are commonly referred to as adjusting entries. Adjusting entries can be classified into
three types: (1) prepayments, (2) accruals, and (3) estimates. Prepayments are transactions in which the
cash flow precedes expense or revenue recognition. Accruals involve transactions where the cash outflow
or inflow takes place in a period subsequent to expense or revenue recognition. Estimates for items such
as future bad debts on receivables often are required to comply with the accrual accounting model. (p. 63)

Adjusting entries are recorded in the general journal and posted to the ledger accounts at the end of any
period when financial statements must be prepared for external use. After these entries are posted to the
general ledger accounts, an adjusted trial balance is prepared. (p. 64)

The adjusted trial balance is used to prepare the financial statements. The basic financial statements are:
(1) the income statement, (2) the statement of comprehensive income, (3) the balance sheet, (4) the state-
ment of cash flows, and (5) the statement of shareholders’ equity. The purpose of the income statement
is to summarize the profit-generating activities of the company that occurred during a particular period
of time. A company also must report its other comprehensive income (OCI) or loss items either in a sin-
gle, continuous statement or in a separate statement of comprehensive income. In the single-statement
approach, net income is a subtotal within the statement followed by these OCI items, culminating in a
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final total of comprehensive income. In the two-statement approach, a company presents an income state-
ment immediately followed by a statement of comprehensive income. The statement of comprehensive
income begins with net income as the first component followed by OCI items to arrive at comprehensive
income. The balance sheet presents the financial position of the company on a particular date. The state-
ment of cash flows discloses the events that caused cash to change during the reporting period. The state-
ment of shareholders’ equity discloses the sources of the changes in the various permanent shareholders’
equity accounts that occurred during the period. (p. 72)

At the end of the fiscal year, a final step in the accounting processing cycle, closing, is required. The
closing process serves a dual purpose: (1) the temporary accounts (revenues, expenses. and dividends)
are reduced to zero balances, ready to measure activity in the upcoming accounting period, and (2) these
temporary account balances are closed (transferred) to retained earnings to reflect the changes that have
occurred in that account during the period. After the entries are posted to the general ledger accounts, a
post-closing trial balance is prepared. (p. 76)

Cash-basis accounting produces a measure called net operating cash flow. This measure is the difference
between cash receipts and cash disbursements during a reporting period from transactions related to pro-
viding goods and services to customers. On the other hand, the accrual-accounting model measures an
entity’s accomplishments and resource sacrifices during the period, regardless of when cash is received or
paid. Accountants sometimes are called upon to convert cash-basis financial statements to accrual-basis
financial statements, particularly for small businesses. (p. 80) @

A worksheet often is used to organize the accounting information needed to prepare adjusting
and closing entries and the financial statements. It is an informal tool only and is not part of
the accounting system. There are many different ways to design and use worksheets. We will
illustrate a representative method using the financial information for the Dress Right Clothing
Corporation presented in the chapter. Software such Excel facilitates the use of worksheets.
Ilustration 2A—1 presents the completed worksheet. The worksheet is utilized in
conjunction with Step 5 in the processing cycle, preparation of an unadjusted trial balance.

|||US]TEIIIUH ZA_] Worksheet, Dress Right Clothing Corporation, July 31, 2021
Source: Microsoft Excel 2007

A B € D E F G H | i K
Dress Right Clothing Corporation, July 31, 2021
Unadjusted Trial Bal Entries | Adjusted Trial Bal Income Bal Sheet
Account Titles Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.

Cash 68,500 68,500 68,500
Accounts receivable 2,000 2,000 2000
Supplies 2,000 {1 BOD 1,200 1,200
Prepaid Rent 24,000 (2) 2000 22000 22,000
Imventary 33,000 36.000 35,000
COfice 12,000 12.000 12,000
A o A 3 200 200 200
Accounts payable 35,000 35,000 35,000
Holes payable 40,000 40,000 A0.000
Dreferrad rent revenus 1,000{{4) 250 750 750
Sabries payable [ |5)  E500 500 5 500
16 | Interest payable a (5) 333 333 333
17 | Common stock 60,000 60000
18 _Retained earnings Q o 1] (4]
19 | Sales reverue 38500 38,500
20 | Rent reverue a (4) 250 250 250
21 | Cost of goods sold
22 Galarnies expense 5,500
23 | Supplies expanse ] {1} BOO 800 BOD
24 Rent expanse 0 {2) 2,000
25 | Deprecialion éxpensa 0 [&]] 200 200 200
26 | Interest expense 0 1] 333 333 333
27| D 4 1,000 1.000 1,000
28 Totak 180533

DTSRRI E B S e e

30 Metincome 2017
£} | Totaks

Sheet] Cxl [
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Step 1. The account titles as they appear in the general ledger are entered in column A
and the balances of these accounts are copied onto columns B and C, titled Unadjusted Trial
Balance. The accounts are copied in the same order as they appear in the general ledger,
which usually is assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity permanent accounts, revenues, and
expenses. The debit and credit columns are totaled to make sure that they balance. This pro-
cedure is repeated for each set of columns in the worksheet to check for accuracy.

Step 2. The end-of-period adjusting entries are determined and entered directly on the
worksheet in columns D and E, titled Adjusting Entries. The adjusting entries for Dress
Right Clothing Corporation were discussed in detail in the chapter and exhibited in general
journal form in Illustration 2—11. You should refer back to this illustration and trace each of
the entries to the worksheet. For worksheet purposes, the entries have been numbered from
(1) to (6) for easy referencing.

For example, entry (1) records the cost of supplies used during the month of July with a
debit to supplies expense and a credit to supplies for $800. A (1) is placed next to the $800 in
the debit column in the supplies expense row as well as next to the $800 in the credit column
in the supplies row. This allows us to more easily reconstruct the entry for general journal
purposes and locate errors if the debit and credit columns do not balance.

Step 3. The effects of the adjusting entries are added to or deducted from the account
balances listed in the Unadjusted Trial Balance columns and copied across to columns F
and G, titled Adjusted Trial Balance. For example, supplies had an unadjusted balance of
$2,000. Adjusting entry (1) credited this account by $800, reducing the balance to $1,200.

Step 4. The balances in the temporary retained earnings accounts, revenues and expenses,
are transferred to columns H and I, titled Income Statement. The difference between the total
debits and credits in these columns is equal to net income or net loss. In this case, because
credits (revenues) exceed debits (expenses), a net income of $2,917 results. To balance the
debits and credits in this set of columns, a $2,917 debit entry is made in the line labeled Net
income.

Step 5. The balances in the permanent accounts are transferred to columns J and K,
titled Balance Sheet. To keep the debits and credits equal in the worksheet, a $2,917 credit
must be entered to offset the $2,917 debit entered in step 4 and labeled as net income.
This credit represents the fact that when the temporary revenue and expense accounts
are closed out to retained earnings, a $2,917 credit to retained earnings will result. The
credit in column K, therefore, represents an increase in retained earnings for the period,
that is, net income. The balance in the temporary account, dividends, is also transferred
to column J, titled Balance Sheet. This debit represents the fact that when the dividends
account is closed to retained earnings, the $2,917 balance in that account resulting from
net income will be reduced by the $1,000 of net income distributed to shareholders as a
dividend.

After the worksheet is completed, the financial statements can be prepared directly from
columns H-K. The financial statements for Dress Right Clothing Corporation are shown in
[lustrations 2—13 through 2—16 . The accountant must remember to then record the adjust-
ing entries and the closing entries in the general journal and post them to the general led-
ger accounts. An adjusted trial balance should then be prepared identical to the one in the
worksheet, which is used to prepare the financial statements. At fiscal year-end, the income
statement columns can then be used to prepare closing entries. After that, a post-closing trial
balance is prepared to wipe the slate clean for the next reporting period. @

Accountants sometimes use reversing entries at the beginning of a reporting period.
These optional entries remove the effects of some of the adjusting entries recorded at the
end of the previous reporting period for the sole purpose of simplifying journal entries
recorded during the new period. If the accountant does use reversing entries, these entries
are recorded in the general journal and posted to the general ledger accounts on the first
day of the new period.
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The first step is to enter
account titles in column
A and the unadjusted
account balances in
columns B and C.

The second step is to
determine end-of-period
adjusting entries and
enter them in columns D
and E.

The third step adds or
deducts the effects of the
adjusting entries on the
account balances.

The fourth step is to
transfer the temporary
retained earnings account
balances to columns H
and .

The fifth step is to transfer
the balances in the
permanent accounts to
columns J and K.
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Reversing entries are used most often with accruals. For example, the following adjusting
entry for accrued salaries was recorded at the end of July 2021 for the Dress Right Clothing
Corporation in the chapter:

July 31
SAlAMNES EXPENSE ...ttt ettt s s ss s s s esesesasnnnes
Salaries PAYADIE ..o 5,500
If reversing entries are not used, when the salaries actually are paid in August, the accoun-
tant needs to remember to debit salaries payable and not salaries expense.
The account balances before and after salary payment can be seen below with the use of
T-accounts.

Salaries Payable
5,500 Bal. July 31

Salaries Expense
10,500

Bal. July 31

Cash payment 5,500

—-0- Balance

If the accountant for Dress Right employs reversing entries, the following entry is
recorded on August 1, 2021:

August 1
Salaries payable. ............
Salaries expense

5,500

This entry reduces the salaries payable account to zero and reduces the salary expense
account by $5,500. When salaries actually are paid in August, the debit is to salaries expense,
thus increasing the account by $5,500.

Salaries Expense Salaries Payable

Bal. July 31 10,500 5,500 Bal. July 31
5,500 (Reversing entry) 5,500

Cash payment 5,500

Balance 10,500 -0- Balance

We can see that balances in the accounts after cash payment is made are identical. The
use of reversing entries for accruals, which is optional, simply allows cash payments or
cash receipts to be entered directly into the temporary expense or revenue accounts without
regard to the accruals recorded at the end of the previous period.

Reversing entries also can be used with prepayments and deferred revenues. For example,
earlier in the chapter Dress Right Clothing Corporation used the following entry to record
the purchase of supplies on July 6:

July 6
SUPPIIES vttt s st s e s e e s e s esesesnnnnnes
2,000

If reversing entries are not used, an adjusting entry is needed at the end of July to record
the amount of supplies consumed during the period. In the illustration, Dress Right recorded
this adjusting entry at the end of July:

July 31
SUPPIIES EXPENSE ...ttt ss s st ess e e s esesesesannnes
SUPPIIES ..ttt ettt ettt aens

800
800
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T-accounts help us visualize the account balances before and after the adjusting entry.

Supplies Supplies Expense

Review of the Accounting Process

(Cash payment) 2,000

800 (Adjusting entry) 800

Bal. July 31 1,200 Bal. July 31 800

If the accountant for Dress Right employs reversing entries, the purchase of supplies is
recorded as follows:

July 6
SUPPIIES EXPENSE ..ottt sttt enas 2,000

2,000

The adjusting entry then is used to establish the balance in the supplies account at $1,200
(amount of supplies still on hand at the end of the month) and reduce the supplies expense
account from the amount purchased to the amount used.

July 31
Supplies (balance 0N hand) ..o
Supplies expense ($2,000 — $800).......c.ccouerrreereerreerereereereereeeesesenrnns

1,200
1,200

T-accounts make the process easier to see before and after the adjusting entry.

Supplies Supplies Expense
Cash payment 2,000
1,200 (Adjusting entry) 1,200
Bal. July 31 1,200 Bal. July 31 800

Notice that the ending balances in both accounts are the same as when reversing entries
are not used. Up to this point, this approach is the alternate approach to recording prepay-
ments discussed in a previous section of this chapter. The next step is an optional expediency.

On August 1, the following reversing entry can be recorded:

August 1
SUPPIHES EXPENSE ..ottt ettt enas
SUPPIIES vttt ettt ettt et ae et ens

1,200
1,200

This entry reduces the supplies account to zero and increases the supplies expense
account to $2,000. Subsequent purchases would then be entered into the supplies expense
account and future adjusting entries would record the amount of supplies still on hand at the
end of the period. At the end of the fiscal year, the supplies expense account, along with all
other temporary accounts, is closed to retained earnings.

Using reversing entries for prepayments, which is optional, simply allows cash payments to
be entered directly into the temporary expense accounts without regard to whether only the cur-
rent, or both the current and future periods, are benefitted by the expenditure. Adjustments are
then recorded at the end of the period to reflect the amount of the unexpired benefit (asset). ®

Subsidiary Ledgers

The general ledger contains what are referred to as control accounts. In addition to the
general ledger, a subsidiary ledger contains a group of subsidiary accounts associated with
a particular general ledger control account. For example, there will be a subsidiary ledger for
accounts receivable that keeps track of the increases and decreases in the account receivable
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balance for each of the company’s customers purchasing goods or services on credit. After
all of the postings are made from the appropriate journals, the balance in the accounts
receivable control account should equal the sum of the balances in the accounts receivable
subsidiary ledger accounts. Subsidiary ledgers also are used for accounts payable, property
and equipment, investments, and other accounts.

Special Journals

An actual accounting system employs many different types of journals. The purpose of each
journal is to record, in chronological order, the dual effect of a transaction in debit/credit
form. The chapter used the general journal format to record each transaction. However, even
for small companies with relatively few transactions, the general journal is used to record
only a few types of transactions.?

The majority of transactions are recorded in special journals. These journals capture
the dual effect of repetitive types of transactions. For example, cash receipts are recorded
in a cash receipts journal, cash disbursements in a cash disbursements journal, credit
sales in a sales journal, and the purchase of merchandise on account in a purchases
journal.

Special journals simplify the recording process in the following ways:

1. Journalizing the effects of a particular transaction is made more efficient through the
use of specifically designed formats.

2. Individual transactions are not posted to the general ledger accounts but are accumulated
in the special journals and a summary posting is made on a periodic basis.

3. The responsibility for recording journal entries for the repetitive types of transactions is
placed on individuals who have specialized training in handling them.

The concepts of subsidiary ledgers and special journals are illustrated using the sales
journal and the cash receipts journal.

Sales Journal

The purpose of the sales journal is to record all credit sales. Cash sales are recorded in the
cash receipts journal. Every entry in the sales journal has exactly the same effect on the
accounts; the sales revenue account is credited and the accounts receivable control account
is debited. Therefore, there is only one column needed to record the debit/credit effect
of these transactions. Other columns are needed to capture information for updating the
accounts receivable subsidiary ledger. Illustration 2C-1 presents the sales journal for Dress
Right Clothing Corporation for the month of August 2021.

Page 1
Accounts Cr. Sales
Receivable Sales Revenue (400)
Subsidiary Invoice Dr. Accounts
Date Account No. Customer Name No. Receivable (110)
2021
Aug. 5 801 Leland High School 10-221 1,500
9 812 Mr. John Smith 10-222 200
18 813 Greystone School 10-223 825
22 803 Ms. Barbara Jones 10-224 120
29 805 Hart Middle School 10-225 650
3,295
\_

8 For example, end-of-period adjusting entries would be recorded in the general journal.
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During the month of August, the company made five credit sales, totaling $3,295. This amount
is posted as a debit to the accounts receivable control account, account number 110, and a credit
to the sales revenue account, account number 400. The T-accounts for accounts receivable and
sales revenue appear below. The reference SJ1 refers to page 1 of the sales journal.

General Ledger

Accounts Receivable 110 Sales Revenue 400
July 31 Balance 2,000
Aug. 31 SJ1 3,295 3,295 Aug. 31 SJ1

In a computerized accounting system, as each transaction is recorded in the sales journal,
the subsidiary ledger accounts for the customer involved will automatically be updated. For
example, the first credit sale of the month is to Leland High School for $1,500. The sales
invoice number for this sale is 10-221 and the customer’s subsidiary account number is 801.
As this transaction is entered, the subsidiary account 801 for Leland High School is debited
for $1,500

Accounts Receivable Subsidiary Ledger

Leland High School 801
August 5 SJ1 1,500

As cash is collected from this customer, the cash receipts journal records the transaction
with a credit to the accounts receivable control account and a debit to cash. At the same
time, the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger account number 801 also is credited. After
the postings are made from the special journals, the balance in the accounts receivable con-
trol account should equal the sum of the balances in the accounts receivable subsidiary
ledger accounts.

Cash Receipts Journal

The purpose of the cash receipts journal is to record all cash receipts, regardless of the
source. Every transaction recorded in this journal produces a debit entry to the cash account
with the credit to various other accounts. Illustration 2C-2 shows a cash receipts journal
using transactions of the Dress Right Clothing Corporation for the month of August 2021.

Page 1
Cr. Cr.
Dr. Accounts Sales
Explanation or Cash Receivable Revenue Cr. Other
Date Account Name (100) (110) (400) Other Accounts
2021
Aug. 7 Cash sale 500 500
11 Borrowed cash 10,000 10,000 Notes
payable
(220)
17 Leland High 750 750
School
20 Cash sale 300 300
25 Mr. John Smith 200 200
11,750 950 800 10,000
L — —

Because every transaction results in a debit to the cash account, No. 100, a column is pro-
vided for that account. At the end of August, an $11,750 debit is posted to the general ledger
cash account with the source labeled CR1, cash receipts journal, page 1.

All cash receipts are
recorded in the cash
receipts journal.

lustration 2L—2

Cash Receipts Journal,
Dress Right Clothing
Corporation, August 2021
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Because cash and credit sales are common, separate columns are provided for these
accounts. At the end of August, a $950 credit is posted to the accounts receivable general
ledger account, No. 110, and an $800 credit is posted to the sales revenue account, No. 400.
Two additional credit columns are provided for uncommon cash receipt transactions, one for
the credit amount and one for the account being credited. We can see that in August, Dress
Right borrowed $10,000 requiring a credit to the notes payable account, No. 220.

In addition to the postings to the general ledger control accounts, each time an entry is
recorded in the accounts receivable column, a credit is posted to the accounts receivable
subsidiary ledger account for the customer making the payment. For example, on August 17,
Leland High School paid $750 on account. The subsidiary ledger account for Leland High
School is credited for $750.

Accounts Receivable Subsidiary Ledger
Leland High School 801
August 5 SJ1 1,500

750 August 17 CR1 @

Questions For Review of Key Topics

Q 2-1 Explain the difference between external events and internal events. Give an example of each type of event.

Q2-2 Each economic event or transaction will have a dual effect on financial position. Explain what is meant by this
dual effect.

Q2-3 What is the purpose of a journal? What is the purpose of a general ledger?

Q2-4 Explain the difference between permanent accounts and temporary accounts. Why does an accounting system
include both types of accounts?

Q2-5 Describe how debits and credits affect assets, liabilities, and permanent owners’ equity accounts.

Q 2-6 Describe how debits and credits affect temporary owners’ equity accounts.

Q 2-7 What is the first step in the accounting processing cycle? What role do source documents fulfill in this step?
Q2-8 Describe what is meant by transaction analysis.

Q2-9 Describe what is meant by posting, the fourth step in the processing cycle.

Q 2-10 Describe the events that correspond to the following two journal entries:

T INVENEOTY ettt ettt s s sese s e e sesesnnens 20,000

ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ...ttt 20,000
2. ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIE ...ttt 30,000

SAIES FEVENUE ...ttt ettt sessesesanenenes 30,000
COSt Of OOAS SOIU ...ttt esnaenes 18,000

INVENTOIY .ttt 18,000

Q 2-11  What is an unadjusted trial balance? An adjusted trial balance?
Q 2-12  Define adjusting entries and discuss their purpose.

Q 2-13  Define closing entries and their purpose.

Q 2-14  Define prepaid expenses and provide at least two examples.

Q 2-15 Deferred revenues represent liabilities recorded when cash is received from customers in advance of providing
a good or service. What adjusting journal entry is required at the end of a period to recognize the amount of
deferred revenues that were recognized during the period?

Q 2-16  Define accrued liabilities. What adjusting journal entry is required to record accrued liabilities?
Q 2-17  Describe the purpose of each of the five primary financial statements.

Q 2-18 [Based on Appendix A] What is the purpose of a worksheet? In a columnar worksheet similar to Illustration
2A-1, what would be the result of incorrectly transferring the balance in a liability account to column I, the
credit column under Income Statement?

Q 2-19 [Based on Appendix B] Define reversing entries and discuss their purpose.

Q 2-20 [Based on Appendix C] What is the purpose of special journals? In what ways do they simplify the recording
process?

Q 2-21 [Based on Appendix C] Explain the difference between the general ledger and a subsidiary ledger.
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The Marchetti Soup Company entered into the following transactions during the month of June: (1) purchased
inventory on account for $165,000 (assume Marchetti uses a perpetual inventory system); (2) paid $40,000

in salaries to employees for work performed during the month; (3) sold merchandise that cost $120,000 to
credit customers for $200,000; (4) collected $180,000 in cash from credit customers; and (5) paid suppliers

of inventory $145,000. Analyze each transaction and show the effect of each on the accounting equation for a
corporation.

Prepare journal entries for each of the transactions listed in BE 2-1.

Post the journal entries prepared in BE 2-2 to T-accounts. Assume that the opening balances in each of the
accounts is zero except for cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable that had opening balances of
$65,000, $43,000, and $22,000, respectively.

Prepare journal entries for each of the following transactions for a company that has a fiscal year-end of
December 31: (1) on October 1, $12,000 was paid for a one-year fire insurance policy; (2) on June 30 the com-
pany advanced its chief financial officer $10,000; principal and interest at 6% on the note are due in one year;
and (3) equipment costing $60,000 was purchased at the beginning of the year for cash.

Prepare the necessary adjusting entries at December 31 for each of the items listed in BE 2—4. Depreciation on
the equipment is $12,000 per year.

If the adjusting entries prepared in BE 2-5 were not recorded, would net income be higher or lower and by how
much?

Prepare the necessary adjusting entries at its year-end of December 31, 2021, for the Jamesway Corporation for

each of the following situations. No adjusting entries were recorded during the year.

1. On December 10, 2021, Jamesway received a $4,000 payment from a customer for services begun on that
date and which were completed by December 31, 2021. Deferred service revenue was credited.

2. On December 1, 2021, the company paid a local radio station $2,000 for 40 radio ads that were to be aired,
20 per month, throughout December and January. Prepaid advertising was debited.

3. Employee salaries for the month of December totaling $16,000 will be paid on January 7, 2022.

4. On August 31, 2021, Jamesway borrowed $60,000 from a local bank. A note was signed with principal and
8% interest to be paid on August 31, 2022.

If none of the adjusting journal entries prepared in BE 2—7 were recorded, would assets, liabilities, and share-
holders’ equity on the 12/31/2021 balance sheet be higher or lower and by how much?

Prepare the necessary adjusting entries for Johnstone Controls at the end of its December 31, 2021, fiscal year-

end for each of the following situations. No adjusting entries were recorded during the year.

1. On March 31, 2021, the company lent $50,000 to another company. A note was signed with principal and
interest at 6% payable on March 31, 2022.

2. On September 30, 2021, the company paid its landlord $12,000 representing rent for the period September
30, 2021, to September 30, 2022. Johnstone debited prepaid rent.

3. Supplies on hand at the end of 2020 totaled $3,000. Additional supplies costing $5,000 were purchased
during 2021 and debited to the supplies account. At the end of 2021, supplies costing $4,200 remain on hand.

4. Vacation pay of $6,000 for the year that had been earned by employees was not paid or recorded. The com-
pany records vacation pay as salaries expense.
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The following account balances were taken from the 2021 adjusted trial balance of the Bowler Corporation: sales
revenue, $325,000; cost of goods sold, $168,000; salaries expense, $45,000; rent expense, $20,000; depreciation
expense, $30,000; and miscellaneous expense, $12,000. Prepare an income statement for 2021.

The following account balances were taken from the 2021 post-closing trial balance of the Bowler Corporation:
cash, $5,000; accounts receivable, $10,000; inventory, $16,000; equipment, $100,000; accumulated depreciation,
$40,000; accounts payable, $20,000; salaries payable, $12,000; retained earnings, $9,000; and common stock,
$50,000. Prepare a 12/31/2021 balance sheet.

The year-end adjusted trial balance of the Timmons Tool and Die Corporation included the following account
balances: retained earnings, $220,000; dividends, $12,000; sales revenue, $850,000; cost of goods sold,
$580,000; salaries expense, $180,000; rent expense, $40,000; and interest expense, $15,000. Prepare the neces-
sary closing entries.

Newman Consulting Company maintains its records on a cash basis. During 2021 the following cash flows were
recorded: cash received for services rendered to clients, $420,000; and cash paid for salaries, utilities, and advertising,
$240,000, $35,000, and $12,000, respectively. You also determine that customers owed the company $52,000 and
$60,000 at the beginning and end of the year, respectively, and that the company owed the utility company $6,000
and $4,000 at the beginning and end of the year, respectively. Determine accrual net income for the year.

@ connect

The following transactions occurred during March 2021 for the Wainwright Corporation. The company owns
and operates a wholesale warehouse.
1. TIssued 30,000 shares of common stock in exchange for $300,000 in cash.

2. Purchased equipment at a cost of $40,000. $10,000 cash was paid and a note payable to the seller was signed
for the balance owed.

Purchased inventory on account at a cost of $90,000. The company uses the perpetual inventory system.
Credit sales for the month totaled $120,000. The cost of the goods sold was $70,000.
Paid $5,000 in rent on the warehouse building for the month of March.

AN

Paid $6,000 to an insurance company for fire and liability insurance for a one-year period beginning April 1,
2021.

Paid $70,000 on account for the merchandise purchased in 3.

~

Collected $55,000 from customers on account.

© %o

. Recorded depreciation expense of $1,000 for the month on the equipment.

Analyze each transaction and show the effect of each on the accounting equation for a corporation.
Example:

Assets = Liabilities + Paid-In Capital + Retained Earnings
1. +300,000 (cash) + 300,000 (common stock)

Prepare journal entries to record each of the transactions listed in E 2—1.

Post the journal entries prepared in E 2-2 to T-accounts. Assume that the opening balances in each of the
accounts is zero. Prepare a trial balance from the ending account balances.

The following transactions occurred during the month of June 2021 for the Stridewell Corporation. The company
owns and operates a retail shoe store.
1. Issued 100,000 shares of common stock in exchange for $500,000 cash.

2. Purchased office equipment at a cost of $100,000. $40,000 was paid in cash and a note payable was signed for
the balance owed.

3. Purchased inventory on account at a cost of $200,000. The company uses the perpetual inventory system.
4. Credit sales for the month totaled $280,000. The cost of the goods sold was $140,000.
5. Paid $6,000 in rent on the store building for the month of June.
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. Paid $3,000 to an insurance company for fire and liability insurance for a one-year period beginning June 1, 2021.

. Collected $55,000 from customers on account.

6
7. Paid $120,000 on account for the merchandise purchased in 3.
8
9

. Paid shareholders a cash dividend of $5,000.
10. Recorded depreciation expense of $2,000 for the month on the office equipment.

11. Recorded the amount of prepaid insurance that expired for the month.

Prepare journal entries to record each of the transactions and events listed above.

Listed below are several terms and phrases associated with the accounting processing cycle. Pair each item from
List A (by letter) with the item from List B that is most appropriately associated with it.

List A

List B

o]

o

10.
11.

. Source documents
. Transaction analysis
. Journal

. Posting
. Unadjusted trial balance
. Adjusting entries

. Adjusted trial balance
. Financial statements
. Closing entries

Post-closing trial balance
Worksheet

—

. Record of the dual effect of a transaction in debit/credit form.

. Internal events recorded at the end of a reporting period.
. Primary means of disseminating information to external decision

makers.

. To zero out the temporary accounts.
. Determine the dual effect on the accounting equation.

List of accounts and their balances before recording adjusting
entries.

. List of accounts and their balances after recording closing entries.
. List of accounts and their balances after recording adjusting entries.
. A means of organizing information: not part of the formal

accounting system.

. Transferring balances from the journal to the ledger.
. Used to identify and process external transactions.

Indicate whether a debit will increase (I) or decrease (D) each of the following accounts listed in items 1 through 15.

Increase (l) or

Decrease (D) Account
1. Inventory
2. Depreciation expense
3. Accounts payable
4, Prepaid rent
5. Sales revenue
6. Common stock
7. Salaries payable
8. Cost of goods sold
9. Utilities expense
10. Equipment
11. Accounts receivable
12. Utilities payable
13. Rent expense
14. Interest expense
15. Interest revenue

Some of the ledger accounts for the Sanderson Hardware Company are numbered and listed below. For each of
the October 2021 transactions numbered 1 through 10 below, indicate by account number which accounts should
be debited and which should be credited when preparing journal entries. The company uses the perpetual inven-
tory system.

(1) Accounts payable

(4) Accounts receivable

(7) Supplies expense
(10) Retained earnings
(13) Deferred sales revenue (14) Rent expense
(16) Cost of goods sold

(19) Dividends

(2) Equipment

(5) Cash

(8) Prepaid rent
(11) Notes payable

(17) Salaries expense

(3) Inventory

(6) Supplies

(9) Sales revenue
(12) Common stock
(15) Salaries payable
(18) Interest expense

Account(s) Debited Account(s) Credited

Example: Purchased inventory for cash

3 5
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Paid a cash dividend.

Paid rent for the next three months.

Sold goods to customers on account.

Purchased inventory on account.

Purchased supplies for cash.

Issued common stock in exchange for cash.

Collected cash from customers for goods sold in 3.

Borrowed cash from a bank and signed a note.

At the end of October, recorded the amount of supplies that had been used during the month.
Received cash for advance payment from customer.

E 2-8 Prepare the necessary adjusting entries at December 31, 2021, for the Falwell Company for each of the follow-
Adjusting entries ing situations. Assume that no financial statements were prepared during the year and no adjusting entries were
® LO2-6 recorded.

1.

A three-year fire insurance policy was purchased on July 1, 2021, for $12,000. The company debited insur-
ance expense for the entire amount.

2. Depreciation on equipment totaled $15,000 for the year.

3. Employee salaries of $18,000 for the month of December will be paid in early January 2022.

4. On November 1, 2021, the company borrowed $200,000 from a bank. The note requires principal and inter-
est at 12% to be paid on April 30, 2022.

5. On December 1, 2021, the company received $3,000 in cash from another company that is renting office
space in Falwell’s building. The payment, representing rent for December, January, and February was cred-
ited to deferred rent revenue.

6. In the previous transaction, suppose the company credited rent revenue rather than deferred rent revenue for
$3,000 on December 1, 2021. What would be the appropriate adjusting entry at December 31, 20217

E 2-9 Prepare the necessary adjusting entries at December 31, 2021, for the Microchip Company for each of the fol-
Adjusting entries lowing situations. Assume that no financial statements were prepared during the year and no adjusting entries
® LO2-6 were recorded.

1. On October 1, 2021, Microchip lent $90,000 to another company. A note was signed with principal and 8%
interest to be paid on September 30, 2022.

2. On November 1, 2021, the company paid its landlord $6,000 representing rent for the months of November
through January. Prepaid rent was debited.

3. On August 1, 2021, collected $12,000 in advance rent from another company that is renting a portion of

Microchip’s factory. The $12,000 represents one year’s rent and the entire amount was credited to deferred
rent revenue.

4. Depreciation on office equipment is $4,500 for the year.

5. Vacation pay for the year that had been earned by employees but not paid to them or recorded is $8,000. The
company records vacation pay as salaries expense.
6. Microchip began the year with $2,000 in its asset account, supplies. During the year, $6,500 in supplies
were purchased and debited to supplies. At year-end, supplies costing $3,250 remain on hand.
E 2-10 The Eldorado Corporation’s controller prepares adjusting entries only at the end of the reporting year. The follow-
Adjusting entries;  ing adjusting entries were prepared on December 31, 2021:
solving for Debit Credit
unknowns
® LO2-5,L02-6 Interest expense 7,200
Interest payable 7,200
Rent expense 35,000
Prepaid rent 35,000
Interest receivable 500
Interest revenue 500

Additional information:

1.

The company borrowed $120,000 on March 31, 2021. Principal and interest are due on March 31, 2022.
This note is the company’s only interest-bearing debt.

2. Rent for the year on the company’s office space is $60,000. The rent is paid in advance.

On October 31, 2021, Eldorado lent money to a customer. The customer signed a note with principal and
interest at 6% due in one year.
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2. The 2021 rent payment was made at the beginning of which month?

3. How much did Eldorado lend its customer on October 317

The Mazzanti Wholesale Food Company’s fiscal year-end is June 30. The company issues quarterly financial

95

statements requiring the company to prepare adjusting entries at the end of each quarter. Assuming all quarterly
adjusting entries were properly recorded, prepare the necessary year-end adjusting entries at the end of June 30,

2021, for the following situations.

1. On December 1, 2020, the company paid its annual fire insurance premium of $6,000 for the year beginning

December 1 and debited prepaid insurance.

2. On August 31, 2020, the company borrowed $80,000 from a local bank. The note requires principal and inter-

est at 8% to be paid on August 31, 2021.

3. Mazzanti owns a warehouse that it rents to another company. On January 1, 2021, Mazzanti collected $24,000
representing rent for the 2021 calendar year and credited deferred rent revenue.

4. Depreciation on the office building is $20,000 for the fiscal year.
5. Employee salaries for the month of June 2021 of $16,000 will be paid on July 20, 2021.

The December 31, 2021, adjusted trial balance for the Blueboy Cheese Corporation is presented below.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 21,000
Accounts receivable 300,000
Prepaid rent 10,000
Inventory 50,000
Office equipment 600,000
Accumulated depreciation 250,000
Accounts payable 60,000
Notes payable (due in six months) 60,000
Salaries payable 8,000
Interest payable 2,000
Common stock 400,000
Retained earnings 100,000
Sales revenue 800,000
Cost of goods sold 480,000
Salaries expense 120,000
Rent expense 30,000
Depreciation expense 60,000
Interest expense 4,000
Advertising expense 5,000

Totals 1,680,000 1,680,000

1. Prepare an income statement for the year ended December 31, 2021, and a classified balance sheet as of

December 31, 2021.

2. Prepare the necessary closing entries at December 31, 2021.

American Chip Corporation’s reporting year-end is December 31. The following is a partial adjusted trial

balance as of December 31, 2021.

Account Title Debits Credits
Retained earnings 80,000
Sales revenue 750,000
Interest revenue 3,000
Cost of goods sold 420,000
Salaries expense 100,000
Rent expense 15,000
Depreciation expense 30,000
Interest expense 5,000
Insurance expense 6,000

Prepare the necessary closing entries at December 31, 2021.
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Presented below is income statement information of the Schefter Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Sales revenue $492,000 Cost of goods sold 284,000
Salaries expense 80,000 Insurance expense 12,000
Interest revenue 6,000 Interest expense 4,000
Advertising expense 10,000 Income tax expense 30,000
Gain on sale of investments 8,000 Depreciation expense 20,000

Prepare the necessary closing entries at December 31, 2021.

The Righter Shoe Store Company prepares monthly financial statements for its bank. The November 30 and
December 31, 2021, trial balances contained the following account information:

Nov. 30 Dec. 31
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Supplies 1,500 3,000
Prepaid insurance 6,000 4,500
Salaries payable 10,000 15,000
Deferred rent revenue 2,000 1,000

The following information also is known:

a

b
c.
d

Lo =

. The December income statement reported $2,000 in supplies expense.

. No insurance payments were made in December.

$10,000 was paid to employees during December for salaries.

. On November 1, 2021, a tenant paid Righter $3,000 in advance rent for the period November through

January. Deferred rent revenue was credited.

‘What was the cost of supplies purchased during December?
What was the adjusting entry recorded at the end of December for prepaid insurance?
What was the adjusting entry recorded at the end of December for accrued salaries?

What was the amount of rent revenue recognized in December? What adjusting entry was recorded at the end
of December for deferred rent revenue?

The following transactions occurred during 2021 for the Beehive Honey Corporation:

Feb. 1 Borrowed $12,000 from a bank and signed a note. Principal and interest at 10% will be paid
on January 31, 2022.

Apr. 1 Paid $3,600 to an insurance company for a two-year fire insurance policy.

July 17 Purchased supplies costing $2,800 on account. The company records supplies purchased
in an asset account. At the year-end on December 31, 2021, supplies costing $1,250
remained on hand.

Nov. 1 A customer borrowed $6,000 and signed a note requiring the customer to pay principal and

8% interest on April 30, 2022.

Record each transaction in general journal form. Omit explanations.

Prepare any necessary adjusting entries at the year-end on December 31, 2021. No adjusting entries were
recorded during the year for any item.

During the course of your examination of the financial statements of the Hales Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2021, you discover the following:

a.

An insurance policy covering three years was purchased on January 1, 2021, for $6,000. The entire amount
was debited to insurance expense and no adjusting entry was recorded for this item.

. During 2021, the company received a $1,000 cash advance from a customer for merchandise to be manufactured

and shipped in 2022. The $1,000 was credited to sales revenue. No entry was recorded for the cost of merchandise.

There were no supplies listed in the balance sheet under assets. However, you discover that supplies costing
$750 were on hand at December 31.

Hales borrowed $20,000 from a local bank on October 1, 2021. Principal and interest at 12% will be paid on
September 30, 2022. No accrual was recorded for interest.

. Net income reported in the 2021 income statement is $30,000 before reflecting any of the above items.

Determine the proper amount of net income for 2021.
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Stanley and Jones Lawn Service Company (S&J) maintains its books on a cash basis. However, the company
recently borrowed $100,000 from a local bank, and the bank requires S&J to provide annual financial statements
prepared on an accrual basis. During 2021, the following cash flows were recorded:

Cash collected for: Services to customers

Cash paid for:
Salaries
Supplies
Rent
Insurance
Miscellaneous

Net operating cash flow

$320,000
$180,000
25,000
12,000
6,000

20,000 243,000

$ 77,000

You are able to determine the following information about accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, and accrued liabilities:

January 1, 2021 December 31, 2021
Accounts receivable $32,000 $27,000
Prepaid insurance -0- 2,000
Supplies 1,000 1,500
Accrued liabilities 2,400 3,400

(for miscellaneous expenses)

In addition, you learn that the bank loan was dated September 30, 2021, with principal and interest at 6% due in
one year. Depreciation on the company’s equipment is $10,000 for the year.

Prepare an accrual basis income statement for 2021. (Ignore income taxes.)

Haskins and Jones, Attorneys-at-Law, maintains its books on a cash basis. During 2021, the law firm collected
$545,000 for services rendered to its clients and paid out $412,000 in expenses. You are able to determine the

following information about accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, deferred service revenue, and accrued liabilities:

January 1, 2021

December 31, 2021

Accounts receivable
Prepaid insurance
Prepaid rent
Deferred service revenue
Accrued liabilities

(for various expenses)

$62,000
4,500
9,200
9,200
12,200

$55,000
6,000
8,200
11,000
15,600

In addition, 2021 depreciation expense on office equipment is $22,000.

Determine accrual basis net income for 2021.

The December 31, 2021, unadjusted trial balance for the Wolkstein Drug Company is presented below. December 31

is the company’s year-end reporting date.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 20,000
Accounts receivable 35,000
Prepaid rent 5,000
Inventory 50,000
Equipment 100,000
Accumulated depreciation 30,000
Accounts payable 25,000
Salaries payable -0-
Common stock 100,000
Retained earnings 29,000
Sales revenue 323,000
Cost of goods sold 180,000
Salaries expense 71,000
Rent expense 30,000
Depreciation expense -0-
Utilities expense 12,000
Advertising expense 4,000
Totals

507,000

507,000
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The following year-end adjusting entries are required:
a. Depreciation expense for the year on the equipment is $10,000.

b. Salaries at year-end should be accrued in the amount of $4,000.

1. Prepare and complete a worksheet similar to Illustration 2A—1.
2. Prepare an income statement for 2021 and a balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.

E 2-21 The employees of Xitrex, Inc., are paid each Friday. The company’s fiscal year-end is June 30, which falls on a
Reversing entries ~ Wednesday for the current year. Salaries are earned evenly throughout the five-day work week, and $10,000 will
® Appendix 2B be paid on Friday, July 2.

1. Prepare an adjusting entry to record the accrued salaries as of June 30, a reversing entry on July 1, and an
entry to record the payment of salaries on July 2.

2. Prepare journal entries to record the accrued salaries as of June 30 and the payment of salaries on July 2
assuming a reversing entry is not recorded.

E 2-22 Refer to E 2-9 and respond to the following requirements.
Reversing entries

® Appendix 2B 1. If Microchip’s accountant employed reversing entries for accruals, which adjusting entries would she likely
reverse at the beginning of the following year?

2. Prepare the adjusting entries at the end of 2021 for the adjustments you identified in requirement 1.
3. Prepare the appropriate reversing entries at the beginning of 2022.

E 2-23 The White Company’s accounting system consists of a general journal (GJ), a cash receipts journal (CR), a cash
Special journals disbursements journal (CD), a sales journal (SJ), and a purchases journal (PJ). For each of the following, indicate

@ Appendix 2C which journal should be used to record the transaction.

Transaction Journal

. Purchased merchandise on account.

. Collected an account receivable.

. Borrowed $20,000 and signed a note.

. Recorded depreciation expense.

. Purchased equipment for cash.

. Sold merchandise for cash (the sale only, not the cost of the merchandise).
. Sold merchandise on credit (the sale only, not the cost of the merchandise).
. Recorded accrued salaries payable.

. Paid employee salaries.

10. Sold equipment for cash.

11. Sold equipment on credit.

12. Paid a cash dividend to shareholders.

13. Issued common stock in exchange for cash.

14. Paid accounts payable.

ONOUILEA, WN =

©

E 2-24 The accounting system of K and M Manufacturing consists of a general journal (GJ), a cash receipts journal
Special journals (CR), a cash disbursements journal (CD), a sales journal (SJ), and a purchases journal (PJ). For each of the fol-
® Appendix 2C lowing, indicate which journal should be used to record the transaction.

Transaction

. Paid interest on a loan.

. Recorded depreciation expense.

. Purchased office equipment for cash.

. Purchased merchandise on account.

Sold merchandise on credit (the sale only, not the cost of the merchandise).
. Sold merchandise for cash (the sale only, not the cost of the merchandise).
. Paid rent.

. Recorded accrued interest payable.

. Paid advertising bill.

. Sold a factory building in exchange for a note receivable.

. Collected cash from customers on account.

. Paid employee salaries.

. Collected interest on the note receivable.
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@ connect

Halogen Laminated Products Company began business on January 1, 2021. During January, the following trans-
actions occurred:

Jan. 1

2
4

10
15

20
22
24
26
28
30

Issued common stock in exchange for $100,000 cash.

Purchased inventory on account for $35,000 (the perpetual inventory system is used).

Paid an insurance company $2,400 for a one-year insurance policy. Prepaid insurance was debited for
the entire amount.

Sold merchandise on account for $12,000. The cost of the merchandise was $7,000.

Borrowed $30,000 from a local bank and signed a note. Principal and interest at 10% is to be repaid in
six months.

Paid employees $6,000 salaries for the first half of the month.

Sold merchandise for $10,000 cash. The cost of the merchandise was $6,000.

Paid $15,000 to suppliers for the merchandise purchased on January 2.

Collected $6,000 on account from customers.

Paid $1,000 to the local utility company for January gas and electricity.

Paid $4,000 rent for the building. $2,000 was for January rent, and $2,000 for February rent. Prepaid
rent and rent expense were debited for their appropriate amounts.

Prepare general journal entries to record each transaction. Omit explanations.

2. Post the entries to T-accounts.

3.

Prepare an unadjusted trial balance as of January 30, 2021.

The following is the post-closing trial balance for the Whitlow Manufacturing Corporation as of December 31, 2020.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 5,000
Accounts receivable 2,000
Inventory 5,000
Equipment 11,000
Accumulated depreciation 3,500
Accounts payable 3,000
Accrued liabilities -0-
Common stock 10,000
Retained earnings 6,500
Sales revenue -0-
Cost of goods sold -0-
Salaries expense -0-
Rent expense -0-
Advertising expense -0-

Totals 23,000 23,000

The following transactions occurred during January 2021:

Jan. 1

H L=

2
4

8
10
13
16
18
20
30
31

Sold merchandise for cash, $3,500. The cost of the merchandise was $2,000. The company uses the
perpetual inventory system.

Purchased equipment on account for $5,500 from the Strong Company.

Received a $150 invoice from the local newspaper requesting payment for an advertisement that
Whitlow placed in the paper on January 2.

Sold merchandise on account for $5,000. The cost of the merchandise was $2,800.

Purchased merchandise on account for $9,500.

Purchased equipment for cash, $800.

Paid the entire amount due to the Strong Company.

Received $4,000 from customers on account.

Paid $800 to the owner of the building for January’s rent.

Paid employees $3,000 for salaries for the month of January.

Paid a cash dividend of $1,000 to shareholders.

Set up T-accounts and enter the beginning balances as of January 1, 2021.

Prepare general journal entries to record each transaction. Omit explanations.

Post the entries to T-accounts.

Prepare an unadjusted trial balance as of January 31, 2021.
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Pastina Company sells various types of pasta to grocery chains as private label brands. The company’s reporting
year-end is December 31. The unadjusted trial balance as of December 31, 2021, appears below.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 30,000
Accounts receivable 40,000
Supplies 1,500
Inventory 60,000
Notes receivable 20,000
Interest receivable -0-
Prepaid rent 2,000
Prepaid insurance 6,000
Office equipment 80,000
Accumulated depreciation 30,000
Accounts payable 31,000
Salaries payable -0-
Notes payable 50,000
Interest payable -0-
Deferred sales revenue 2,000
Common stock 60,000
Retained earnings 28,500
Dividends 4,000
Sales revenue 146,000
Interest revenue -0-
Cost of goods sold 70,000
Salaries expense 18,900
Rent expense 11,000
Depreciation expense -0-
Interest expense -0-
Supplies expense 1,100
Insurance expense -0-
Advertising expense 3,000

Totals 347,500 347,500

Information necessary to prepare the year-end adjusting entries appears below.
1. Depreciation on the office equipment for the year is $10,000.

2. Employee salaries are paid twice a month, on the 22nd for salaries earned from the 1st through the 15th, and
on the 7th of the following month for salaries earned from the 16th through the end of the month. Salaries
earned from December 16 through December 31, 2021, were $1,500.

3. On October 1, 2021, Pastina borrowed $50,000 from a local bank and signed a note. The note requires interest
to be paid annually on September 30 at 12%. The principal is due in 10 years.

4. On March 1, 2021, the company lent a supplier $20,000, and a note was signed requiring principal and inter-
est at 8% to be paid on February 28, 2022.

5. On April 1, 2021, the company paid an insurance company $6,000 for a two-year fire insurance policy. The
entire $6,000 was debited to prepaid insurance.

6. $800 of supplies remained on hand at December 31, 2021.

7. A customer paid Pastina $2,000 in December for 1,500 pounds of spaghetti to be delivered in January 2022.
Pastina credited deferred sales revenue.

8. On December 1, 2021, $2,000 rent was paid to the owner of the building. The payment represented rent for
December 2021 and January 2022 at $1,000 per month. The entire amount was debited to prepaid rent.

Prepare the necessary December 31, 2021, adjusting journal entries.

Refer to P 2-3 and complete the following steps:
1. Enter the unadjusted balances from the trial balance into T-accounts.

2. Post the adjusting entries prepared in P 2-3 to the accounts.
3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance.
4

. Prepare an income statement and a statement of shareholders’ equity for the year ended December 31, 2021,
and a classified balance sheet as of December 31, 2021. Assume that no common stock was issued during the
year and that $4,000 in cash dividends were paid to shareholders during the year.

Prepare closing entries and post to the accounts.

o v

. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.
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Howarth Company’s reporting year-end is December 31. Below are the unadjusted and adjusted trial balances

for December 31, 2021.

Unadjusted
Account Title Debits Credits Debits Credits
Cash 50,000 50,000
Accounts receivable 35,000 35,000
Prepaid rent 2,000 1,200
Supplies 1,500 800
Inventory 60,000 60,000
Notes receivable 30,000 30,000
Interest receivable -0- 1,500
Office equipment 45,000 45,000
Accumulated depreciation 15,000 21,500
Accounts payable 34,000 34,000
Salaries payable -0- 6,200
Notes payable 50,000 50,000
Interest payable -0- 2,500
Deferred rent revenue 2,000 -0-
Common stock 46,000 46,000
Retained earnings 20,000 20,000
Sales revenue 244,000 244,000
Rent revenue 4,000 6,000
Interest revenue -0- 1,500
Cost of goods sold 126,000 126,000
Salaries and wages expense 45,000 51,200
Rent expense 11,000 11,800
Depreciation expense -0- 6,500
Supplies expense 1,100 1,800
Interest expense 5,400 7,900
Advertising expense 3,000 3,000
Totals 415,000 415,000 431,700 431,700

Prepare the adjusting journal entries that were recorded at December 31, 2021.

The general ledger of the Karlin Company, a consulting company, at January 1, 2021, contained the following

account balances:

Account Title Debits Credits

Cash 30,000

Accounts receivable 15,000

Equipment 20,000

Accumulated depreciation 6,000

Salaries payable 9,000

Common stock 40,500

Retained earnings 9,500
Total 65,000 65,000

The following is a summary of the transactions for the year:

” -0 0 T

[

Collected on accounts receivable, $27,300.

Paid miscellaneous expense for various items, $24,000.
Purchased equipment for $15,000 in cash.
Paid $2,500 in cash dividends to shareholders.

Service revenue, $100,000, of which $30,000 was on account and the balance was received in cash.

Issued shares of common stock in exchange for $10,000 in cash.
Paid salaries, $50,000 (of which $9,000 was for salaries payable at the end of the prior year).

Set up the necessary T-accounts and enter the beginning balances from the trial balance.

2. Prepare a general journal entry for each of the summary transactions listed above.
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3. Post the journal entries to the accounts.
4. Prepare an unadjusted trial balance.

5. Prepare and post adjusting journal entries. Accrued salaries at year-end amounted to $1,000. Depreciation for
the year on the equipment is $2,000.

6. Prepare an adjusted trial balance.

7. Prepare an income statement for 2021 and a balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.

8. Prepare and post-closing entries.

9. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.
P 2-7 The information necessary for preparing the December 31, 2021 year-end adjusting entries for Vito’s Pizza Par-
Adjusting entries lor appears below.
and income a. On July 1, 2021, purchased $10,000 of IBM Corporation bonds at face value. The bonds pay interest twice a
effects year on January 1 and July 1. The annual interest rate is 12%.
® LO2-5,L02-6 b. Vito’s depreciable equipment has a cost of $30,000, a five-year life, and no salvage value. The equipment was

purchased in 2019. The straight-line depreciation method is used.

¢. On November 1, 2021, the bar area was leased to Jack Donaldson for one year. Vito’s received $6,000 repre-
senting the first six months’ rent and credited deferred rent revenue.

d. On April 1, 2021, the company paid $2,400 for a two-year fire and liability insurance policy and debited
insurance expense.

e. On October 1, 2021, the company borrowed $20,000 from a local bank and signed a note. Principal and inter-
est at 12% will be paid on September 30, 2022.

f. At year-end, there is a $1,800 debit balance in the supplies (asset) account. Only $700 of supplies remain on
hand.

1. Prepare the necessary adjusting journal entries at December 31, 2021.

2. Determine the amount by which net income would be misstated if Vito’s failed to record these adjusting
entries. (Ignore income tax expense.)

P 2-8 Excalibur Corporation sells video games for personal computers. The unadjusted trial balance as of December 31,
Adjusting entries 2021, appears below. December 31 is the company’s reporting year-end. The company uses the perpetual inven-

® LO2-6 tory system.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 23,300
Accounts receivable 32,500
Supplies -0-
Prepaid rent -0-
Inventory 65,000
Office equipment 75,000
Accumulated depreciation 10,000
Accounts payable 26,100
Salaries payable 3,000
Notes payable 30,000
Common stock 80,000
Retained earnings 22,050
Dividends 6,000
Sales revenue 180,000
Cost of goods sold 95,000
Interest expense -0-
Salaries expense 32,350
Rent expense 14,000
Supplies expense 2,000
Utilities expense 6,000
Totals 351,150 351,150

Information necessary to prepare the year-end adjusting entries appears below.
1. The office equipment was purchased in 2019 and is being depreciated using the straight-line method over a
ten-year useful life with no salvage value.

2. Accrued salaries at year-end should be $4,500.
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3. The company borrowed $30,000 on September 1, 2021. The principal is due to be repaid in 10 years. Interest

is payable twice a year on each August 31 and February 28 at an annual rate of 10%.

4. The company debits supplies expense when supplies are purchased. Supplies on hand at year-end cost $500.
5. Prepaid rent at year-end should be $1,000.

Prepare the necessary December 31, 2021, adjusting entries.

The unadjusted trial balance as of December 31, 2021, for the Bagley Consulting Company appears below.

December 31 is the company’s reporting year-end.

Account Title Debits Credits
Cash 8,000
Accounts receivable 9,000
Prepaid insurance 3,000
Land 200,000
Buildings 50,000
Accumulated depreciation—buildings 20,000
Office equipment 100,000
Accumulated depreciation—office equipment 40,000
Accounts payable 35,050
Salaries payable -0-
Deferred rent revenue -0-
Common stock 200,000
Retained earnings 56,450
Service revenue 90,000
Interest revenue 3,000
Rent revenue 7,500
Salaries expense 37,000
Depreciation expense -0-
Insurance expense -0-
Utilities expense 30,000
Maintenance expense 15,000

Totals 452,000 452,000

1. Enter the account balances in T-accounts.

2. From the trial balance and information given, prepare adjusting entries and post to the accounts.

a.

b
c.
d
e

Prepaid insurance expired during the year, $1,000.
. Accrued salaries at year-end, $1,500.
. Deferred rent revenue at year-end should be $1,200.

3. Prepare an adjusted trial balance.

4. Prepare closing entries.

5. Prepare a post-closing trial balance.

. The office equipment is depreciated at 10 percent of original cost per year.

The buildings have an estimated useful life of 50 years with no salvage value. The company uses the
straight-line depreciation method.

McGuire Corporation began operations in 2021. The company purchases computer equipment from manufactur-
ers and then sells to retail stores. During 2021, the bookkeeper used a check register to record all cash receipts

and cash disbursements. No other journals were used. The following is a recap of the cash receipts and disburse-
ments made during the year.

Cash receipts:

Issue of common stock
Collections from customers

Borrowed from local bank on April 1, note signed requiring
principal and interest at 12% to be paid on March 31, 2022

Total cash receipts

$ 50,000
320,000

40,000

$410,000

(continued)
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(concluded) Cash disbursements:
Purchase of merchandise $220,000
Payment of salaries 80,000
Purchase of office equipment 30,000
Payment of rent on building 14,000
Miscellaneous expense 10,000

Total cash disbursements $354,000

You are called in to prepare financial statements at December 31, 2021. The following additional information
was provided to you:
1. Customers owed the company $22,000 at year-end.

2. At year-end, $30,000 was still due to suppliers of merchandise purchased on credit.
3. At year-end, merchandise inventory costing $50,000 still remained on hand.

4. Salaries owed to employees at year-end amounted to $5,000.
5

. On December 1, $3,000 in rent was paid to the owner of the building used by McGuire. This represented rent
for the months of December through February.

6. The office equipment, which has a 10-year life and no salvage value, was purchased on January 1, 2021.
Straight-line depreciation is used.

Prepare an income statement for 2021 and a balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.

P 2-11 Selected balance sheet information for the Wolf Company at November 30, and December 31, 2021, is presented
Cash versus below. The company uses the perpetual inventory system and all sales to customers are made on credit.
accrual Nov. 30 Dec. 31
accounting
® LO2-9 Debits Credits Debits Credits
Accounts receivable 10,000 3,000
Prepaid insurance 5,000 7,500
Inventory 7,000 6,000
Accounts payable 12,000 15,000
Salaries payable 5,000 3,000

The following cash flow information also is available:
a. Cash collected from credit customers, $80,000

b. Cash paid for insurance, $5,000
c¢. Cash paid to suppliers of inventory, $60,000 (the entire accounts payable amounts relate to inventory purchases)
d. Cash paid to employees for salaries, $10,000

1. Determine the following for the month of December:
a. Sales revenue
b. Cost of goods sold
c. Insurance expense
d. Salaries expense

2. Prepare summary journal entries to record the month’s sales and cost of those sales.

Zambrano Wholesale Corporation maintains its records on a cash basis. At the end of each year the company’s
accountant obtains the necessary information to prepare accrual basis financial statements. The following cash

P 2-12 flows occurred during the year ended December 31, 2021:
Cash versus
accrual Cash receipts:
accounting From customers $675,000
® LO2-9 Interest on note 4,000
Loan from a local bank 100,000
Total cash receipts $779,000
Cash disbursements: I
Purchase of merchandise $390,000
Annual insurance payment 6,000
Payment of salaries 210,000
Dividends paid to shareholders 10,000
Annual rent payment 24,000

Total cash disbursements $640,000
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Selected balance sheet information:

12/31/2020 12/31/2021
Cash $ 25,000 $ 164,000
Accounts receivable 62,000 92,000
Inventory 80,000 62,000
Prepaid insurance 2,500 ?
Prepaid rent 11,000 ?
Interest receivable 3,000 ?
Notes receivable 50,000 50,000
Equipment 100,000 100,000
Accumulated depreciation (40,000) (50,000)
Accounts payable (for merchandise) 110,000 122,000
Salaries payable 20,000 24,000
Notes payable -0- 100,000
Interest payable -0- ?

Additional information:
1. On March 31, 2020, Zambrano lent a customer $50,000. Interest at 8% is payable annually on each March 31.
Principal is due in 2024.

2. The annual insurance payment is paid in advance on April 30. The policy period begins on May 1.

3. On October 31, 2021, Zambrano borrowed $100,000 from a local bank and signed a note promising repay-
ment. Principal and interest at 6% are due on October 31, 2022.

4. Annual rent on the company’s facilities is paid in advance on June 30. The rental period begins on July 1.

1. Prepare an accrual basis income statement for 2021 (ignore income taxes).
2. Determine the following balance sheet amounts on December 31, 2021:

a. Prepaid insurance

b. Prepaid rent

c. Interest receivable

d. Interest payable

Using the information from P 28, prepare and complete a worksheet similar to Illustration 2A—1. Use the
information in the worksheet to prepare an income statement and a statement of shareholders’ equity for 2021 and

a balance sheet as of December 31, 2021. Cash dividends paid to shareholders during the year amounted to $6,000.
Also prepare the necessary closing entries assuming that adjusting entries have been correctly posted to the accounts.

Decision Makers’ Perspective

©lmageGap/Getty Images

Discussion
Case 21

Cash versus
accrual
accounting;
adjusting entries;
Chapters 1and 2
® LO2-5,L02-9

Apply your critical-thinking ability to the knowledge you’ve gained. These cases will provide you an opportunity to
develop your research, analysis, judgment, and communication skills. You also will work with other students, integrate
what you’ve learned, apply it in real-world situations, and consider its global and ethical ramifications. This practice will
broaden your knowledge and further develop your decision-making abilities.

You have recently been hired by Davis & Company, a small public accounting firm. One of the firm’s partners,
Alice Davis, has asked you to deal with a disgruntled client, Mr. Sean Pitt, owner of the city’s largest hardware
store. Mr. Pitt is applying to a local bank for a substantial loan to remodel his store. The bank requires accrual-
based financial statements, but Mr. Pitt has always kept the company’s records on a cash basis. He doesn’t see the
purpose of accrual-based statements. His most recent outburst went something like this: “After all, I collect cash
from customers, pay my bills in cash, and I am going to pay the bank loan with cash. And, I already show my
building and equipment as assets and depreciate them. I just don’t understand the problem.”

Draft a memo to Mr. Pitt providing an explanation of why the bank requests accrual-based financial statements for
loan requests such as his. Include in the memo.

e An explanation of the difference between a cash basis and an accrual basis measure of performance.

e Why, in most cases, that accrual-basis net income provides a better measure of performance than net operating
cash flow.

o The purpose of adjusting entries as they relate to the difference between cash and accrual accounting.



106 SECTION 1

Judgment
Case 2-2
Cash versus
accrual
accounting
® LO2-9

Communication
Case 2-3
Adjusting entries
® LO2-5

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

Refer to Case 2—1 above. Mr. Pitt has relented and agrees to provide you with the information necessary to convert

his cash basis financial statements to accrual basis statements. He provides you with the following transaction

information for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021:

1. A new comprehensive insurance policy requires an annual payment of $12,000 for the upcoming year. Cover-
age began on September 1, 2021, at which time the first payment was made.

2. Mr. Pitt allows customers to pay using a credit card. At the end of the current year, various credit card compa-
nies owed Mr. Pitt $6,500. At the end of last year, customer credit card charges outstanding were $5,000.

3. Employees are paid once a month, on the 10th of the month following the work period. Cash disbursements
to employees were $8,200 and $7,200 for January 10, 2022, and January 10, 2021, respectively.

4. Utility bills outstanding totaled $1,200 at the end of 2021 and $900 at the end of 2020.

5. A physical count of inventory is always taken at the end of the fiscal year. The merchandise on hand at the
end of 2021 cost $35,000. At the end of 2020, inventory on hand cost $32,000.

6. At the end of 2020, Mr. Pitt did not have any bills outstanding to suppliers of merchandise. However, at the
end of 2021, he owed suppliers $4,000.

1. Mr. Pitt’s 2021 cash basis net income (after one adjustment for depreciation expense) is $26,000. Determine
net income applying the accrual accounting model.

2. Explain the effect on Mr. Pitt’s balance sheet of converting from cash to accrual. That is, would assets, liabili-
ties, and owner’s equity be higher or lower and by what amounts?

“I don’t understand,” complained Chris, who responded to your bulletin board posting for tutoring in introductory
accounting. The complaint was in response to your statements that recording adjusting entries is a critical step in the
accounting processing cycle, and the two major classifications of adjusting entries are prepayments and accruals.

Respond to Chris.

1. When do prepayments occur? Accruals?

2. Describe the appropriate adjusting entry for prepaid expenses and for deferred revenues. What is the effect
on net income, assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity of not recording a required adjusting entry for
prepayments?

3. Describe the required adjusting entry for accrued liabilities and for accrued receivables. What is the effect on net
income, assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity of not recording a required adjusting entry for accruals?

Data Analytics

Data Analytics
Case
Composition of
the Balance Sheet
® LO2-7

Data analytics is the process of examining data sets in order to draw conclusions about the information they con-
tain. Data analytics is widely used in business to enable organizations to make better-informed business decisions.
Increasingly, this is accomplished with the aid of specialized software such as Tableau. In each chapter of our
textbook, you will have the opportunity to glimpse the power and efficacy of data analytics in the context of that
chapter’s topics, using Tableau as a tool.

To prepare for this case—and those in subsequent chapters—using Tableau, you will need to download Tab-
leau to your computer. Tableau provides free instructor and student licenses as well as free videos and support for
utilizing and learning the software. You will receive further information on setting up Tableau from your instruc-
tor. Once you are set up with Tableau, watch the first few training videos on the Tableau website. If you completed
the first Data Analytics Case, you already have watched the three “Getting Started” videos. Now to prepare for
this case you should view the “Ways to Filter,” “Using the Filter Shelf,” and “The Formatting Pane” videos listed
under “Visual Analytics.” Future cases will build off of your knowledge gained from these, and additional videos
will be suggested. All short training videos can be found at www.tableau.com/learn/training#getting-started.

In the Chapter 1 Data Analytics Case, you applied Tableau to examine a data set and create bar charts to compare
ten-year trends in operating cash flows and net income for our two (hypothetical) publicly traded companies: Dis-
count Goods and Big Store. In this case you continue in your role as an analyst conducting introductory research
into the relative merits of investing in one or both of these companies, this time comparing the proportional com-
position of the assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity of the two companies. You want to create pie charts to
visualize the relative size of the components of the balance sheets for each of the two companies to garner some
initial insights.

Total assets are equal to Total liabilities plus Total shareholders’ equity. This equation is based on the fact that
a company’s assets come from these two sources: (1) amounts borrowed and (2) amounts provided by owners
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([a] amounts invested by shareholders in the corporation, reported as paid-in capital and [b] amounts earned by the
corporation on behalf of its shareholders, reported as retained earnings). The relative proportion of assets provided
by liabilities can be an indication of the riskiness of an investment, making these relationships valuable when
analyzing a company’s financial position. Use Tableau to create pie charts depicting the relative size of the assets,
liabilities, and stockholders’ equity for each of the two companies in 2021. Based upon what you find, answer the
following questions:

1. For Discount Goods, do liabilities or shareholders’ equity provide the greater proportion of the company’s

total assets?

2. For Big Store, do liabilities or shareholders’ equity provide the greater proportion of the company’s total assets?

3. Which of the two companies has the highest ratio of current liabilities to total liabilities? What is the ratio for
that company (rounded to nearest whole percentage point)?

4. Which of the two companies has the highest ratio of current assets to current liabilities? What is the ratio for
that company (rounded to nearest whole percentage point)?

Resources:

You have available to you an extensive data set that includes detailed financial data for Discount Goods and Big

Store and for 2012 - 2021. The data set is in the form of an Excel file available to download from Connect, or

under Student Resources within the Library tab. There are four Excel files available. The one for use in this chap-

ter is named “Discount_Goods_Big_StoreCasel.xlsx.” Download this file and save it to the computer on which
you will be using Tableau.

For this case, you will need to review the raw data in the Excel file for both companies before beginning.
Review the questions above to determine which account classifications, like “Total current assets,” to include in
your pie charts. These will be the items you include in what’s called “Account name.” Notice that the two compa-
nies have somewhat different names for their accounts, but the major groups are the same.

After you view the training videos, follow these steps to create the charts you’ll use for this case:

e Open Tableau and connect to the Excel spreadsheet you downloaded. Starting on the “Sheet 17 tab, at the
bottom of the canvas to the right of the data source at the bottom of the screen, double click on “2021”” under
“Measures” to add it to the canvas.

e Click the pull-down menu arrow on “Store” under “Dimensions” and click “Show Filter.” The filter box will
appear on the right side. Un-click the “(All)” button and click only Discount Goods.

e Move “Account name” into the Filter shelf. In the Filter dialog box that opens, click all Discount Goods’
account classifications you’ve identified as needed for the case. You can determine this information by check-
ing the raw data as instructed above. Hint: You should have selected a total of 5 account classifications.

e Drag “Account name” to “Color” in the “Marks” card to add more colors to the chart. On the “Show me” tab in
the upper right corner of the toolbar, select the pie chart.

o Enlarge the pie chart by holding down the shift-control-and-clicking the “B” key several times until your pie
chart fills most of the screen (at least 25 times).

e Add “Labels” to the pie sections by clicking on “Label” in the “Marks” card and clicking the box “Show mark label.”

e Format the label amounts to Times New Roman, bold, black, 12-point font by selecting the label, right-clicking,
and clicking on “Format.”

o Change the title of the sheet to be “Discount Goods 2021 Balance Sheet” by right-clicking and selecting “Edit
title.” Format the title to Times New Roman, bold, black and 15-point font.

o To save time completing the next page, right-click the “Sheet 1” tab at the bottom of the canvas and select
“Duplicate.”

e Click on the “Sheet 2” tab. You should now see a duplicate of the “Sheet 1” canvas. In the filter box on the
right-hand side, click only the Big Store button.

e Change the title of the sheet to be “Big Store 2021 Balance Sheet” by right-clicking and selecting “Edit title.”
Format the title to Times New Roman, bold, black and 15-point font.

e Once complete, save the file as “DA2_Your initials.twbx.”

Continuing Cases

Target Case
® LO2-4,L02-8

Target Corporation prepares its financial statements according to U.S. GAAP. Target’s financial statements
and disclosure notes for the year ended February 3, 2018, are available in Connect. This material also is available
under the Investor Relations link at the company’s website (www.target.com).

1. Refer to Target’s balance sheet for the years ended February 3, 2018, and January 28, 2017. Based on the
amounts reported for accumulated depreciation, and assuming no depreciable assets were sold during the
year, prepare an adjusting entry to record Target’s depreciation for the year.
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® LO2-4
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2. Refer to Target’s statement of cash flows for the year ended February 3, 2018. Assuming your answer to
requirement 1 includes all depreciation expense recognized during the year, how much amortization expense
was recognized during the year?

3. Note 13 provides information on Target’s current assets. Assume all prepaid expenses are for prepaid insur-
ance and that insurance expense comprises $50 million of the $14,248 million of selling, general, and admin-
istrative expenses reported in the income statement for the year ended February 3, 2018. How much cash did
Target pay for insurance coverage during the year? Prepare the adjusting entry Target would make to record
all insurance expense for the year. What would be the effect on the income statement and balance sheet if Tar-
get didn’t record an adjusting entry for prepaid expenses?

Air France-KLM (AF), a Franco-Dutch company, prepares its financial statements according to International
Financial Reporting Standards. AF’s financial statements and disclosure notes for the year ended December 31,
2017, are provided in Connect. This material also is available under the Finance link at the company’s website
(www.airfranceklm.com).

Required:
1. Refer to AF’s balance sheet and compare it to the balance sheet presentation in [llustration 2—14. What differ-
ences do you see in the format of the two balance sheets?

2. What differences do you see in the terminology used in the two balance sheets?

CPA Exam Questions and Simulations

&8 ROGER

CPA Review

Sample CPA Exam questions from Roger CPA Review are available in Connect as support for the topics in
this chapter. These multiple-choice questions and task-based aimulations include expert-written explanations and
solutions, and provide a starting point for students to become familiar with the content and functionality of the
actual CPA Exam.
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The Balance Sheet and
Financial Disclosures

Chapter 1 stressed the importance of the financial statements to investors and
creditors, and Chapter 2 reviewed the preparation of those financial state-
ments. In this chapter, we'll take a closer look at the balance sheet, along with
accompanying disclosures. The balance sheet provides relevant information
useful in helping investors and creditors not only to predict future cash flows,
but also to make the related assessments of liquidity and long-term solvency.
In Chapter 4 we’ll continue our conversation about the financial statements
with discussion of the income statement, statement of comprehensive income,
and statement of cash flows.

After studying this chapter, you should be able to:

® LO3-1 Describe the purpose of the balance sheet and understand its usefulness and
limitations. (p. 712)

® LO3-2 |dentify and describe the various asset classifications. (p. 114)

® LO3-3 |dentify and describe the various liability and shareholders’ equity classifications.
(p. 118)

® LO3-4 Explain the purpose of financial statement disclosures. (p. 122)

® LO3-5 Describe disclosures related to management’s discussion and analysis,
responsibilities, and compensation. (p. 125)

® LO3-6 Explain the purpose of an audit and describe the content of the audit report.
(p. 128)

® LO3-7 Describe the techniques used by financial analysts to transform financial
information into forms more useful for analysis. (p. 130)

® LO3-8 |dentify and calculate the common liquidity and solvency ratios used to assess risk.
(p. 131)

® LO3-9 Discuss the primary differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS with respect to the
balance sheet, financial disclosures, and segment reporting. (pp. 720 and 139)



FINANCIAL REPORTING CASE

What’s It Worth?

“| can’t believe it. Why don’t you accountants prepare financial
statements that are relevant?” Your friend Jerry is a finance
major and is constantly badgering you about what he perceives
to be a lack of relevance of financial statements prepared
according to generally accepted accounting principles. “For
example, take a look at this balance sheet for Nike that | just
downloaded off the Internet. The equity (or book value) of the
company according to the 2017 balance sheet was about $12.4
billion. But if you multiply the number of outstanding shares
by the stock price per share at the same point in time, the
company’s market value was nearly $88 billion. | thought equity
was supposed to represent the value of the company, but those
two numbers aren’t close.” You decide to look at the company’s balance sheet and try to set Jerry straight.
e

©TY Lim/Shutterstock

By the time you finish this chapter, you should be able to respond appropriately to the _$_ QUESTIONS
questions posed in this case. Compare your response to the solution provided at the end
of the chapter.

1. Respond to Jerry’s criticism that shareholders’ equity does not represent the market value
of the company. What information does the balance sheet provide? (p. 113)

2. The usefulness of the balance sheet is enhanced by classifying assets and liabilities
according to common characteristics. What are the classifications used in the balance
sheet and what elements do those categories include? (p. 713)

Most companies provide their financial statements and accompanying disclosures on their ~ The SEC’s EDGAR system
website in an “Investor Relations” link, but this information also can be found at the SEC’s i"jprove_s the efficiency
website (www.sec.gov) through its electronic filing system known as EDGAR (Electronic x‘f":ﬂ‘;":;ic:nci:“:;‘;‘:cyted
Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system). Companies are required to file their finan- . o0
cial information in a timely manner using the EDGAR system. As stated by the SEC, “Its
(EDGAR system’s) primary purpose is to increase the efficiency and fairness of the secu-
rities market for the benefit of investors, corporations, and the economy by accelerating
the receipt, acceptance, dissemination, and analysis of time-sensitive corporate information
filed with the agency.”
The first part of this chapter begins our discussion of the financial statements
by providing an overview of the balance sheet. The balance sheet reports a company’s
assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity. You can see an example of Nike’s balance
sheet on the next page.
In the second part of this chapter, we discuss additional disclosures that companies are
required to provide beyond the basic financial statements. These disclosures are critical to
understanding the financial statements and to evaluating a firm’s performance and financial
health.
In the third part of this chapter, we discuss how information in the financial statements
can be used by decision makers to assess business risk (liquidity and long-term solvency).

1M1
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Real World Financials

PART A

e LO3-1

The balance sheet
provides information
useful for assessing future
cash flows, liquidity, and
long-term solvency.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

NIKE, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheet
May 31, 2017
($ in millions)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $3,808

Short-term investments 2,371

Accounts receivable (net) 3,677

Inventories 5,055

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,150

Total current assets $16,061

Property, plant and equipment (net) 3,989
Identifiable intangible assets (net) 283
Goodwill 139
Deferred income taxes and other assets 2,787

Total long-term assets 7,198
Total assets $23,259

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 6
Notes payable 25
Accounts payable 2,048
Accrued liabilities 3,011
Income taxes payable 84
Total current liabilities $ 5474
Long-term debt 3,471
Deferred income taxes and other liabilities 1,907
Total long-term liabilities 5,378
Total liabilities $10,852
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock 3
Additional paid-in capital 8,638
Retained earnings 3,979
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (213)
Total shareholders’ equity 12,407
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $23,259

\.

The Balance Sheet

The balance sheet, sometimes referred to as the statement of financial position, presents
an organized list of assets, liabilities, and equity at a point in time. It is a freeze frame or
snapshot of a company’s financial position at the end of a particular day marking the end of
an accounting period.

Usefulness

The balance sheet provides a list of assets and liabilities that are classified (grouped) accord-
ing to common characteristics. These classifications, which we explore in the next section,
along with related disclosure notes, help the balance sheet to provide useful information
about liquidity and long-term solvency. Liquidity most often refers to the ability of a com-
pany to convert its assets to cash to pay its current liabilities. Long-term solvency refers
to an assessment of whether a company will be able to pay all its liabilities, which includes
long-term liabilities as well. Other things being equal, the risk that a company will not be
able to pay its debt increases as its liabilities, relative to equity, increases.

Solvency also provides information about financial flexibility—the ability of a company to
alter cash flows in order to take advantage of unexpected investment opportunities and needs.
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For example, the higher the percentage of a company’s liabilities to its equity, the more dif-
ficult it typically will be to borrow additional funds either to take advantage of a promising
investment opportunity or to meet obligations. In general, the less financial flexibility, the
more risk there is that an enterprise will fail. In Part C of this chapter, we introduce some
common ratios used to assess liquidity and long-term solvency.'

Limitations

Despite its usefulness, the balance sheet has limitations. One important limitation is that a
company’s book value, its reported assets minus liabilities as shown in the balance sheet,
usually will not directly measure the company’s market value. Market value represents the
price at which something could be sold in a given market. In the case of a public corpora-
tion, market value is represented by the trading price of a share of the corporation’s stock.
We can get an idea of the corporation’s overall market value by multiplying the share price
times the number of shares outstanding.

The two primary reasons that a company’s book value in the balance sheet does not equal
its market value are:

1. Many assets, like land and buildings, are measured at their historical costs rather than
amounts for which the assets could be sold (often referred to as the assets’ fair values).
For example, suppose a company owns land and the amount for which the land could be
sold increases. The increase in the land’s fair value is not reported in the balance sheet,
so it has no effect on the company’s book value. However, to the extent the increase in
the land’s fair value is known by investors, that increase will be reflected in the compa-
ny’s overall market value.

2. Many aspects of a company may represent valuable resources (such as trained employ-
ees, experienced management team, loyal customer relationships, and product knowl-
edge). These items, however, are not recorded as assets in the balance sheet and
therefore have zero book value. Investors understand the ability of these resources to
generate future profits and therefore these resources will be reflected in a company’s
overall market value.

As an example of the second item, in 2017, Facebook spent nearly $8 billion on research
and development to design new products and improve existing services. While these costs
likely improve the company’s ability to generate future profits (and therefore increase the
market value of the company to shareholders), these items are not reported in the balance
sheet as an asset. They typically are expensed in the year incurred. As a result of this and
other items, Facebook’s ratio of market value to book value at the end of 2017 was 7.2. In
comparison, the average ratio of market value to book value for companies in the S&P 500
index was about 3.0.

Another limitation of the balance sheet is that many items in the balance sheet are heavily
reliant on estimates and judgments rather than determinable amounts. For example, compa-
nies estimate (a) the amount of receivables they will be able to actually collect, (b) the amount
of warranty costs they will eventually incur for products already sold, (c) the residual values
and useful lives of their long-term assets, and (d) amounts used to calculate employee pension
obligations. Each of these estimates affects amounts reported in the balance sheet.

In summary, even though the balance sheet does not directly measure the market value
of the entity, it provides valuable information that can be used to help judge market value.

Classification of Elements

The usefulness of the balance sheet is enhanced when assets and liabilities are grouped
according to common characteristics. The broad distinction made in the balance sheet is
the current versus long-term (noncurrent) classification of both assets and liabilities. The
remainder of Part A provides an overview of the balance sheet. We discuss each of the three
primary elements of the balance sheet (assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity) in the

!'Another way the balance sheet is useful is in combination with income statement items. We explore some of these relationships in
Chapter 4.

The Balance Sheet and Financial Disclosures
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Assets minus liabilities,
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market value of the entity.
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assets and liabilities in
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current versus long-term
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lustration 3-1

Classification of Elements
within a Balance Sheet

e LO3-2

Current assets include
cash and all other assets
expected to become cash
or be consumed within
one year from the balance
sheet date (or operating
cycle, if longer).

llustration 32

order they are reported in the statement as well as the classifications typically made within
the elements. The balance sheet elements were defined in Chapter 1 as follows:

Assets are probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity as a result of
past transactions or events. Simply, these are the economic resources of a company.

Liabilities are probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obligations of a
particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a result of past
transactions or events. Simply, these are the obligations of a company.

Equity (or net assets), called shareholders’ equity or stockholders’ equity for a corporation, is the
residual interest in the assets of an entity that remains after deducting liabilities. Stated another way,
equity equals total assets minus total liabilities.

[lustration 3—1 shows the relationship among assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity,
often referred to as the accounting equation. Included in the illustration are the subclassifi-
cations of each element. We will discuss each of these subclassifications next.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
1. Current assets 1. Current liabilities 1. Paid-in capital
2. Long-term assets 2. Long-term liabilities 2. Retained earnings

Assets

CURRENT ASSETS Current assets include cash and other assets that are reasonably expected
to be converted to cash or consumed within one year from the balance sheet date, or within the
normal operating cycle of the business if that’s longer than one year. The operating cycle for
a typical merchandising or manufacturing company refers to the period of time from the initial
outlay of cash for the purchase of inventory until the time the company collects cash from a
customer from the sale of inventory.

For a merchandising company, the initial purchase of inventory often is for a finished good,
although some preparation may be necessary to get the inventory ready for sale (such as pack-
aging or distribution). For a manufacturing company, the initial outlay of cash often involves
the purchase of raw materials, which are then converted into a finished product through the
manufacturing process. The concept of an operating cycle is shown in Illustration 3-2.

In some businesses, such as shipbuilding or distilleries, the
operating cycle extends far beyond one year. For example, if
it takes two years to build an oil-carrying supertanker, then the

Operating Cycle of a Typical Merchandising or shipbuilder will classify as current those assets that will be con-

Manufacturing Company

verted to cash or consumed within two years from the balance
sheet date. But for most businesses, the operating cycle will
be shorter than one year. In these situations, the one-year con-

Use cash
0 to acquire inventory vention is used to classify both assets and liabilities. Where a

¥

9 Prepare inventory for

company has no clearly defined operating cycle, the one-year
convention is used.
Illustration 3-3 presents the current assets section of Nike’s

(B ) EUE e balance sheet for the years ended May 31, 2017, and May 31,

¥

e Deliver inventory to

customer

¥

Collect cash
° from customer

2016. In keeping with common practice, the individual current
assets are listed in the order of their liquidity (the ability to con-
vert the asset to cash).

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The most liquid asset, cash,
is listed first. Cash includes cash on hand and in banks that
is available for use in the operations of the business and such
items as bank drafts, cashier’s checks, and money orders. Cash
equivalents are defined as short-term investments that have
a maturity date no longer than three months from the date of
purchase. Examples include certain negotiable items such as
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) i _
May 31, may3s, | llUSTTATON 3-3

($ in millions) 2017 2016 Current Assets—Nike, Inc.
Current assets: Real World Financials

Cash and equivalents $ 3,808 $ 3,138

Short-term investments 2,371 2,319

Accounts receivable (net) 3,677 3,241

Inventory 5,055 4,838

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,150 1,489

Total current assets $16,061 $15,025
Source: Nike, Inc.
\_

commercial paper, money market funds, and U.S. treasury bills. These items are listed as
cash equivalents because they are highly liquid investments that can be quickly converted
into cash with little risk of loss. Nike’s policy for classifying items as cash equivalents is
stated in its disclosure note on summary of significant accounting policies, as shown in
lustration 3—4.

lustration 34

Cash and equivalents represent cash and short-term, highly liquid investments, including Disclosure of Cash
commercial paper, U.S. Treasury, U.S. Agency, money market funds, time deposits, and Equivalents—Nike, Inc.

corporate debt securities with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of purchase.
Real World Financials

Source: Nike, Inc.

Cash that is restricted for a special purpose and not available for current operations should
not be included in the primary balance of cash and cash equivalents. These restrictions could
include future plans to repay debt, purchase equipment, or make investments. Restricted
cash is classified as a current asset if it is expected to be used within one year from the bal-
ance sheet date. Otherwise, restricted cash is classified as a long-term asset.

Short-Term Investments. Investments not classified as cash equivalents that the company
has the ability and intent to sell within one year (or operating cycle, if longer) are reported as
short-term investments. These investments include items such as equity investments in the
common stock of other corporations, as well as debt investments in commercial paper and U.S.
Treasury securities. We discuss accounting for equity and debt investments in Chapter 12.

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable result from the sale of goods or services on
account (discussed in Chapter 7). Accounts receivable often are referred to as trade receiv-
ables because they arise in the course of a company’s normal trade. Nontrade receivables
result from loans or advances by the company to individuals and other entities. When
receivables are supported by a formal agreement or note that specifies payment terms they
are called notes receivable.

Accounts receivable usually are due in 30 to 60 days, depending on the terms offered to
customers and are, therefore, classified as current assets. Any receivable, regardless of the source,
not expected to be collected within one year (or operating cycle, if longer) is classified as a long-
term investment. In addition, receivables are typically reported at the net amount expected to be
collected. The net amount is calculated as total receivables less an allowance for the estimate
of uncollectible accounts. Nike reported net accounts receivable of $3,677 million in the 2017
balance sheet. In a disclosure note, the company indicated that total accounts receivable were

$3,704 million, indicating an allowance for uncollectible accounts of $27 million.
Inventory consists of

Inventory. Inventory for a wholesale or retail company consists of finished goods for sale ~ 3ssets thata retail or
wholesale company

to. customers. Ff)r example, you buy flnlsl}ed goods such as shoes anfi athletic wear from __ quires for resale or
Nike, potato chips at Costco, school supplies at Staples, and a new shirt at Gap. However,  goods that manufacturers
the inventory of a manufacturer will include not only finished goods but also goods in the produce for sale.
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lustration 3-5

Inventory Disclosure—Intel
Corp.

Real World Financials

Investments are assets not

used directly in operations.

Tangible, long-lived assets
used in the operations of
the business are classified
as property, plant, and
equipment.

The Role of Accounting as an Information System

course of production (work in process) and goods to be consumed directly or indirectly in
production (raw materials). Manufacturers typically report all three types of inventory either
directly in the balance sheet or in a disclosure note. Illustration 3—5 demonstrates how Intel
Corp., a semiconductor chip manufacturer, discloses its components of inventory.

~
December 30, December 31,

($ in millions) 2017 2016
Raw materials $1,098 $ 695
Work in process 3,893 3,190
Finished goods 1,992 1,668

Total inventory $6,983 $5,553
Source: Intel Corp.

Inventory is reported as a current asset because it normally is sold within the operating
cycle.

Prepaid Expenses. Recall from Chapter 2 that a prepaid expense arises when a company
incurs a cost of acquiring an asset in one period that won’t be expensed until a future period.
Examples are supplies, prepaid rent, and prepaid insurance. These assets are not converted
to cash, like receivables collected and inventory sold, but they instead are consumed in the
future. Supplies are used, prepaid rent expires over the rental period, and prepaid insurance
expires over the period of insurance coverage.

Whether a prepaid expense is current or noncurrent depends on the period in which the
item is consumed. For example, if rent on an office building were prepaid for one year, then
the prepayment is classified as a current asset. However, if rent were prepaid for a period
extending beyond the coming year, that portion of the prepayment is classified as a long-
term asset.? Nike includes prepaid expenses with other current assets. Other current assets
could include assets such as nontrade receivables that, because their amounts are not mate-
rial, do not warrant separate disclosure.

LONG-TERM ASSETS When assets are expected to be converted to cash or consumed
in more than one year (or operating cycle, if longer), they are reported as long-term
(or noncurrent) assets. Typical classifications of long-term assets are as follows:

1. Investments

2. Property, plant, and equipment
3. Intangible assets

4. Other long-term assets

Next, we’ll discuss each of these categories of long-term assets.

Investments. Most companies occasionally acquire assets that are not used directly in the
operations of the business. These assets include investments in debt and equity securities of
other corporations, land held for speculation, long-term receivables, and cash set aside for
special purposes (such as for future plant expansion). These assets are classified as long-
term because management does not intend to convert the assets into cash in the next year (or
operating cycle, if longer).

Property, Plant, and Equipment. Virtually all companies own assets classified as
property, plant, and equipment. The common characteristics these assets share are that
they are tangible, long-lived, and used in the operations of the business. Property, plant, and
equipment often are the primary revenue-generating assets of the business.

2Companies often include prepayments for benefits extending beyond one year in the other ass